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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND INDUSTRY DATA

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements that involve substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements, other than
statements of historical facts, contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our strategy, future operations, future
financial position, future revenue, projected costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management and expected market growth are forward-looking
statements. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,”
“should,” “target,” “would” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements
contain these identifying words.

These forward-looking statements include, among other things, statements about:

 • our plans to develop and commercialize ALRN-6924, including the potential benefits thereof;

 • our ongoing and future clinical trials for ALRN-6924, whether conducted by us or by any future collaborators, including the timing of
initiation of these trials and of the anticipated results;

 • our expectations regarding our ability to fund our operating expenses and capital expenditure requirements with our cash, cash equivalents and
investments;

 • our estimates regarding expenses, future revenue, capital requirements and needs for additional financing;

 • the timing of and our ability to obtain and maintain marketing approvals for our product candidates;  

 • the rate and degree of market acceptance and clinical utility of any products for which we receive marketing approval;

 • our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and strategy;

 • our intellectual property position and strategy;

 • our ability to identify additional product candidates with significant commercial potential;

 • our plans to enter into collaborations for the development and commercialization of product candidates;

 • potential benefits of any future collaboration;

 • developments relating to our competitors and our industry;

 • the impact of government laws and regulations;

 • the impact the coronavirus pandemic may have on the timing of our clinical development and on our operations; and

 • our ability to maintain our listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market.

We may not actually achieve the plans, intentions or expectations disclosed in our forward-looking statements, and you should not place undue
reliance on our forward-looking statements. Actual results or events could differ materially from the plans, intentions and expectations disclosed in the
forward-looking statements we make. We have included important factors in the cautionary statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, particularly
in the “Risk Factors” section, that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from the forward-looking statements that we make. Our forward-
looking statements do not reflect the potential impact of any future acquisitions, mergers, dispositions, collaborations, joint ventures or investments that we
may make or enter into.

You should read this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and the documents that we reference herein and have filed or incorporated by reference hereto
completely and with the understanding that our actual future results may be materially different from what we expect. We do not assume any obligation to
update any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q includes statistical and other industry and market data that we obtained from industry publications and
research, surveys and studies conducted by third parties. Industry publications and third-party research, surveys and studies generally indicate that their
information has been obtained from sources believed to be reliable, although they do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.
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SUMMARY RISK FACTORS

 
Our business is subject to a number of risks of which you should be aware in evaluating our company and our business. These risks are discussed more
fully in the “Risk Factors” section of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2021. These risks include the following:
 • Our business depends entirely on the successful development and commercialization of our product candidate, ALRN-6924. Our clinical trials of

ALRN-6924 may not be successful. If our trials prove unsuccessful or if we are unable to obtain approval for and commercialize ALRN-6924 or
experience significant delays in doing so, our business will be materially harmed.

 • We will need substantial additional funding to continue our operations. Our cash, cash equivalents and investments are not sufficient to enable us
to complete the development of or commercialize ALRN-6924.  If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we may be forced to delay, reduce
and/or eliminate our research and drug development programs, reduce headcount, and future commercialization efforts, or take other actions that
could adversely affect our business.

 • We have incurred significant losses since inception. We expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future and may never achieve or maintain
profitability.  Even if we are able to develop and commercialize ALRN-6924, we may never generate revenues that are significant or large enough
to achieve profitability.

 • The COVID-19 pandemic has affected and may continue to affect our ability to conduct our ongoing and planned clinical trials, disrupt regulatory
activities, or have other adverse effects on our business and operations. In addition, this pandemic has caused substantial disruption in the
financial markets and may adversely impact economies worldwide, which could result in adverse effects on our business and operations.

 • The approach we are taking to discover and develop novel drugs is unproven and may never lead to marketable products.  
 • We are pursuing the development of ALRN-6924 in combination with approved chemotherapeutics. If the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or

the FDA, revokes approval of any such therapeutic, or if safety, efficacy, manufacturing or supply issues arise with any therapeutic that we use in
combination with ALRN-6924 in the future, we may be unable to further develop and/or market ALRN-6924, or we may experience significant
regulatory delays, and our business could be materially harmed.

 • The outcome of preclinical testing and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials, interim results of a clinical
trial, such as the interim results of our Phase 1b clinical trial of ALRN-6924 in patients with p53-mutated small cell lung cancer that we
announced in October 2020, do not necessarily predict final results and the results of our clinical trials may not satisfy the requirements of the
FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities.  In addition, results of clinical trials of ALRN-6924 when used with one chemotherapy or in
one patient population may not be predictive of the results of other clinical trials of ALRN-6924 when used with a different chemotherapy or in a
different patient population.

 • Clinical drug development is a lengthy and expensive process, with an uncertain outcome.  If clinical trials of ALRN-6924 or any other product
candidate that we may develop fail to demonstrate safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of regulatory authorities or do not otherwise produce
positive results, we may incur additional costs, experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of ALRN-
6924 or any other product candidate that we may develop or be unable to obtain marketing approval.

 • We are conducting clinical trials of ALRN-6924 and plan to conduct additional clinical trials of ALRN-6924 at sites outside the United States.
The FDA’s acceptance of data from clinical trials outside of the United States is subject to conditions.  Accordingly, the FDA may not accept data
from trials conducted in such locations and the conduct of trials outside the United States could subject us to additional delays and expense.

 • We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for ALRN-6924 or any other product candidate that we may develop if we are unable to
locate and enroll a sufficient number of eligible patients to participate in these trials as required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory
authorities. Patient enrollment is a significant factor in the timing of clinical trials. We do not yet know exactly how many patients will have the
genetic profile that ALRN-6924 or other future product candidates are designed to address. In particular, because our clinical trials are targeted at
a subset of patients in indications with p53-mutated cancers, our ability to enroll eligible patients may be limited or may result in slower
enrollment than we anticipate.

 • If serious adverse or unacceptable side effects are identified during the development of ALRN-6924 or any other product candidate that we may
develop or we observe limited efficacy of ALRN-6924 or any other product candidate that we may develop, we may need to abandon or limit the
development of ALRN-6924 or other product candidates that we may develop.

 • The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may, under certain circumstances, require that a companion diagnostic be approved for use
with ALRN-6924. If we are unable to successfully develop and obtain approval for such a diagnostic, either on our own or through a third party,
or if we experience significant delays in doing so, we may not obtain marketing approval for ALRN-6924 in a timely manner, or at all.

 • We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before or more successfully
than we do.
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 • We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials and some aspects of our research and preclinical studies, and those third parties may not

perform satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the completion of such trials, research and studies.
 • We contract with third parties for the manufacture of our ALRN-6924 for our ongoing clinical trials and expect to continue to do so for additional

clinical trials and ultimately for commercialization. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of
ALRN-6924 or such quantities at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts.

 • We may seek to enter into strategic collaborations for the development, marketing and commercialization of ALRN-6924 or other product
candidates. If we are unable to enter into collaborations or those collaborations into which we enter are not successful, the development,
marketing and/or commercialization of ALRN-6924 or such other product candidates that are the subject of such collaborations would be harmed.

 • Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our intellectual property. It is difficult and costly to protect our proprietary rights and
technology, and we may not be able to ensure their protection.

 • If we fail to comply with our obligations under our patent licenses with third parties, we could lose license rights that are important to our
business.

 • Even if we complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials, the marketing approval process is expensive, time-consuming and
uncertain and may prevent us, or any future collaborators, from obtaining approvals for the commercialization of ALRN-6924 or any other
product candidate that we may develop. As a result, we cannot predict when or if, and in which territories, we, or any future collaborators, will
obtain marketing approval to commercialize ALRN-6924 or any other product candidate that we may develop.
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  PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item 1. Financial Statements.

AILERON THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONDENSED BALANCE SHEETS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
 

  
March 31,

2021   
December 31,

2020  
Assets         
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 19,283  $ 7,046 
Investments   44,068   6,759 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   948   1,928 
Restricted cash   25   593 

Total current assets   64,324   16,326 
Operating lease, right-of-use asset   228   — 
Other non-current assets   21   — 
Property and equipment, net   98   15 

Total assets  $ 64,671  $ 16,341 
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity         
Current liabilities:         

Accounts payable  $ 560  $ 1,596 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   2,091   2,196 
Paycheck Protection Program loan, current portion   329   168 
Operating lease liability, current portion   93   — 

Total current liabilities   3,073   3,960 
Paycheck Protection Program loan, net of current portion   55   219 
Operating lease liability, net of current portion   124   — 

Total liabilities   3,252   4,179 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)         
Stockholders’ equity:         

Preferred stock, $0.001 par value; 5,000,000 shares authorized and no shares
   issued and outstanding at March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively   —   — 
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 150,000,000 shares authorized at
   March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020; 90,210,557 and 43,804,175 shares issued and outstanding
at March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively   90   44 
Additional paid-in capital   287,603   231,412 
Accumulated other comprehensive gain/(loss)   (7)   (2)
Accumulated deficit   (226,267)   (219,292)

Total stockholders’ equity   61,419   12,162 
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 64,671  $ 16,341

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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  AILERON THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2021   2020  

Revenue  $ —  $ — 
Operating expenses:         

Research and development   4,316   4,069 
General and administrative   2,673   2,807 

Total operating expenses   6,989   6,876 
Loss from operations   (6,989)   (6,876)
Gain on sale of property and equipment   0   66 
Interest income   14   62 
Net loss   (6,975)   (6,748)
Net loss per share — basic and diluted  $ (0.08)  $ (0.24)
Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic and diluted   83,384,371   27,810,358 
Comprehensive loss:         
Net loss  $ (6,975)  $ (6,748)
Other comprehensive loss:         

Unrealized gain (loss) on investments, net of tax of $0   (5)   (8)
Total other comprehensive gain (loss)   (5)   (8)

Total comprehensive loss  $ (6,980)  $ (6,756)
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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AILERON THERAPEUTICS, INC.
CONDENSED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT) (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except share and per share data)
 

  Common Stock   Additional   
Accumulated

Other       Total  

  Shares   
Par

Value   
Paid-in
Capital   

Comprehensive
Loss   

Accumulated
Deficit   

Stockholders'
Equity  

Balances at December 31, 2020   43,804,175  $ 44  $ 231,412  $ (2)  $ (219,292)  $ 12,162 
Issuance of common stock   46,406,382   46   59,042   —   —   59,088 
Issuance costs           (3,482)           (3,482)
Stock-based compensation expense   —   —   631   —   —   631 
Unrealized loss on investments   —   —   —   (5)   —   (5)
Net loss   —   —   —   —   (6,975)   (6,975)
Balances at March 31, 2021   90,210,557  $ 90  $ 287,603  $ (7)  $ (226,267)  $ 61,419 
                         
Balances at December 31, 2019   27,810,358  $ 28  $ 214,148  $ 7  $ (198,135)  $ 16,048 
Issuance costs   —   —   (28)   —   —   (28)
Stock-based compensation expense   —   —   505   —   —   505 
Unrealized loss on investments   —   —   —   (8)   —   (8)
Net loss   —   —   —   —   (6,748)   (6,748)
Balances at March 31, 2020   27,810,358  $ 28  $ 214,625  $ (1)  $ (204,883)  $ 9,769

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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AILERON THERAPEUTICS, INC.

CONDENSED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands)
 
  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2021   2020  
Cash flows from operating activities:         
Net loss  $ (6,975)  $ (6,748)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:         

Depreciation and amortization expense   2   70 
Net amortization of premiums and discounts on investments   62   (30)
Stock-based compensation expense   631   505 
Gain on sale of property and equipment   —   (66)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Prepaid expenses and other current assets   981   280 
Other assets   (22)   167 
Accounts payable   (1,038)   (365)
Operating lease liabilities   (12)   (104)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   (105)   619 

Net cash used in operating activities   (6,476)   (5,672)
Cash flows from investing activities:         
Purchases of property and equipment   (85)   — 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment   —   66 
Purchases of investments   (41,124)   — 
Proceeds from sales or maturities of investments   3,750   10,992 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   (37,459)   11,058 
Cash flows from financing activities:         
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs   55,604   — 

Net cash provided by financing activities   55,604   0 
Net increase/(decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash   11,669   5,386 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period   7,639   5,904 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period  $ 19,308  $ 11,290

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed financial statements.
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  AILERON THERAPEUTICS, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

(Amounts in thousands, except share and per share data)

1. Nature of the Business and Basis of Presentation
Aileron Therapeutics, Inc. (“Aileron” or the “Company”) is a clinical stage chemoprotection oncology company focused on fundamentally

transforming the experience of chemotherapy for cancer patients ALRN-6924, the Company’s first-in-class MDM2/MDMX dual inhibitor activating p53,
is the only reported chemoprotective agent in clinical development to employ a biomarker strategy, in which the Company exclusively focuses on treating
patients with p53-mutated cancers. With this targeted strategy, ALRN-6924 is designed to protect multiple healthy cell types throughout the body from
chemotherapy while chemotherapy continues to kill cancer cells.

The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the biotechnology industry, including but not limited to, new technological innovations,
protection of proprietary technology, dependence on key personnel, compliance with government regulations, uncertainties in the clinical development of
product candidates and in the ability to obtain needed additional financing. ALRN-6924 will require significant additional research and development
efforts, including preclinical and clinical testing and regulatory approval prior to commercialization. These efforts require significant amounts of additional
capital, adequate personnel infrastructure and extensive compliance-reporting capabilities.

There can be no assurance that the Company’s research and development of ALRN-6924 will be successfully completed, that adequate protection for
the Company’s intellectual property will be obtained, that ALRN-6924 will obtain necessary governmental regulatory approval or that if approved, will be
commercially viable. Even if the Company’s drug development efforts are successful, it is uncertain when, if ever, the Company will generate significant
revenue from product sales. The Company operates in an environment of rapid change in technology and substantial competition from pharmaceutical and
biotechnology companies. In addition, the Company is dependent upon the services of its key employees and consultants.

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”).             

Liquidity

In accordance with Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-15, Disclosures of Uncertainties about an Entity’s Ability to Continue as a
Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40), management must evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial
doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. This evaluation
initially does not take into consideration the potential mitigating effect of management’s plans that have not been fully implemented as of the date the
financial statements are issued. When substantial doubt exists under this methodology, management evaluates whether the mitigating effect of its plans
sufficiently alleviates substantial doubt about the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The mitigating effect of management’s plans, however,
is only considered if both (1) it is probable that the plans will be effectively implemented within one year after the date that the financial statements are
issued, and (2) it is probable that the plans, when implemented, will mitigate the relevant conditions or events that raise substantial doubt about the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are issued. Generally, to be considered probable of being
effectively implemented, the plans must have been approved before the date that the financial statements are issued.

The Company’s interim financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of operations,
realization of assets and the satisfaction of liabilities in the ordinary course of business. Through March 31, 2021, the Company has financed operations
primarily through $50,009 in net proceeds from its initial public offering, or IPO, in 2017, $33,091 in net proceeds from a registered direct public offering
in January 2021, $10,246 in net proceeds from a public offering in June 2020, $23,881 in net proceeds from “at the market” offerings, $4,415 in in net
proceeds from sales pursuant to an equity line financing, $23,825 in net proceeds from a private placement of shares and common stock warrants in April
2019, $131,211 from sales of preferred stock prior to its IPO, $552 from the exercise of stock options and $34,910 from a collaboration agreement in 2010.

As of March 31, 2021, the Company had cash, cash equivalents and investments of $63,351. The Company has incurred losses and negative cash
flows from operations and had an accumulated deficit of $226,267 as of March 31, 2021. The Company expects to continue to generate losses for the
foreseeable future.

The Company believes that, based on its current operating plan, its cash, cash equivalents and investments of $63,351 as of March 31, 2021 will
enable the Company to fund its operating expenses for greater than twelve months from the date of issuance of these financial statements.

To execute its business plans, the Company will need substantial funding to support its continuing operations and pursue its growth strategy. Until
such time as the Company can generate significant revenue from product sales, if ever, it expects to finance its
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operations through the sale of common stock in public offering and/or private placements, debt financings or other capital sources, including collaborations
with other companies or other strategic transactions. The Company may not be able to obtain financing when needed, on acceptable terms or at all. The
terms of any financing may adversely affect the holdings or the rights of the Company’s stockholders. If the Company is unable to obtain funding, the
Company could be forced to delay, reduce or eliminate some or all of its clinical programs, product portfolio expansion plans or commercialization efforts,
which could adversely affect its business prospects. The interim financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of
this uncertainty. 

 

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Significant estimates and assumptions reflected in these financial statements include, but are not limited
to, the accrual of research and development expenses and the valuation of common stock and stock-based awards. Estimates are periodically reviewed in
light of changes in circumstances, facts and experience. Actual results could differ from the Company’s estimates.

Unaudited Interim Financial Information

The accompanying unaudited condensed financial statements as of March 31, 2021 and for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 have
been prepared by the Company pursuant to the rules and regulations of the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) for interim
financial statements. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been
condensed or omitted pursuant to such rules and regulations. However, the Company believes that the disclosures are adequate to make the information
presented not misleading. These financial statements should be read in conjunction with the Company’s audited financial statements and the notes thereto
included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 that was filed with the SEC on March 24, 2021.
 

The unaudited interim condensed financial statements have been prepared on the same basis as the audited financial statements and, in the opinion of
management, reflect all adjustments, which include only normal recurring adjustments, necessary for the fair statement of the Company’s financial position
as of March 31, 2021, the results of its operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 and its cash flows for the three months ended
March 31, 2021 and 2020. The financial data and other information disclosed in these notes related to the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 are
unaudited. The results for the three months ended March 31, 2021 are not necessarily indicative of results to be expected for the year ending December 31,
2021, any other interim periods, or any future year or period. The accompanying balance sheet as of December 31, 2020 has been derived from the
Company’s audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020 included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K that was filed with
the SEC on March 24, 2021.
 

Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 90 days or less at acquisition date to be cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents, which consist of money market accounts, corporate notes and commercial paper, are stated at fair value.

Restricted Cash

As of March 31, 2021 restricted cash consisted of $25 deposited in a separate restricted bank account as a security deposit for the Company’s
corporate credit cards. As of December 31, 2020, restricted cash consisted of $568 deposited in a separate restricted bank account as a security deposit
for the lease of the Company’s facility and $25 deposited in a separate restricted bank account as a security deposit for the Company’s corporate credit
cards.

Investments

The Company classifies its available-for-sale debt security investments as current assets on the balance sheet if they mature within one year from the
balance sheet date.
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The Company’s investments are measured and reported at fair value using quoted prices in active markets for similar securities or using other inputs
that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. Unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale securities are reported as
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), which is a separate component of stockholders’ equity (deficit). The cost of securities sold is determined
on a specific identification basis, and realized gains and losses are included in other income (expense) within the statements of operations and
comprehensive loss.

The Company evaluates its investments with unrealized losses for other-than-temporary impairment. When assessing investments for other-than-
temporary declines in value, the Company considers such factors as, how significant the decline in value is as a percentage of the original cost, how long
the market value of the investment has been less than its original cost, the Company’s ability and intent to retain the investment for a period of time
sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value and market conditions in general, among other factors. If any adjustment to fair value reflects a
decline in the value of the investment that the Company considers to be “other than temporary,” the Company reduces the investment to fair value through
a charge to the statements of operations and comprehensive loss. No such adjustments were necessary during the periods presented.

Concentration of Credit Risk and of Significant Suppliers

Financial instruments that potentially expose the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and
investments. From time to time, the Company has maintained all of its cash, cash equivalents and investment balances at three accredited financial
institutions, in amounts that exceed federally insured limits. The Company generally invests its excess cash in money market funds, commercial paper and
corporate notes that are subject to minimal credit and market risks. Management has established guidelines relative to credit ratings and maturities intended
to safeguard principal balances and maintain liquidity. The investment portfolio is maintained in accordance with the Company’s investment policy, which
defines allowable investments, specifies credit quality standards and limits the credit exposure of any single issuer.

The Company is dependent on third-party manufacturers to supply products for research and development activities of its programs, including
preclinical and clinical testing. In particular, the Company relies and expects to continue to rely on a small number of manufacturers to supply it with its
requirements for the active pharmaceutical ingredients and formulated drugs related to these programs. These programs could be adversely affected by a
significant interruption in the supply of active pharmaceutical ingredients and formulated drugs.

Fair Value Measurements

Certain assets and liabilities are carried at fair value under GAAP. Fair value is defined as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or
paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants on the measurement date. Valuation techniques used to measure fair value must maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of
unobservable inputs. Financial assets and liabilities carried at fair value are to be classified and disclosed in one of the following three levels of the fair
value hierarchy, of which the first two are considered observable and the last is considered unobservable.
 

 • Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

 • Level 2—Observable inputs (other than Level 1 quoted prices), such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted
prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets or liabilities, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data.

 • Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to determining the fair value of the
assets or liabilities, including pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies and similar techniques.

The Company’s cash equivalents and investments are carried at fair value, determined according to the fair value hierarchy described above (see
Note 3). The carrying values of the Company’s accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their fair value due to the short-term nature of these
liabilities.

Deferred Offering Costs

The Company capitalizes certain legal, professional accounting and other third-party fees that are directly associated with in-process equity
financings as deferred offering costs until such financings are consummated. During the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December
31, 2020, the Company received aggregate gross proceeds from the sale of common stock of approximately $59,042 and $16,881, respectively before
deducting placement agent fees and offering expenses of approximately $3,482 and $1,494, respectively.  
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Net Loss per Share

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing the net loss by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding for the period.
Diluted net income (loss) is computed by adjusting income (loss) per share to reallocate undistributed earnings based on the potential impact of dilutive
securities. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the diluted net income (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of common
stock outstanding for the period, including potential dilutive common shares. For purpose of this calculation, outstanding options, restricted stock units and
warrants to purchase common stock are considered potential dilutive common shares. In periods in which the Company reports a net loss, diluted net loss
per share is the same as basic net loss per share, since dilutive common shares are not assumed to have been issued if their effect is anti-dilutive.

Risks and Uncertainties

In December 2019, an outbreak of respiratory illness caused by a strain of novel coronavirus, COVID-19, began in China. That outbreak has led to
millions of confirmed cases worldwide, including in the United States and other countries where the Company is conducting clinical trials or activities in
support thereof. The World Health Organization declared the outbreak a global pandemic on March 11, 2020. Recently, new variants of the virus that
causes COVID-19 have been identified and are spreading around the world, which may worsen or prolong the pandemic. In addition to those who have
been directly affected, millions more have been affected by governmental efforts around the world to slow the spread of the virus. The outbreak and
government measures taken in response have also had a significant impact, both direct and indirect, on businesses and commerce. The future progression of
the pandemic and its effects on our business and operations are uncertain.

Potential impacts to the Company’s business include disruptions in supply of the Company’s product candidate and/or procurement of items that are
essential for the Company’s research and development activities, including, for example, raw materials used in the manufacturing of ALRN-6924, medical
and laboratory supplies used in the Company’s clinical trials or preclinical studies or animals that are used for preclinical testing, in each case, for which
there may be shortages because of ongoing efforts to address the COVID-19 pandemic.  While the Company believes that it currently has sufficient supply
of its product candidate to continue the Company’s ongoing and planned clinical trials, its product candidate, or materials contained therein, come from
facilities located in areas impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.

Additionally, the Company has enrolled, and is seeking to enroll, cancer patients in the Company’s clinical trials at sites located both in the United
States and Europe, which are areas that continue to be impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. Enrollment at clinical trial sites may be disrupted as the
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic persist. In the event that clinical trial sites close to enrollment in the Company’s trials or shift resources to address
COVID-19, this could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s clinical trial plans and timelines. The Company may face difficulties recruiting or
retaining patients in its ongoing and planned clinical trials if patients are affected by the virus or are fearful of visiting or traveling to our clinical trial sites
because of the COVID-19 pandemic.

 
Any negative impact that the COVID-19 outbreak has on the ability of the Company’s suppliers to provide materials necessary for the Company’s

product candidate or on recruiting or retaining patients in the Company’s clinical trials could cause costly delays to clinical trial activities, which could
adversely affect the Company’s ability to obtain regulatory approval for and to commercialize the Company’s product candidate, increase the Company’s
operating expenses, affect the Company’s ability to raise additional capital, and impact the Company’s operating and financial results. The capital markets
have also experienced significant volatility as a result of the pandemic. Future disruptions in the capital markets could negatively impact the Company’s
ability to raise capital in the future.
 

     
Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements
 

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments ("ASU 2016-13"). This standard requires that expected credit losses relating to financial assets measured on an amortized cost basis and
available-for-sale debt securities be recorded through an allowance for credit losses. It also limits the amount of credit losses to be recognized for available-
for-sale debt securities to the amount by which carrying value exceeds fair value and also requires the reversal of previously recognized credit losses if fair
value increases. The standard also establishes additional disclosure requirements related to credit risks. This guidance was originally effective for annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those annual reporting periods, and early adoption was permitted. In
November 2019, the FASB subsequently issued ASU 2019-10, Financial Instruments—Credit Losses (Topic 326), Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815),
and Leases (Topic 842): Effective Dates, whereby the effective date of this standard for smaller reporting companies was deferred to annual reporting
periods beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those annual reporting periods, and early adoption is still permitted.
Accordingly, the Company will now adopt this standard effective January 1, 2023, and it is currently evaluating the potential impact that ASU 2016-13 may
have on its condensed financial statements.
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3. Fair Value of Financial Assets

The following tables present information about the Company’s assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis and indicate the level of the
fair value hierarchy utilized to determine such fair values:
 

  
Fair Value Measurements as of

March 31, 2021 using:  
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

Cash equivalents:                 
Money market funds  $ 5,960  $ —  $ —  $ 5,960 
Commercial paper   —   3,999   —   3,999 

Investments:                 
Commercial paper   —   26,478   —   26,478 
Treasury bills   —   10,096   —   10,096 
Corporate notes   —   6,493   —   6,493 
Agency bonds   —   1,001   —   1,001 

  $ 5,960  $ 48,067  $ —  $ 54,027
 

 

  
Fair Value Measurements as of

December 31, 2020 using:  
  Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

Cash equivalents:                 
Money market funds  $ 4,190  $ —  $ —  $ 4,190 
Commercial paper   —   1,001   —   1,001 

Investments:                 
Agency Bonds   —   3,511   —   3,511 
Commercial paper   —   1,999   —   1,999 
Treasury Bills   —   1,249   —   1,249 

  $ 4,190  $ 7,760  $ —  $ 11,950
 

 
As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the Company’s cash equivalents and investments were valued based on Level 1 and Level 2 inputs.

In determining the fair value of its corporate notes and commercial paper at each date presented above, the Company relied on quoted prices for similar
securities in active markets or using other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data. The Company’s cash equivalents
have original maturities of less than 90 days from the date of purchase. All available-for-sale investments have contractual maturities of less than one year.
During the three months ended March 31, 2021 and the year ended December 31, 2020, there were no transfers in or out of Level 3.

4. Investments

As of March 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, the fair value of available-for-sale investments by type of security was as follows:
 

  March 31, 2021  

  
Amortized

Cost   

Gross
Unrealized

Gain   

Gross
Unrealized

Loss   
Fair

Value  
Investments:                 

Commercial paper  $ 26,481  $ —  $ (3)  $ 26,478 
Treasury bills   10,094   2   —   10,096 
Corporate notes   6,496   —   (3)   6,493 
Agency bonds   1,001   —   —   1,001 

  $ 44,072  $ 2  $ (6)  $ 44,068
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  December 31, 2020  

  
Amortized

Cost   

Gross
Unrealized

Gain   

Gross
Unrealized

Loss   
Fair

Value  
Investments:                 

Commercial paper  $ 1,999  $ —  $ —  $ 1,999 
Treasury bills   1,249   —   —   1,249 
Agency bonds   3,511   —   —   3,511 

  $ 6,759  $ —  $ —  $ 6,759
 

 

5. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:

 
  March 31,

2021   
December 31,

2020  
Computer equipment and software   266   181 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (168)   (166)

  $ 98  $ 15  

Depreciation and amortization expense for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was $2.  During the year ended December 31, 2020, fully
depreciated assets with a cost of $640 were disposed of for proceeds of $208, resulting in a gain of $86.

 

6. Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities consisted of the following:
 

  
March 31,

2021   
December 31,

2020  
External research and development services  $ 956  $ 896 
Payroll and payroll-related costs   430   922 
Professional fees   497   135 
Other   208   243 
  $ 2,091  $ 2,196

 

 
 

7. Paycheck Protection Loan

On April 30, 2020, the Company received loan proceeds in the amount of approximately $384 under the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”). 
The PPP, established as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”), provides for loans to qualifying businesses for
amounts up to 2.5 times of the average monthly payroll expenses of the qualifying business. The loan and accrued interest are forgivable after eight weeks
if the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll, benefits, rent and utilities. The amount of loan forgiveness may be reduced if
the borrower terminates employees or reduces salaries during the eight-week period. The unforgiven portion of the PPP loan is payable over two years at an
interest rate of 1%, with a deferral of payments for the first six months. The Company used the proceeds for purposes consistent with the PPP.
The Company has determined to account for the PPP loan as debt under Accounting Standards Update (“ASC 470”), “Debt”, and has allocated and
recorded the loan proceeds between current and non-current liabilities.
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The Company further determined that loan forgiveness would become probable of occurring upon acceptance by the Small Business Association
of the Company’s forgiveness application. If and when the loan forgiveness becomes probable, the Company will recognize income for debt
extinguishment pursuant to ASC 470-50-15-4.  The Company submitted a loan forgiveness application in December 2020.

 

8. Lease

 

On March 26, 2021, the Company entered into a sublease agreement (the “Sublease”) by and among the Company, Vittoria Industries North
America, Inc. (the “Sublessor”) and Waterfront Equity Partners, LLC (the “Lessor”), under which the Company is leasing approximately 3,365 square feet
of office space located at 285 Summer Street, Unit 101, Boston, Massachusetts (the “Premises”). The Sublease is subject and subordinate to a lease
agreement, dated as of July 13, 2012, by and between the Sublessor and Lessor (the “Prime Lease”), pursuant to which the Sublessor is leasing the
Premises from the Lessor.

The term of the Sublease (the “Term”) commenced on April 1, 2021 and terminates upon the earliest to occur of (i) March 31, 2023, (ii) early
termination of the Prime Lease or (iii) termination of the Sublease pursuant to the terms thereof. The Company is obligated to pay monthly base rent under
the Sublease to the Sublessor in an approximate amount of $12 per month during the Term.  The Company recorded a right of use asset of $228 and
operating lease liabilities of $217 upon the inception of the Sublease.

 

 

9. Common Stock

On January 6, 2021, the Company entered into a securities purchase agreement (the “2021 Purchase Agreement”) with certain institutional
investors, pursuant to which the Company issued and sold, in a registered direct offering (the “Offering”), an aggregate of 32,630,983 shares of common
stock, $0.001 par value per share, at a purchase price per share of $1.10 (the “Shares”). The aggregate gross proceeds of the Offering were $35,894, before
deducting fees payable to the placement agent and other estimated offering expenses payable by the Company.  The shares were offered by the Company
pursuant to a shelf registration statement on Form S-3 (File No. 333-226650) that was filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”) on July 1, 2018, and declared effective by the SEC on July 15, 2019 (the “Registration Statement”), and a prospectus supplement thereunder.  The
Offering closed on January 8, 2021.  In addition, during the first quarter, the Company issued and sold an aggregate of 7,174,993 shares of its common
stock pursuant to its ATM Sales Agreement with JonesTrading Institutional Services LLC, resulting in net proceeds of $9,368.

On January 29, 2021, the Company entered into a Capital on Demand™ Sales Agreement (the “ATM Sales Agreement”) with JonesTrading
Institutional Services LLC (“JonesTrading”) and William Blair & Company, L.L.C. (“William Blair” and, collectively with JonesTrading, the “Agents”),
pursuant to which the Company may offer and sell shares of its common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $30,000 from time to time
through or to the Agents (the “ATM Offering”). On January 29, 2021, the Company filed a prospectus supplement with the SEC in connection with the
ATM Offering under its Registration Statement. Between January 29, 2021 and March 31, 2021, the Company issued and sold an aggregate of 5,225,406
shares of its common stock pursuant to the ATM Sales Agreement, resulting in net proceeds of $10,594.

During the first quarter the Company issued and sold an aggregate of 1,375,000 shares of its common stock to LPC pursuant to the Purchase
Agreement, resulting in gross proceeds of $2,614.
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10. Stock-Based Awards

2017 Stock Incentive Plan

The Company’s 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”) was approved by the Company’s stockholders on June 16, 2017 and became effective
on June 28, 2017. Under the 2017 Plan, the Company may grant incentive stock options, nonstatutory stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted
stock awards, awards of restricted stock units and other stock-based awards. The Company’s employees, officers, directors, consultants and advisors are
eligible to receive awards under the 2017 Plan; however, incentive stock options may only be granted to employees. The 2017 Plan is administered by the
board of directors or, at the discretion of the board of directors, by a committee of the board. The number of shares of common stock covered by options
and the date those options become exercisable, type of options to be granted, exercise prices, vesting and other restrictions are determined at the discretion
of the board of directors, or its committee if so delegated.

Stock options granted under the 2017 Plan with service-based vesting conditions generally vest over four years and may not have a duration in
excess of ten years, although options have been granted with vesting terms of less than four years.

The total number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2017 Plan was 5,950,124 as of March 31, 2021, of which 1,328,253 shares
remained available for grant. The Company initially reserved 1,244,816 shares of common stock plus the number of shares equal to the sum of the number
of shares of common stock then available for issuance under the Company’s 2016 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”), which was 424,601 shares, and
the number of shares of common stock subject to outstanding awards under the Company’s 2006 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2006 Plan”) and
the 2016 Plan that expire, terminate or are otherwise surrendered, canceled, forfeited or repurchased by the Company at their original issuance price
pursuant to a contractual repurchase right. Pursuant to the terms of the 2017 Plan, the number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2017
Plan will automatically increase on each January 1, beginning with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2018 and continuing for each fiscal year until, and
including, the fiscal year ending December 31, 2027, equal to the least of (i) 1,244,816 shares of common stock, (ii) 4% of the outstanding shares of
common stock on such date and (iii) an amount determined by the Company’s board of directors. On January 1, 2020 and January 1, 2021, the number of
shares issuable under the 2017 Plan automatically increased by 1,112,414 shares and 1,244,816 shares, respectively.

During the three months ended March 31, 2021, pursuant to the terms of the 2017 Plan, the Company granted options to employees and directors to
purchase 122,400 shares of common stock at a weighted average exercise price of $1.82 per share.      

Shares that are expired, terminated, surrendered or canceled without having been fully exercised will be available for future awards. In addition,
shares of common stock that are tendered to the Company by a participant to exercise an award are added to the number of shares of common stock
available for the grant of awards.

The exercise price for stock options granted may not be less than the fair market value of the common stock as of the date of grant.

2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

On June 16, 2017, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2017 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2017 ESPP”), which became effective on
June 28, 2017. A total of 150,000 shares of common stock were initially reserved for issuance under this plan. Under the 2017 ESPP, the number of shares
of common stock that may be issued under the 2017 ESPP will automatically increase on each January 1, beginning with the fiscal year ending
December 31, 2018 and continuing for each fiscal year until, and including, the fiscal year ending December 31, 2027, equal to the least of (i) 622,408
shares, (ii) 1% of the outstanding shares of common stock on such date and (iii) an amount determined by the Company’s board of directors. The
compensation committee of the board of directors has determined that the number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the 2017 ESPP
would not be increased on January 1, 2019 or January 1, 2020. The Company has not issued any shares under the 2017 ESPP.

2016 Stock Incentive Plan

The 2016 Plan provided for the Company to grant incentive stock options or nonqualified stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units and
other equity awards to employees, directors and consultants of the Company. The 2016 Plan was administered by the board of directors or, at the discretion
of the board of directors, by a committee of the board. The exercise prices, vesting and other restrictions were determined at the discretion of the board of
directors, or its committee if so delegated.

Stock options granted under the 2016 Plan with service-based vesting conditions vest over four years and expire after ten years.

As of the effective date of the 2017 Plan, the board of directors determined to grant no further awards under the 2016 Plan. No stock options or other
awards have been made under the 2016 Plan since the adoption of the 2017 Plan.  
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Shares that are expired, terminated, surrendered or canceled without having been fully exercised will be available for future awards under the 2017
Plan. In addition, shares of common stock that are tendered to the Company by a participant to exercise an award are added to the number of shares of
common stock available for the grant of awards under the 2017 Plan.     

Stock Option Valuation

The assumptions that the Company used to determine the grant-date fair value of the stock options granted to employees and directors during the
three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 were as follows, presented on a weighted average basis:
 

  

Three Months
Ended

March 31, 2021   

Three Months
Ended

March 31, 2020  
Risk-free interest rate   0.69%   1.29%
Expected term (in years)   6.3   6.3 
Expected volatility   76.0%   76.0%
Expected dividend yield   0%   0%

 

Stock Options

The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity since January 1, 2021:
 

  
Number of

Shares   

Weighted
Average
Exercise

Price   

Weighted
Average

Remaining
Contractual

Term   

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value  
          (in years)      

Outstanding at December 31, 2020   4,665,586  $ 2.39   8.1  $ 622 
Granted   122,400   1.82         
Exercised   —   —         
Canceled   —   —         
Forfeited   (68,813)   0.63         

Outstanding at March 31, 2021   4,719,173  $ 2.39   7.9  $ 1,283 
Options exercisable at March 31, 2021   2,607,908  $ 3.20   7.3  $ 493 
Options vested and expected to vest at March 31, 2021   4,655,763  $ 2.41   7.9  $ 1,256 
Options exercisable at December 31, 2020   2,377,533  $ 3.28   7.6  $ 197 
Options vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2020   4,592,729  $ 2.41   8.1  $ 606

 

 
The weighted average grant-date fair value of stock options granted during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 was $1.21 and $0.44,

respectively.

The aggregate fair value of stock options that vested during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 was $376 and $447, respectively.

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options is calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the stock options and the fair value of the
Company’s common stock for those stock options that had exercise prices lower than the fair value of the Company’s common stock. The aggregate
intrinsic value of stock options exercised during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 was $0.
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Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes the Company’s stock option activity since January 1, 2021:
 

      
Weighted-
Average  

      Grant Date  
  Units   per Unit  

Outstanding, non-vested at December 31, 2020   —  $ — 
Issued   250,000   1.23 
Vested   —   — 
Canceled/forfeited   —   — 

Outstanding, non-vested at March 31, 2021   250,000  $ 1.23
 

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company recorded stock-based compensation expense related to stock options and restricted stock units in the following expense categories of
its statements of operations and comprehensive loss:
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2021   2020  

Research and development expenses  $ 99  $ 149 
General and administrative expenses   532   356 
  $ 631  $ 505

 

 
During the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020 the Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $0 and $49, respectively,

included in the table above, related to performance-based awards for which achievement of such performance-based conditions were deemed probable.  
 

As of March 31, 2021, the Company had an aggregate of $1,912 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense, which it expects to recognize
over a weighted average period of 2.1 years.
 

11. Net Loss per Share

Basic and diluted net loss per share was calculated as follows:
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2021   2020  

Numerator:         
Net loss  $ (6,975)  $ (6,748)

         
Denominator:         

Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic
   and diluted   83,384,371   27,810,358 

         
Net loss per share —basic and diluted  $ (0.08)  $ (0.24)

 

18



 
 

The Company’s potential dilutive securities as of March 31, 2021 and 2020, which include stock options and warrants, have been excluded from the
computation of diluted net loss per share whenever the effect of including them would be to reduce the net loss per share. In periods where there is a net
loss, the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding used to calculate both basic and diluted net loss per share is the same. The
following potential shares of common stock, presented based on amounts outstanding at each period end, were excluded from the calculation of diluted net
loss per share for the periods indicated because including them would have had an anti-dilutive effect:
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2021   2020  

Warrants to purchase common stock   12,935,323   12,935,323 
Stock options to purchase common stock   4,719,173   4,843,849 
Restricted stock units to purchase common stock   250,000   50,000 
Total   17,904,496   17,829,172

 

 
12. Commitments and Contingencies

 

Intellectual Property Licenses

Harvard and Dana-Farber Agreement

In August 2006, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with President and Fellows of Harvard College (“Harvard”) and Dana-
Farber Cancer Institute (“DFCI”). The agreement granted the Company an exclusive worldwide license, with the right to sublicense, under specified
patents and patent applications to develop, obtain regulatory approval for and commercialize specified product candidates based on cell-permeating
peptides. Under the agreement, the Company is obligated to use commercially reasonable efforts to develop and commercialize one or more licensed
products and to achieve specified milestone events by specified dates. In connection with entering into the agreement, the Company paid an upfront license
fee and issued to Harvard and DFCI shares of its common stock.

In February 2010, the agreement was amended and restated (the “Harvard/DFCI agreement”) under which additional patent rights were added to the
scope of the license agreement and the annual license maintenance fees were increased. Under the Harvard/DFCI agreement, the Company is obligated to
make aggregate milestones payments of up to $7,700 per licensed therapeutic product upon the Company’s achievement of specified clinical, regulatory
and sales milestones with respect to such product and up to $700 per licensed diagnostic product upon the Company’s achievement of specified regulatory
and sales milestones with respect to such product. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay royalties of low single-digit percentages on annual net sales
of licensed products sold by the Company, its affiliates or its sublicensees. The royalties are payable on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis,
and may be reduced in specified circumstances. In addition, the agreement obligates the Company to pay a percentage, up to the mid-twenties, of fees
received by the Company in connection with its sublicense of the licensed products. In accordance with the terms of the agreement, the Company’s
sublicense payment obligations may be subject to specified reductions.

The Harvard/DFCI agreement requires the Company to pay annual license maintenance fees of $145. Any payments made in connection with the
annual license maintenance fees will be credited against any royalties due.

The Company incurred license maintenance fees of $145 during each of the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. The Company did not
make any milestone payments during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. As of March 31, 2021, no additional milestones had been achieved
and no liabilities for additional milestone payments had been recorded in the Company’s financial statements.

As of March 31, 2021, the Company had not developed a commercial product using the licensed technologies and no royalties under the agreement
had been paid or were due.

Under the Harvard/DFCI agreement, the Company is responsible for all patent expenses related to the prosecution and maintenance of the licensed
patents and applications in-licensed under the agreement as well as cost reimbursement of amounts incurred for all documented patent-related expenses.
The agreement will expire on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis upon the last to expire of any valid patent claim pertaining to licensed
products covered under the agreement.
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Umicore Agreement

In December 2006, the Company entered into a license agreement with Materia, Inc. (“Materia”), under which it was granted a non-exclusive
worldwide license, with the right to sublicense, under specified patent and patent applications to utilize Materia’s catalysts to develop, obtain regulatory
approval for and commercialize specified peptides owned or controlled by Materia and the right to manufacture specified compositions owned or controlled
by Materia. In February 2017, Materia assigned the license agreement (the “Umicore agreement”) to Umicore Precious Metals Chemistry USA, LLC
(“Umicore”), and Umicore agreed to continue to supply the Company under the agreement.

Under the Umicore agreement, the Company is obligated to make aggregate milestone payments to Umicore of up to $6,400 upon the Company’s
achievement of specified clinical, regulatory and sales milestones with respect to each licensed product. In addition, the Company is obligated to pay tiered
royalties ranging in the low single-digit percentages on annual net sales of licensed products sold by the Company or its sublicensees. The royalties are
payable on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis and may be reduced in specified circumstances.

The Umicore agreement requires the Company to pay annual license fees of $50. The Company incurred license fees of $50 during the three months
ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. The Company did not make any milestone payments during the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020. As of
March 31, 2021, no additional milestones had been achieved and no liabilities for additional milestone payments had been recorded in the Company’s
financial statements.

The Umicore agreement expires upon the expiration of the Company’s obligation to pay royalties in each territory covered under the agreement.

Indemnification Agreements

In the ordinary course of business, the Company may provide indemnification of varying scope and terms to vendors, lessors, business partners and
other parties with respect to certain matters including, but not limited to, losses arising out of breach of such agreements or from intellectual property
infringement claims made by third parties. In addition, the Company has entered into indemnification agreements with members of its board of directors
and officers that will require the Company, among other things, to indemnify them against certain liabilities that may arise by reason of their status or
service as directors or officers. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company could be required to make under these indemnification
agreements is, in many cases, unlimited. To date, the Company has not incurred any material costs as a result of such indemnifications. The Company is not
aware of any claims for indemnification that would have a material effect on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows, and it had not
accrued any liabilities related to such obligations in its financial statements as of March 31, 2021 or December 31, 2020.
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Item 2. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with our unaudited
condensed financial statements and related notes appearing elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and our audited financial statements and
related notes for the year ended December 31, 2020 included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020 that was filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, on March 24, 2021.

Some of the statements contained in this discussion and analysis or set forth elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including information
with respect to our plans and strategy for our business, constitute forward looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of
1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. We have based these forward-looking statements on our current
expectations and projections about future events. The following information and any forward-looking statements should be considered in light of factors
discussed elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q particularly including those risks identified in Part II-Item 1A “Risk Factors” and our other
filings with the SEC.

Our actual results and timing of certain events may differ materially from the results discussed, projected, anticipated, or indicated in any forward-
looking statements. We caution you that forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance and that our actual results of operations,
financial condition and liquidity, and the development of the industry in which we operate may differ materially from the forward-looking statements
contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Statements made herein are as of the date of the filing of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q with the
SEC and should not be relied upon as of any subsequent date. Even if our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and the development of
the industry in which we operate are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, they may not be
predictive of results or developments in future periods. We disclaim any obligation, except as specifically required by law and the rules of the SEC, to
publicly update or revise any such statements to reflect any change in our expectations or in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such
statements may be based or that may affect the likelihood that actual results will differ from those set forth in the forward-looking statements.

We caution readers not to place undue reliance on any forward-looking statements made by us, which speak only as of the date they are made.

Overview
We are a clinical stage chemoprotection oncology company focused on fundamentally transforming the experience of chemotherapy for cancer

patients. ALRN-6924, our first-in-class MDM2/MDMX dual inhibitor activating p53, is the only reported chemoprotective agent in clinical development to
employ a biomarker strategy, in which we exclusively focus on treating patients with p53-mutated cancers. With this targeted strategy, ALRN-6924 is
designed to protect multiple healthy cell types throughout the body from chemotherapy while chemotherapy continues to fight cancer cells.

We are developing ALRN-6924 to selectively protect healthy cells in patients with cancers that harbor p53 mutations, which are present in over half
of all cancer patients, to reduce or eliminate chemotherapy-induced side effects while not interfering with chemotherapy’s attack on cancer cells, a concept
known as chemoprotection. By reducing or eliminating multiple chemotherapy-induced side effects, ALRN-6924 may improve patients’ quality of life and
help them better tolerate chemotherapy. Enhanced tolerability may result in fewer dose reductions or delays of chemotherapy and the potential for
improved efficacy.

Our clinical development program for ALRN-6924 includes the recently completed Phase 1b clinical trial in patients with p53-mutated small cell
lung cancer, or SCLC, our ongoing study of ALRN-6924 in healthy volunteers, and a planned Phase 1b clinical trial evaluating ALRN-6924 as a
chemoprotective agent in patients with p53-mutated non-small cell lung cancer, or NSCLC, being treated with chemotherapy or immuno-chemotherapy.

During the first quarter, Aileron completed its Phase 1b evaluation of ALRN-6924 at the recommended phase 2 dose of 0.3 mg/kg in patients with
SCLC receiving ALRN-6924 24-hours prior to topotecan and conducted preliminary evaluation of data from additional cohorts. These preliminary findings
from 11 additional patients (n=7 patients receiving 0.3 mg/kg ALRN-6924 six hours before topotecan and n=4 patients receiving 0.2 mg/kg ALRN-6924
twenty-four hours before topotecan) were in line with data presented last October and with Aileron’s expectation that administering ALRN-6924 at
0.3mg/kg and 24 hours before topotecan remains the optimal dose and schedule in this patient population. Aileron expects to present results of the Phase 1b
SCLC trial at a scientific conference in the second half of 2021.

Biologically, the same mechanism of action that led to a protection against chemotherapy-induced bone marrow toxicities has the potential to also
lead to protection of healthy normal cells outside of the bone marrow, which may lead to a form of protection against chemotherapy-induced side effects
such as alopecia, mucositis, diarrhea and other side effects. We aim to explore the chemoprotective effects of ALRN-6924 in other normal tissues and
organs, such as the skin, hair follicles and the gastrointestinal tract in future, larger randomized clinical studies.

The data from our SCLC trial have informed our choice of the recommended dose of ALRN-6924 (0.3 mg/kg) for subsequent clinical trials.
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In the second quarter of 2021, we plan to initiate a new Phase 1b clinical trial to assess ALRN-6924 as a chemoprotective agent in patients with
adenocarcinoma histology and with advanced p53-mutated NSCLC being treated with first-line chemotherapy with carboplatin and pemetrexed with or
without an immune checkpoint inhibitor. Approximately 50% of patients with NSCLC have a p53 mutation. This trial is randomized, placebo-controlled,
double-blinded, and it is designed to evaluate the potential chemoprotective effects of ALRN-6924 in this patient population. We plan to initiate in the
NSCLC trial in the second quarter of 2021 and we anticipate reporting interim data from 10-20 patients at the end of 2021 and topline results (60 patients)
in mid-2022.

We are also conducting a trial of ALRN-6924 in healthy human volunteers to characterize the time to onset, and magnitude and duration of cell cycle
arrest in human bone marrow relative to ALRN-6924 administration. The aim of the healthy volunteer study is to develop a universal dosing regimen for
ALRN-6924 for use as a chemoprotection agent across a range of additional chemotherapies and tumor indications. Results from the trial remain on track
to be presented at a medical conference in second half of 2021.  

In addition, we making near-term strategic investments in CMC development of ALRN-6924, in the development of a p53 companion diagnostic
and in team scale-up to support late-stage clinical development in patients with NSCLC upon the completion of our Phase 1b clinical trial such patients. We
expect that these investment will provide foundational support for our future clinical programs of ALRN-6924 as a chemoprotective agent across multiple
p53-mutated cancer indications. To that purpose, we plan to engage as appropriate with the FDA in 2021 to discuss the ALRN-6924 development program.

Subject to obtaining additional funding, we plan to expand our chemoprotection clinical program to other cancer indications and pursue a
development path that could lead to a broad label for ALRN-6924 as a chemoprotective agent, across many tumor types and chemotherapy regimens.

Since our inception, we have devoted substantially all of our resources to developing our product candidates, including ALRN-6924, developing our
proprietary stabilized cell-permeating peptide platform, building our intellectual property portfolio, business planning, raising capital and providing general
and administrative support for these operations.

To date, we have financed our operations primary through $50.0 million in net proceeds from our initial public offering, or IPO, in 2017, $23.8
million in net proceeds from a private placement in April 2019, $10.2 million in net proceeds from a public offering in June 2020, $33.1 million in net
proceeds from a registered direct offering in January 2021, $23.9 million in net proceeds from “at the market” offerings, $4.4 million in net proceeds from
sales pursuant to an equity line financing, $131.2 million from our sales of preferred stock prior to our IPO, $0.6 million from the exercise of stock options
and $34.9 million from a collaboration agreement in 2010.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant losses on an aggregate basis. Our net losses were $7.0 million and $6.7 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. As of March 31, 2021, we had an accumulated deficit of $226.3 million. These losses have resulted
primarily from costs incurred in connection with research and development activities, licensing and patent investment and general and administrative costs
associated with our operations. We expect to continue to incur significant expenses and operating losses for at least the next several years.

As a result, we will need additional financing to support our continuing operations. Until such time as we can generate significant revenue from
product sales, if ever, we expect to finance our operations through public or private equity offerings, collaborations and licensing arrangements, or other
sources of capital. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. Market conditions are volatile and may continue
to be volatile for the foreseeable future, which may limit our ability to raise capital. In addition, while we may seek one or more collaborators for future
development of our product candidates for one or more indications, we may not be able to enter into a collaboration for ALRN-6924 for such indications
on suitable terms, on a timely basis or at all. Our failure to raise capital as and when needed would have a negative impact on our financial condition and
our ability to pursue our business strategy. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, or on acceptable terms, we may be forced to delay, reduce and/or
eliminate some or all of our clinical and drug development programs and future commercialization efforts. We may also be forced to take other actions that
could adversely affect our business.

Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with product development, we are unable to predict the timing or amount of expenses or
when or if we will be able to achieve or maintain profitability. Even if we are able to generate revenue from product sales, we may not become profitable. If
we fail to become profitable or are unable to sustain profitability on a continuing basis, then we may be unable to continue our operations at planned levels
and be forced to reduce or terminate our operations.

We believe that, based on our current operating plan, our cash, cash equivalents and investments of $63.4 million as of March 31, 2021 will enable
us to fund our operating expenses into the second half of 2023. Our funding estimates are based on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could
use our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Changing circumstances, some of which may be beyond our control, could cause us to
consume capital significantly faster than we currently anticipate. In any event, our cash, cash equivalents and investments will not be sufficient to fund all
of the efforts that we plan to undertake or to fund the completion of development or commercialization of ALRN-6924, see “Liquidity and Capital
Resources.” Our future viability is dependent on our ability to raise additional capital to finance our operations.  
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COVID-19

In March 2020, we began precautionary measures to protect the health and safety of our employees and partners and prospective clinical trial
participants during the COVID-19 pandemic. Because millions of COVID-19 infections have been reported throughout the United States and worldwide,
certain national, state and local governmental authorities have issued orders, proclamations and/or directives aimed at minimizing the spread of COVID-19.
Additional, more restrictive orders, proclamations and/or directives may be issued in the future. As a result, the conduct of our clinical studies with our
external partners has been adjusted to institute virtual clinical trial site training and site monitoring, along with partnering with sites to minimize patient
visits and institute telemedicine to minimize patient exposure.

While the COVID-19 pandemic did not significantly impact our business or results of operations during the quarter ended March 31, 2021, the
ultimate impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our operations is unknown and will depend on future developments. Such future events are highly uncertain
and cannot be predicted with confidence, including the duration of the COVID-19 outbreak, new information which may emerge concerning the severity of
the COVID-19 pandemic, including the new variants of the virus that causes COVID-19 that have been identified and are spreading around the world, and
any additional preventative and protective actions that governments or we may direct, which may result in an extended period of continued business
disruption, reduced patient traffic and reduced operations. In particular, the speed of the continued spread of COVID-19 globally, and the magnitude of
interventions to contain the spread of the virus, such as government-imposed quarantines, including shelter-in-place mandates, sweeping restrictions on
travel, mandatory shutdowns for non-essential businesses, requirements regarding social distancing, and other public health safety measures, will determine
the impact of the pandemic on our business. We are continuing to monitor the latest developments regarding the COVID-19 pandemic and its impact on our
business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

 

Components of our Results of Operations

Revenue

We have not generated any revenue from product sales and do not expect to generate any revenue from the sale of products in the near future. If our
development efforts for ALRN-6924 or other product candidates that we may develop in the future are successful and result in marketing approval or
collaboration or license agreements with third parties, we may generate revenue in the future from a combination of product sales or payments from
collaboration or license agreements that we may enter into with third parties.

Operating Expenses

Our expenses since inception have consisted solely of research and development costs and general and administrative costs.

We expect that our operating expenses will increase if and as we use the proceeds of such sales of our common stock to increase our level of clinical
development of ALRN-6924 and hire additional personnel to carry out such clinical development.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses consist primarily of costs incurred for our research activities, including our discovery efforts, and the
development of our product candidates, and include:

 • expenses incurred under agreements with third parties, including contract research organizations, or CROs, that conduct research, preclinical
activities and clinical trials on our behalf as well as contract manufacturing organizations, or CMOs, that manufacture our product candidates
for use in our preclinical and clinical trials;

 • salaries, benefits and other related costs, including stock-based compensation expense, for personnel engaged in research and development
functions;

 • costs of outside consultants, including their fees, stock-based compensation and related travel expenses;

 • the costs of laboratory supplies and acquiring, developing and manufacturing preclinical study and clinical trial materials;

 • third-party license fees;

 • costs related to compliance with regulatory requirements; and

 • facility-related expenses, which include direct depreciation costs and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities and other
operating costs.
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We expense research and development costs as incurred. We recognize costs for certain development activities, such as clinical trials, based on an
evaluation of the progress to completion of specific tasks using data such as patient enrollment, clinical site activations or information provided to us by our
vendors and our clinical investigative sites. Payments for these activities are based on the terms of the individual agreements, which may differ from the
pattern of costs incurred, and are reflected in our financial statements as prepaid or accrued research and development expenses.

We typically use our employee and infrastructure resources across our development programs. We track outsourced development costs and milestone
payments made under our licensing arrangements by product candidate or development program, but we do not allocate personnel costs, license payments
made under our licensing arrangements or other internal costs to specific development programs or product candidates. These costs are included in
employee, facility and other development expenses in the table below. Employee, facility and other expenses also includes internal research relating to non-
clinical and pipeline compounds in oncology and non-oncology indications.
 

Research and development activities are central to our business model. Product candidates in later stages of clinical development generally have
higher development costs than those in earlier stages of clinical development, primarily due to the increased size and duration of later-stage clinical trials.
We expect to incur significant research and development expenses in the foreseeable future as we continue our ongoing clinical trials of ALRN-6924,
initiate additional clinical trials of ALRN-6924 and pursue later stages of clinical development of ALRN-6924.

We cannot determine with certainty the duration and costs of the current or future clinical trials of our product candidates or if, when, or to what
extent we will generate revenue from the commercialization and sale of any of our product candidates for which we obtain marketing approval. We may
never succeed in obtaining marketing approval for any product candidate. The duration, costs and timing of clinical trials and development of ALRN-6924
will depend on a variety of factors, including:

 • the scope, rate of progress, expense and results of our ongoing clinical trial of ALRN-6924, as well as of any future clinical trials of ALRN-
6924 or other product candidates that we may develop and other research and development activities that we may conduct;

 • uncertainties in clinical trial design and patient enrollment rates;

 • significant and changing government regulation and regulatory guidance;

 • the timing and receipt of any marketing approvals; and

 • the expense of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights.

A change in the outcome of any of these variables with respect to the development of a product candidate could mean a significant change in the
costs and timing associated with the development of that product candidate. For example, if the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or the FDA, or
another regulatory authority were to require us to conduct clinical trials beyond those that we anticipate will be required for the completion of clinical
development of a product candidate, or if we experience significant trial delays due to patient enrollment or other reasons, we would be required to expend
significant additional financial resources and time on the completion of clinical development.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of salaries and other related costs, including stock-based compensation, for personnel in our
executive, finance and corporate and administrative functions. General and administrative expenses are comprised of professional fees associated with
being a public company including costs of accounting, auditing, legal, regulatory, tax and consulting services associated with maintaining compliance with
exchange listing and SEC requirements, director and officer insurance costs; and both public and investor relations costs. General and administrative
expenses also include legal fees relating to patent and corporate matters; other insurance costs; travel expenses; and facility-related expenses, which include
direct depreciation costs and allocated expenses for rent and maintenance of facilities and other operating costs.

Interest Income

Interest income consists of interest income earned on our cash, cash equivalents and investments. Historically, our interest income had not been
significant due to low investment balances and low interest earned on those balances. We anticipate that our interest income will fluctuate in the future in
response to our cash, cash equivalents and investments, and the interest rate environment.
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Results of Operations

Comparison of the Three Months Ended March 31, 2021 and 2020

The following table summarizes our results of operations for the three months ended March 31, 2021 and 2020:
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,   Increase  
  2021   2020   (Decrease)  
  (in thousands)  

Revenue  $ —  $ —  $ — 
Operating expenses:             

Research and development   4,316   4,069   247 
General and administrative   2,673   2,807   (134)

Total operating expenses   6,989   6,876   113 
Loss from operations   (6,989)   (6,876)   (113)
Gain on sale of property and equipment   —   66   (66)
Interest income   14   62   (48)
Net loss  $ (6,975)  $ (6,748)  $ (227)

 

Research and Development Expenses
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,   Increase  
  2021   2020   (Decrease)  
  (in thousands)  

ALRN-6924  $ 3,470  $ 2,831  $ 639 
Other early-stage development programs   —   2   (2)
Employee, facility and other development expenses   846   1,236   (390)

Total research and development expenses  $ 4,316  $ 4,069  $ 247
 

 
 
 

Research and development expenses for the three months ended March 31, 2021 were $4.3 million, compared to $4.1 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2020. The increase of $0.2 million is primarily a result of increased spending on clinical development of ALRN-6924 in the
Phase 1b clinical trial in patients with advanced NSCLC being treated with first-line chemotherapy of carboplatin and pemetrexed and is partially offset by
the effect of cost savings measures implemented in 2020 resulting in decreased spending on employee, facility and other development expenses.

 

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were $2.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2021, compared to $2.8 million for three months ended
March 31, 2020. The decrease in general and administrative expense is the result of lower headcount and facility costs during the three months ended
March 31, 2021 compared to the three months ended March 31, 2020 and is partially offset by increased spending on professional services.

 

Interest Income

Interest income for the three months ended March 31, 2021 was less than $0.1 million, compared to $0.1 million for the three months ended March
31, 2020. We anticipate that our interest income will fluctuate in the future in response to our then current cash, cash equivalents and investments, and then
current interest rates.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception, we have incurred significant losses on an aggregate basis. We have not yet commercialized any product candidate, including
ALRN-6924, which is in clinical development, and we do not expect to generate revenue from sales of any products for several years, if at all. We have
financed our operations through sales of common stock in our initial public offering and follow-on public offerings, sales of common stock and warrants in
a private placement, sales of common stock in “at-the-market” offerings under the Capital on Demand Sales Agreements, sales of common stock under our
equity line with LPC, sales of preferred stock prior to our initial public offering and payments received under a collaboration agreement. As of March 31,
2021, we had cash, cash equivalents and investments of $63.4 million.

Public Offerings

In June 2020, we issued and sold in an underwritten public offering an aggregate of 10,162,059 shares of common stock, including an additional
1,071,149 shares of common stock upon the partial exercise of the option of the underwriter to purchase additional shares of common stock, for a purchase
price to the public of $1.10 per share. We received aggregate gross proceeds from the public offering of approximately $11.2 million, before deducting
underwriting discounts and commissions and offering expenses of $0.9 million.

In January 2021, we issued and sold an aggregate of 32,630,983 shares of common stock in a registered direct offering at a purchase price per
share of $1.10. The aggregate gross proceeds of the registered direct offering were $35.9 million, before deducting fees payable to the placement agent and
other estimated offering expenses payable by us of approximately $2.9 million.

At-the-Market Offering

In July 2019, we entered into a Sales Agreement with JonesTrading Institutional Services LLC, or JonesTrading, under which we currently may
issue and sell shares of common stock, having an aggregate offering price of up to $15.0 million. Sales of common stock through JonesTrading may be
made by any method that is deemed an “at the market” offering as defined in Rule 415(a)(4) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We are not
obligated to make any sales of common stock under the Sales Agreement. During the year ended December 31, 2020, we issued and sold an aggregate of
4,160,899 shares of common stock pursuant to the Sales Agreement for gross proceeds of $4.0 million, before deducting commissions and fees.  Between
January 1, 2021 and January 28, 2021, we sold an additional 7,174,993 shares of common stock pursuant to the Sales Agreement for gross proceeds of $9.7
million, before deducting commissions and fees.  We terminated the Sales Agreement in January 2021.

In January 2021, we entered into a Capital on Demand Sales Agreement, or the ATM Sales Agreement, with JonesTrading and William Blair &
Company, L.L.C., or William Blair, as agents, under which we may issue and sell shares of common stock, having an aggregate offering price to up to
$30.0 million.  Sales of common stock through JonesTrading and William Blair may be made by any method that is deemed an “at the market” offering as
defined in Rule 415(a)(4) under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. We are not obligated to make any sales of common stock under the ATM Sales
Agreement. Between January 29, 2021 and March 31, 2021, we have issued and sold an aggregate of 5,225,406 shares of common stock pursuant to the
ATM Sales Agreement for proceeds of $10.6 million, after deducting commissions and fees.

Equity Line Financing

In September 2020, we entered into a Purchase Agreement, or the LPC Purchase Agreement, with Lincoln Park Capital, LLC or LPC for an equity
line financing. The LPC Purchase Agreement provides that, subject to the terms and conditions set forth therein, we have the right, but not the obligation,
to sell to LPC, and LPC is obligated to purchased up to $15.0 million of shares of common stock at our sole discretion, over a 36-month period that
commenced in October 2020. We filed a registration statement on Form S-1 covering the sale of shares of common stock that are issued to LPC under the
LPC Purchase Agreement, which was declared effective on October 15, 2020.

Upon entering into the LPC Purchase Agreement, we issued and sold 367,647 shares of common stock, or the Initial Purchase Shares, to LPC at a
price per share of $1.36, or $0.5 million, which is part of the $15.0 million of shares of common stock that we may sell to LPC under the Purchase
Agreement. Additionally, we issued to LPC as a commitment fee 220,588 shares of common stock as consideration for LPC entering into the Purchase
Agreement.

Under the Purchase Agreement, we may, at our discretion, direct LPC to purchase on any single business day, or a Regular Purchase, up to (i)
250,000 shares of common stock if the closing sale price of our common stock is not below $1.50 per share on Nasdaq, (ii) 200,000 shares of common
stock if the closing sale price of our common stock is not below $1.00 per share on Nasdaq or (iii) 150,000 shares of common stock if the closing sale price
of our common stock is below $1.00 per share on Nasdaq. In any case, LPC’s commitment in any single Regular Purchase may not exceed $1,000,000.

The purchase price per share for each such Regular Purchase will be based on prevailing market prices of our common stock immediately preceding
the time of sale as computed under the LPC Purchase Agreement. Under the LPC Purchase Agreement, we may not effect any sales of shares of common
stock on any purchase date that the closing sale price of our common stock on Nasdaq is less than the floor price of $0.30 per share.
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In addition to Regular Purchases, we may also direct LPC to purchase other amounts as accelerated purchases or as additional accelerated purchases
on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Purchase Agreement.

The net proceeds under the LPC Purchase Agreement to us will depend on the frequency of sales and the number of shares sold to LPC and prices at
which we sell shares to LPC.

The LPC Purchase Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, covenants, indemnification and termination provisions. LPC has
covenanted not to cause or engage in any manner whatsoever, any direct or indirect short selling or hedging of our common stock. There are no limitations
on use of proceeds, financial or business covenants, restrictions on future financings (other than restrictions on our ability to enter into additional “equity
line” or a substantially similar transaction whereby a specific investor is irrevocably bound pursuant to an agreement with us to purchase securities over a
period of time from us at a price based on the market price of the common stock at the time of such purchase), rights of first refusal, participation rights,
penalties or liquidated damages in the LPC Purchase Agreement. The LPC Purchase Agreement may be terminated by us at any time, at our sole discretion,
without any cost or penalty. During any “event of default” under the LPC Purchase Agreement, LPC does not have the right to terminate the LPC Purchase
Agreement; however, we may not initiate any purchase of shares by LPC until such event of default is cured.  Through December 31, 2020, we issued and
sold an aggregate of 1,417,647 shares of common stock to LPC for gross proceeds of $1,801 million. Between January 1, 2021 and March 31, 2021, we
issued and sold an aggregate of 1,375,000 shares of common stock to LPC for gross proceeds of $2.6 million.

Private Placement

On April 2, 2019, we issued and sold in a private placement an aggregate of (i) 11,838,582 units, consisting of 11,838,582 shares of our common
stock and associated warrants, or the common warrants, to purchase an aggregate of 11,838,582 shares of common stock, for a combined price of $2.01 per
unit and (ii) 1,096,741 units, consisting of (a) pre-funded warrants to purchase 1,096,741 shares of our common stock and (b) associated common warrants
to purchase 1,096,741 shares of common stock, for a combined price of $2.01 per unit. The pre-funded warrants had an exercise price of $0.01 per share
and had no expiration. The common warrants are exercisable at an exercise price of $2.00 per share and expire five years from the date of issuance.  The
securities were sold pursuant to a securities purchase agreement entered into with accredited investors on March 28, 2019. We received aggregate gross
proceeds from the private placement of approximately $26.0 million before deducting placement agent fees and offering expenses of approximately $2.2
million and excluding the exercise of any warrants. In July 2019, all outstanding pre-funded warrants were exercised for 1,096,741 shares of common
stock.

 
 

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our sources and uses of cash for each of the periods presented:
 

  Three Months Ended March 31,  
  2021   2020  
  (in thousands)  

Cash used in operating activities  $ (6,476)  $ (5,672)
Cash provided by/(used in) investing activities   (37,459)   11,058 
Cash provided by financing activities   55,604   — 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash  $ 11,669  $ 5,386
 

 
Operating Activities. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, operating activities used $6.5 million of cash, resulting primarily from our net

loss of $7.0 million, offset by $0.6 million in non-cash stock-based compensation expense. Net cash used by changes in our operating assets and liabilities
during the three months ended March 31, 2021 consisted primarily of a decrease of $1.0 million in account payable as well as a decrease of $0.1 million in
accrued expenses and other current liabilities from December 31, 2020 and a decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets of $1.0 million.
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 During the three months ended March 31, 2020, operating activities used $5.7 million of cash, resulting primarily from our net loss of $6.7 million,
offset by cash provided by the change in operating assets and liabilities of $0.6 million and $0.5 million in non-cash stock-based compensation expense.
Net cash provided by changes in our operating assets and liabilities during the three months ended March 31, 2020 consisted primarily of an increase of
$0.6 million in accrued expenses and other current liabilities as well as a decrease of $0.4 million in accounts payable from December 31, 2019. The
increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities was primarily due to a decrease in payroll-related accruals.

Investing Activities. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, investing activities used $37.5 million of cash primarily resulting from the
purchase of $41.1 million of investments and partially offset by $3.8 million of proceeds from the sale of investments. During the three months ended
March 31, 2020, investing activities provided $11.1 million of cash resulting from $11.0 million of proceeds from the sale of investments offset by $0.1
million of purchases of property and equipment.

Financing Activities. During the three months ended March 31, 2021, net cash provided by financing activities was $55.6 million due to the proceeds
received from the sale of common stock during the first quarter of 2021. During the three months ended March 31, 2020, no cash was provided by
financing activities.

Funding Requirements

We expect our expenses to increase substantially in connection with our ongoing development activities related to ALRN-6924, which is still in
clinical development, and any other product candidates and programs that we may pursue in the future. We expect that our expenses will increase
substantially if and as we:

 • conduct our current, planned and future clinical trials of ALRN-6924;

 • initiate and resume research and preclinical and clinical development of any other product candidates that we may develop;

 • seek to identify additional product candidates;

 • seek marketing approvals for any product candidate that successfully completes clinical trials, if any;

 • require the manufacture of larger quantities of our product candidates for clinical development and potentially commercialization;

 • establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any products for which we may obtain marketing approval;

 • maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

 • acquire or in-license other drugs and technologies;

 • hire and retain additional clinical, quality control and scientific personnel;

 • build out new facilities or expand existing facilities to support our ongoing development activity; and

 • add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our drug development, any
future commercialization efforts and our compliance with our obligations as a public company.

We believe that, based on our current operating plan, our cash, cash equivalents and investments of $63.4 million as of March 31, 2021 will enable
us to fund our operating expenses into the second half of 2023. Our funding estimates are based on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and we could
use our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Changing circumstances, some of which may be beyond our control, could cause us to
consume capital significantly faster than we currently anticipate. In any event, our cash, cash equivalents and investments will not be sufficient to fund all
of the efforts that we plan to undertake or to fund the completion of development or commercialization of ALRN-6924. Our future viability is dependent on
our ability to raise additional capital to finance our operations.

Accordingly, we will be required to obtain further funding through public or private equity offerings, collaborations and licensing arrangements, or
other sources of capital. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. In addition, while we may seek one or more
collaborators for future development of ALRN-6924 or other product candidates that we may develop, we may not be able to enter into a collaboration for
ALRN-6924 or other product candidates that we may develop on suitable terms, on a timely basis or at all.
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Because of the numerous risks and uncertainties associated with the development of ALRN-6924 and other product candidates that we may develop
and programs we may pursue, and because the extent to which we may enter into collaborations with third parties for development of our product
candidates is unknown, we are unable to estimate the timing and amounts of increased capital outlays and operating expenses associated with completing
the research and development of ALRN-6924 or other product candidates that we may develop. Our future capital requirements will depend on many
factors, including:

 • the scope, progress, results and costs of our ongoing, planned and future clinical trials of ALRN-6924;

 • the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and operations;

 • the scope, progress, results and costs of drug discovery, preclinical research and clinical trials for any other product candidates that we may
develop;

 • the number of future product candidates that we pursue and their development requirements;

 • the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

 • our ability to establish and maintain collaborations on favorable terms, if at all;

 • the success of any collaborations that we may enter into with third parties;

 • the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies, including entering into licensing or collaboration
arrangements for product candidates, although we currently have no commitments or agreements to complete any such transactions;

 • the costs and timing of future commercialization activities, including drug sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution, for any product
candidate for which we receive marketing approval, to the extent that such sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution are not the
responsibility of any collaborator that we may have at such time;

 • the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any product candidate receive marketing
approval;

 • the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and defending
intellectual property-related claims;

 • our headcount growth and associated costs, as we expand our business operations and our research and development activities; and

 • the costs of operating as a public company.
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Developing pharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain
process that takes years to complete, and we may never generate the necessary data or results required to obtain marketing approval for any product
candidates or generate revenue from the sale of any products for which we may obtain marketing approval. In addition, our product candidates, if approved,
may not achieve commercial success. Our commercial revenues, if any, will be derived from sales of drugs that we do not expect to be commercially
available for many years, if ever. Accordingly, we will need to obtain substantial additional funds to achieve our business objectives.

Adequate additional funds may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. Other than the Purchase Agreement with LPC, which is subject
to certain limitations and conditions, we do not currently have any committed external source of funds. To the extent that we raise additional capital
through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interests of our common stockholders may be diluted, and the terms of these
securities may include liquidation or other preferences and anti-dilution protections that could adversely affect the rights of our common stockholders.
Additional debt or preferred equity financing, if available, may involve agreements that include restrictive covenants that may limit our ability to take
specific actions, such as incurring debt, making capital expenditures or declaring dividends, which could adversely impact our ability to conduct our
business.

If we raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish
valuable rights to our technology, future revenue streams, research programs or product candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to
us. If we are unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financings or collaborations, strategic alliances or licensing arrangements with third
parties when needed, we may be required to delay, limit, reduce and/or terminate our product development programs or any future commercialization
efforts or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Contractual Obligations and Commitments

We are a smaller reporting company, as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for this reporting period and
are not required to provide the information required under this item.

Critical Accounting Policies and Use of Estimates

Our management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based on our financial statements, which have been
prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States. The preparation of our financial statements and related
disclosures requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, costs and expenses and the disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities in our financial statements. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events and various other
factors that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. We evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an ongoing basis. Our actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

During the three months ended March 31, 2021, there were no material changes to our critical accounting policies. Our critical accounting policies
are described under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations - Critical Accounting Policies
and Use of Estimates” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K and the notes to the unaudited condensed financial statements included in Item 1, “Unaudited
Financial Statements,” of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. We believe that of our critical accounting policies, the following accounting policies involve
judgment and complexity:

 • Accrued research and development expenses; and

 • Stock-based compensation.

Accordingly, we believe the policies set forth above are critical to fully understanding and evaluating our financial condition and results of
operations. If actual results or events differ materially from the estimates, judgments and assumptions used by us in applying these policies, our reported
financial condition and results of operations could be materially affected.
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Emerging Growth Company Status

The Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act, permits an “emerging growth company” such as us to take advantage of an
extended transition period to comply with new or revised accounting standards applicable to public companies until those standards would otherwise apply
to private companies. We have irrevocably elected to “opt out” of this provision and, as a result, we will comply with new or revised accounting standards
when they are required to be adopted by public companies that are not emerging growth companies.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We did not have during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in the rules and
regulations of the SEC.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

We are a smaller reporting company, as defined in Rule 12b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, for this reporting period and
are not required to provide the information required under this item.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

The term “disclosure controls and procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended,
or the Exchange Act, refers to controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports that
it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management, including its
principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required
disclosure.

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well
designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and
procedures must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible
controls and procedures relative to their costs.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated, as of the end of the period covered by
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the
Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective at the reasonable assurance level as of March 31, 2021.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) has occurred during
the quarter ended March 31, 2021 that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

We are not currently subject to any material legal proceedings.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

Careful consideration should be given to the following risk factors, in addition to the other information set forth in this Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q and in other documents that we file with the SEC, in evaluating our company and our business. Investing in our common stock involves a high degree
of risk. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, results of operations and future growth prospects could be materially
and adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Financial Position

We will need substantial additional funding to continue our operations. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, we may be forced to delay,
reduce and/or eliminate our research and drug development programs, reduce headcount, and future commercialization efforts, or take other actions
that could adversely affect our business.

Developing pharmaceutical products, including conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, is a time-consuming, expensive and uncertain
process that takes years to complete. We will be required to expend significant funds in order to advance the development of, conduct clinical trials of, and
seek marketing approval for, our product candidate, ALRN-6924, as well as any other product candidates we may develop. If we are able to obtain
marketing approval for ALRN-6924 or for any other product candidate in the future, we expect to incur significant commercialization expenses related to
drug sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution to the extent that such sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution are not the responsibility of
any collaborator that we may have at such time for any such product candidate. We also expect to continue to incur additional costs associated with
operating as a public company.

Our future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including:

• the scope, progress, results and costs of our ongoing, planned and future clinical trials of ALRN-6924;

• the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business and operations;

• the scope, progress, results and costs of drug discovery, preclinical research and clinical trials for other product candidates we may
develop;

• the number of future product candidates that we pursue and their development requirements;

• the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory review of our product candidates;

• our ability to establish and maintain collaborations with third parties on favorable terms, if at all;

• the success of any collaborations that we may enter into with third parties;

• the extent to which we acquire or invest in businesses, products and technologies, including entering into licensing or collaboration
arrangements for product candidates, although we currently have no commitments or agreements to complete any such transactions;

• the costs and timing of future commercialization activities, including drug sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution, for any
product candidate for which we receive marketing approval, to the extent that such sales, marketing, manufacturing and distribution are not the
responsibility of any collaborator that we may have at such time;

• the amount of revenue, if any, received from commercial sales of our product candidates, should any product candidate receive
marketing approval;

• the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications, maintaining and enforcing our intellectual property rights and
defending intellectual property-related claims;

• our headcount growth and associated costs as we expand our business operations and our research and development activities; and

• the costs of operating as a public company.
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We believe that, based on our current operating plan, our cash, cash equivalents and investments as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-
Q will enable us to fund our operating expenses into the second half of 2023.  Our funding estimates are based on assumptions that may prove to be wrong,
and we could use our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. Changing circumstances, some of which may be beyond our control,
could cause us to consume capital significantly faster than we currently anticipate. In any event, our cash, cash equivalents and investments will not be
sufficient to fund all of the efforts that we plan to undertake or to fund the completion of development or commercialization of ALRN-6924.

Accordingly, we will need to obtain further funding through public or private equity offerings, collaborations and licensing arrangements, or other
sources of capital. Adequate additional financing may not be available to us on acceptable terms, if at all. Market conditions are volatile and may continue
to be volatile for the foreseeable future, which may limit our ability to raise capital.  In addition, while we may seek one or more collaborators for future
development of our product candidates for one or more indications, we may not be able to enter into a collaboration for ALRN-6924 for such indications
on suitable terms, on a timely basis or at all. Our failure to raise capital as and when needed would have a negative impact on our financial condition and
our ability to pursue our business strategy. If we are unable to raise capital when needed, or on acceptable terms, we may be forced to delay, reduce and/or
eliminate some or all of our clinical and drug development programs and future commercialization efforts. We may also be forced to take other actions that
could adversely affect our business.  

Raising additional capital may cause dilution to our stockholders, restrict our operations or require us to relinquish rights to our product candidates.

We expect our expenses to increase as we will incur significant research and development expenses as we continue our ongoing clinical trials of
ALRN-6924, continue our non-clinical research with ALRN-6924, initiate additional clinical trials of ALRN-6924 and pursue later stages of clinical
development of ALRN-6924. Until such time, if ever, as we can generate substantial revenues from the sale of our products, we expect to finance our cash
needs through a combination of equity offerings, debt financings, collaborations, strategic alliances and/or licensing arrangements. To the extent that we
raise additional capital through the sale of equity or convertible debt securities, the ownership interest of our then existing stockholders may be diluted, and
the terms of these securities could include liquidation or other preferences and anti-dilution protections that could adversely affect the rights of our common
stockholders. In addition, debt financing, if available, would result in fixed payment obligations and may involve agreements that include restrictive
covenants that limit our ability to take specific actions, such as incurring additional debt, making capital expenditures, creating liens, redeeming stock or
declaring dividends, that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. Securing financing may also require a substantial amount of time and
attention from our management team and could divert a disproportionate amount of their attention away from day-to-day activities, which may adversely
affect our management’s ability to oversee the development of our product candidates.

We may seek one or more collaborators for future development of ALRN-6924 for one or more indications. However, we may not be able to enter
into such collaborations on suitable terms, on a timely basis, or at all. Even if we are able to raise additional funds through collaborations, strategic
alliances or licensing arrangements with third parties, we may have to relinquish valuable rights to our technology, future revenue streams or product
candidates or grant licenses on terms that may not be favorable to us.

If we are unable to raise additional funds when needed, we may be required to delay, reduce and/or eliminate our product development or future
commercialization efforts, or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we might otherwise prefer to develop and market ourselves.

Our limited operating history may make it difficult for our stockholders to evaluate the success of our business to date and to assess our future viability.

We are an early-stage company, and our operations to date have been limited to organizing and staffing our company, business planning, raising
capital, developing our stabilized cell-permeating peptide platform, identifying potential product candidates, conducting preclinical studies of our product
candidates and conducting clinical trials of our product candidates. Our product candidates other than ALRN-6924 have not advanced beyond the
preclinical research stage.  In March 2020, we determined to focus our efforts on the development of ALRN-6924 as a chemoprotective agent, and do not
plan to advance any development of ALRN-6924 for any other purpose at this time. We have not yet demonstrated our ability to successfully complete any
Phase 2 or Phase 3 clinical trials, including large-scale, pivotal clinical trials, obtain marketing approvals, manufacture a commercial-scale drug or arrange
for a third party to do so on our behalf, or conduct sales and marketing activities necessary for successful drug commercialization. Typically, it takes about
six to ten years to develop a new drug from the time it is first evaluated in Phase 1 clinical trials to when it is approved for treating patients, but in many
cases, it may take longer. Consequently, any predictions made about our future success or viability may not be as accurate as they could be if we had a
longer operating history.
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As a business with a limited operating history, we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications, delays and other known and
unknown factors. In the future, we may need to transition from a company with a research focus to a company capable of supporting commercial activities.
We may not be successful in such a transition. Our product candidates, if approved, may not achieve commercial success. Our commercial revenues, if any,
will be derived from sales of products that we do not expect to be commercially available for many years, if at all. If we are unable to obtain product
approvals or generate significant commercial revenues, our business will be materially harmed.  

As we continue to build our business, we expect our financial condition and operating results may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and
year to year due to a variety of factors, many of which are beyond our control. Accordingly, stockholders should not rely upon the results of any particular
quarterly or annual periods as indications of future operating performance.

We have incurred significant losses since inception. We expect to incur losses for the foreseeable future and may never achieve or maintain
profitability.

Since our inception, we have incurred significant losses on an aggregate basis. Our net loss was $7.0 million and $6.7 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We have not generated any revenue to date from sales of any drugs and have financed our operations
principally through sales of our common stock, through private placements of our preferred stock prior to our initial public offering, and, to a lesser extent,
through a collaboration agreement. We have devoted substantially all of our efforts to research and development. Our product candidate, ALRN-6924, is in
clinical development and we expect that it will be several years, if ever, before it is ready for commercialization. We expect to continue to incur significant
expenses and increasing operating losses for the foreseeable future. The net losses we incur may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter. We
anticipate that our expenses will increase substantially if and as we:

 • conduct our ongoing, planned and future clinical trials of ALRN-6924;

 • initiate and resume research and preclinical development of any other product candidates that we may develop;

 • seek to identify additional product candidates;

 • seek marketing approvals for any product candidate that successfully completes clinical trials, if any;

 • require the manufacture of larger quantities of our product candidates for clinical development and potentially commercialization;

 • establish a sales, marketing and distribution infrastructure to commercialize any products for which we may obtain marketing approval;

 • maintain, expand and protect our intellectual property portfolio;

 • acquire or in-license other drugs and technologies;

 • hire and retain additional clinical, quality control and scientific personnel;

 • build out new facilities or expand existing facilities to support our ongoing development activity; and

 • add operational, financial and management information systems and personnel, including personnel to support our drug development, any
future commercialization efforts and our compliance with our obligations as a public company.

To become and remain profitable, we must develop, obtain approval for and eventually commercialize a product or products with significant market
potential, either on our own or with a collaborator. This will require us to be successful in a range of challenging activities, including completing preclinical
studies and clinical trials of our product candidates, obtaining marketing approval for these product candidates, manufacturing, marketing and selling those
products for which we may obtain marketing approval and establishing and managing any collaborations for the development, marketing and/or
commercialization of our product candidates. We may never succeed in these activities and, even if we do, may never generate revenues that are significant
or large enough to achieve profitability. If we do achieve profitability, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.
Our failure to become and remain profitable would decrease the value of our company and could impair our ability to raise capital, maintain our research
and development efforts, expand our business and/or continue our operations. A decline in the value of our company could also cause our stockholders to
lose all or part of their investment.
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Risks Related to the Discovery, Development and Commercialization of Product Candidates

We are dependent on the success of our product candidate, ALRN-6924. Our clinical trials of ALRN-6924 may not be successful. If our trials prove
unsuccessful or if we are unable to obtain approval for and commercialize ALRN-6924 or experience significant delays in doing so, our business will
be materially harmed.

Our future success is substantially dependent on our ability to timely obtain marketing approval for, and then successfully commercialize, ALRN-
6924, our product candidate. We are investing a substantial portion of our efforts and financial resources in the research and development of ALRN-6924 as
a chemoprotective agent. Our business depends entirely on the successful development and commercialization of ALRN-6924. We currently generate no
revenues from sales of any products, and we may never be able to develop a marketable product. We have not identified any other product candidates for
development and are not currently conducting any preclinical research to discover and identify new product candidates.

ALRN-6924 will require additional clinical development, evaluation of clinical, preclinical and manufacturing activities, marketing approval in
multiple jurisdictions, substantial investment and significant marketing efforts before we generate any revenues from product sales. We are not permitted to
market or promote ALRN-6924, or any other product candidates, before we receive marketing approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or
the FDA, and comparable foreign regulatory authorities, and we may never receive such marketing approvals.

The success of ALRN-6924 will depend on several factors, including the following:

 • successful and timely patient enrollment and completion of our ongoing and planned clinical trials of ALRN-6924;

 • initiation and successful patient enrollment and completion of additional clinical trials on a timely basis;

 • safety, tolerability and efficacy profiles that are satisfactory to the FDA or any comparable foreign regulatory authority for marketing
approval;

 • timely receipt of marketing approvals for both ALRN-6924 and any required companion diagnostic from applicable regulatory authorities;

 • the performance of our future collaborators, if any;

 • the extent of any required post-marketing approval commitments to applicable regulatory authorities;

 • establishment of supply arrangements with third-party raw materials and drug product suppliers and manufacturers;

 • establishment of scaled production arrangements with third-party manufacturers to obtain finished products that are appropriately packaged
for sale;

 • obtaining and maintaining patent protection, trade secret protection and regulatory exclusivity, both in the United States and internationally;

 • protection of our rights in our intellectual property portfolio, including our licensed intellectual property;

 • successful launch of commercial sales following any marketing approval;

 • a continued acceptable safety profile following any marketing approval;

 • commercial acceptance by patients, the medical community and third-party payors; and

 • our ability to compete with other therapies.

We do not have complete control over many of these factors, including certain aspects of clinical development and the regulatory submission
process, potential threats to our intellectual property rights and the manufacturing, marketing, distribution and sales efforts of any future collaborator.

The COVID-19 pandemic has affected and may continue to affect our ability to conduct our ongoing clinical trials, disrupt regulatory activities,
or have other adverse effects on our business and operations. In addition, this pandemic has caused substantial disruption in the financial markets and
may adversely impact economies worldwide, which could result in adverse effects on our business and operations.

Significant outbreaks of contagious diseases, and other adverse public health developments, could have a material impact on our business operations
and operating results. In December 2019, an outbreak of respiratory illness caused by a strain of novel coronavirus, COVID-19, began in China. That
outbreak has led to numerous confirmed cases worldwide, including in the United States and other countries where we are conducting clinical trials or
activities in support thereof. The World Health Organization declared the outbreak a global pandemic on March 11, 2020. Recently, new variants of the
virus that causes COVID-19 have been identified and are spreading around the world, which may worsen or prolong the outbreak. In addition to those who
have been directly affected, millions more have been affected by governmental efforts around the world to slow the spread of the outbreak. The outbreak
and government measures
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taken in response have also had a significant impact, both direct and indirect, on businesses and commerce. The future progression of the outbreak and its
effects on our business and operations are uncertain.

We and our third-party contract manufacturers, contract research organizations and clinical sites may experience disruptions in supply of product
candidates and/or procuring items that are essential for our research and development activities, including, for example, raw materials used in the
manufacturing of ALRN-6924, medical and laboratory supplies used in our clinical trials or preclinical studies or animals that are used for preclinical
testing, in each case, for which there may be shortages because of ongoing efforts to address the COVID-19 pandemic. While we believe that we currently
have sufficient supply of ALRN-6924 to continue our ongoing and planned clinical trials, ALRN-6924 and materials contained therein, come from
facilities located in areas impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. There is no guarantee that the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak, or any potential future
outbreak, will not impact our future supply chain, which could have a material adverse impact on our clinical trial plans and business operations. 

Additionally, we have enrolled, and are seeking to enroll, cancer patients in our clinical trials at sites located in areas being impacted the COVID-19
pandemic. In the event that clinical trial sites close to enrollment in our trials or shift resources to address COVID-19, this could have a material adverse
impact on our clinical trial plans and timelines. We may face difficulties recruiting or retaining patients in our ongoing and planned clinical trials if patients
are affected by the virus or are fearful of visiting or traveling to our clinical trial sites because of the COVID-19 pandemic. For instance, the initiation of,
and expected timing of reporting data from, our ongoing healthy volunteer study was delayed due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and we
experienced a higher than anticipated screen failure rate during our recently completed Phase 1b SCLC trial due to COVID-19 related complications in the
patient population that was targeted for enrollment.

Any negative impact that the COVID-19 pandemic has on the ability of our suppliers to provide materials for ALRN-6924 or in the conduct of our
clinical trials could cause costly delays to clinical trial activities, which could adversely affect our ability to obtain regulatory approval for and to
commercialize ALRN-6924, increase our operating expenses, affect our ability to raise additional capital, and have a material adverse effect on our
financial results.

The response to the COVID-19 pandemic may cause governments to redirect resources with respect to regulatory and intellectual property matters in
a way that would adversely impact our ability to progress regulatory approvals and protect our intellectual property. In addition, we may face impediments
to regulatory meetings and approvals due to measures intended to limit in-person interactions.

The COVID-19 pandemic has significantly impacted economies worldwide, which could result in adverse effects on our business and operations.
We cannot be certain what the overall impact of the COVID-19 pandemic will be on our business. It has the potential to adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations, and prospects.

The approach we are taking to discover and develop novel drugs is unproven and may never lead to marketable products.

We have concentrated our efforts and therapeutic product research on stabilized cell-permeating alpha-helical peptide technology, and our future
success depends on the successful development of this technology and products based on our proprietary peptide technology. Neither we nor any other
company has received marketing approval to market therapeutics utilizing cell-permeating peptides. The scientific discoveries that form the basis for our
efforts to discover and develop new drugs are relatively new. The scientific evidence to support the feasibility of developing drugs based on these
discoveries is both preliminary and limited. Very few drug candidates based on these discoveries have ever been tested in animals, and development of an
earlier stabilized cell-permeating peptide product candidate by us was suspended following a clinical trial due to the anticipated costs of required
reformulation. Peptides, the class of molecule we are trying to develop into drugs, do not naturally possess the inherent molecular properties typically
required of drugs, such as the ability to be stable in the body long enough to reach the tissues in which their effects are required, nor the ability to enter cells
within these tissues in order to exert their effects. We currently have only limited data to suggest that we can introduce these properties into peptides. We
may spend large amounts of money trying to introduce these properties, and never succeed in doing so. In addition, our stabilized cell-permeating peptide
product candidates may not demonstrate in patients the chemical and pharmacological properties ascribed to them in laboratory studies, and they may
interact with human biological systems in unforeseen, ineffective or harmful ways. As a result, we may never succeed in developing a marketable product.
If we do not successfully develop and commercialize products based upon our technological approach, we will not become profitable and the value of our
common stock will decline. Further, our focus on stabilized cell-permeating peptide technology as opposed to multiple technologies increases the risks
associated with the ownership of our common stock. If our approach is not successful, we may be required to change the scope and direction of our product
development activities. In that case, we may not be able to successfully identify and implement an alternative product development strategy.

Moreover, we believe our product candidate, ALRN-6924, reactivates p53 by disrupting the interactions between p53 and its endogenous inhibitors,
MDM2 and MDMX, thereby freeing p53 to transit to its DNA target in the nucleus and initiate cell cycle arrest in healthy cells and/or apoptosis in
cancerous cells. We believe that ALRN-6924 is the first and only product candidate in clinical development that can bind to and disrupt the interaction of
MDM2 and MDMX with p53 with equivalent effectiveness, or equipotently. Although we have evaluated ALRN-6924 in preclinical studies and early-
stage clinical trials, and are aware of published literature supporting the role of MDM2 and MDMX in reactivating non-mutated or wild type, or WT, p53
as well as clinical results
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for small molecule inhibitors that act to disrupt the interaction of p53 and MDM2, we believe that we are the first to clinically test a molecule that binds
directly to both MDM2 and MDMX. As such, the effect of binding to and simultaneously disrupting the interactions of MDM2 and MDMX with WT p53
in cancer patients has not been established in clinical trials. In addition, the role of factors other than MDM2 and MDMX in circumventing the p53
mechanism is still the subject of continued research.

The use of a dual inhibitor of MDM2 and MDMX to reduce chemotherapy-related toxicities in the bone marrow is a novel approach and we believe
that we are the only company currently developing in clinical trials a MDM2 and MDMX inhibitor for this purpose. The scientific evidence to support the
feasibility of developing this product candidate for this purpose is both preliminary and limited. Even though ALRN-6924 has demonstrated positive results
in preclinical and clinical studies, we may not succeed in demonstrating safety and efficacy of ALRN-6924 as a chemoprotective agent in additional or
later-stage clinical trials.

As a result, we do not know whether the mechanism of action of ALRN-6924 will have the expected effect on patients receiving chemotherapy in
any cancer indications and whether ALRN-6924 will succeed in demonstrating the safety and efficacy needed to advance in clinical development and
obtain marketing approval.

We are pursuing the development of ALRN-6924 in combination with other approved therapeutics. If the FDA revokes approval of any such
therapeutic, or if safety, efficacy, manufacturing or supply issues arise with any therapeutic that we use in combination with ALRN-6924 in the future,
we may be unable to further develop and/or market ALRN-6924, or we may experience significant regulatory delays, and our business could be
materially harmed.

We are pursuing the development of ALRN-6924 in combination with other approved therapeutics. In the future, we may commence additional
clinical trials of ALRN-6924 in combination with other approved therapeutics, including, if our ongoing trials are successful, later stage clinical trials of
ALRN-6924 in combination with approved therapeutics.

We did not develop or obtain regulatory approval for, and we do not manufacture or sell, any of these approved therapeutics. In addition, these
combinations have not been tested before and may, among other things, fail to demonstrate synergistic activity, may fail to achieve superior outcomes
relative to the use of single agents or other combination therapies, may exacerbate adverse events associated with one of our product candidates when used
as a single agent, or may fail to demonstrate sufficient safety or efficacy traits in clinical trials to enable us to complete those clinical trials or obtain
marketing approval for the combination therapy.

If the FDA revokes its approval of any of these therapeutics, we will not be able to continue clinical development of or market ALRN-6924 or any
other product candidate in combination with such revoked therapeutic. If safety or efficacy issues arise with these or any other therapeutics that we seek to
combine with our product candidates in the future, we may experience significant regulatory delays, and the FDA may require us to redesign or terminate
the applicable clinical trials. Moreover, if these therapeutics were to receive regulatory approval in combination with a different therapeutic in any
indication for which we are pursuing approval, such approval could impact the feasibility and design of any subsequent clinical trials that we may seek to
conduct evaluating ALRN-6924, or any other product candidate, in combination with such therapeutic. If manufacturing, cost or other issues result in a
supply shortage of these therapeutics or any other combination therapeutics, we may not be able to complete clinical development of ALRN-6924 on our
current timeline or at all, or any other product candidate we may develop in the future.

In addition, we may need, for supply, data referencing or other purposes, to collaborate or otherwise engage with the companies who market these
approved therapeutics. If we are unable to do so on a timely basis, on acceptable terms or at all, we may have to curtail the development of a product
candidate or indication, reduce or delay its development program, delay its potential commercialization or reduce the scope of any sales or marketing
activities.

Even if ALRN-6924 or any other product candidate were to receive regulatory approval and be commercialized for use in combination with an
approved therapeutic, we would continue to be subject to the risk that the FDA could revoke its approval of such therapeutic, that safety, efficacy,
manufacturing, cost or supply issues could arise with one of these therapeutic agents, or that the current standard of care may be replaced. This could result
in ALRN-6924 or any such other product candidate, if approved, being removed from the market or being less successful commercially.
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The outcome of preclinical testing and early clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical trials, interim results of a clinical trial
do not necessarily predict final results and the results of our clinical trials may not satisfy the requirements of the FDA or comparable foreign
regulatory authorities.

We currently have no drugs approved for sale and we cannot guarantee that we will ever have marketable drugs. Clinical failure can occur at any
stage of clinical development. For instance, our first clinical trial of one of our earlier cell-permeating peptide product candidates did not generate the
desired results, and we suspended the development program. Clinical trials may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we or any future
collaborators may decide, or regulators may require us, to conduct additional clinical trials or preclinical studies. We will be required to demonstrate with
substantial evidence through well-controlled clinical trials that our product candidates are safe and effective for use in a diverse population before we can
seek marketing approvals for their commercial sale. Success in preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials does not mean that future larger registration
clinical trials will be successful because product candidates in later-stage clinical trials may fail to demonstrate sufficient safety and efficacy to the
satisfaction of the FDA and non-U.S. regulatory authorities despite having progressed through preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials. Product
candidates that have shown promising results in preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials may still suffer significant setbacks in subsequent
registration clinical trials. Additionally, the outcome of preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later-stage
clinical trials.

We may publish or report interim or preliminary data from our clinical trials. Interim or preliminary data from clinical trials that we may conduct
may not be indicative of the final results of the trial and are subject to the risk that one or more of the clinical outcomes may materially change as patient
enrollment continues and more patient data become available. Interim or preliminary data also remain subject to audit and verification procedures that may
result in the final data being materially different from the interim or preliminary data. As a result, interim or preliminary data should be viewed with
caution until the final data are available.

In addition, the design of a clinical trial can determine whether its results will support approval of a drug and flaws in the design of a clinical trial
may not become apparent until the clinical trial is well advanced. We have limited experience in designing clinical trials and may be unable to design and
conduct a clinical trial to support marketing approval. Further, if our product candidates are found to be unsafe or lack efficacy, we will not be able to
obtain marketing approval for them and our business would be harmed. A number of companies in the pharmaceutical industry, including those with
greater resources and experience than us, have suffered significant setbacks in advanced clinical trials, even after obtaining promising results in preclinical
studies and earlier clinical trials.

In some instances, there can be significant variability in safety and efficacy results between different clinical trials of the same product candidate due
to numerous factors, including changes in trial protocols, differences in size and type of the patient populations, differences in and adherence to the dosing
regimen and other trial protocols and the rate of dropout among clinical trial participants. We do not know whether any clinical trials we may conduct will
demonstrate consistent or adequate efficacy and safety sufficient to obtain marketing approval to market our product candidates. We may also determine to
discontinue development of our product candidates for certain indications for a variety of other strategic reasons.

In the event that an adverse safety issue, clinical hold or other adverse finding occurs in one or more of our clinical trials of ALRN-6924, such event
could adversely affect our other clinical trials of ALRN-6924. Moreover, there is a relatively limited safety data set for product candidates utilizing
stabilized cell-permeating peptides or that are designed to reactivate p53. An adverse safety issue or other adverse finding in a clinical trial conducted by a
third party with a product candidate utilizing stabilized cell-permeating peptides or that is designed to reactivate p53, such as the small molecules in
development that target the p53-MDM2 interaction, could adversely affect our clinical trials of ALRN-6924.

Further, ALRN-6924 or any other product candidate we may develop may not be approved even if they achieve their primary endpoints in Phase 3
clinical trials or registration trials. The FDA or non-U.S. regulatory authorities may disagree with our trial design and our interpretation of data from
preclinical studies and clinical trials. In addition, any of these regulatory authorities may change requirements for the approval of a product candidate even
after reviewing and providing comments or advice on a protocol for a pivotal clinical trial that has the potential to result in approval by the FDA or another
regulatory authority. In addition, any of these regulatory authorities may also approve a product candidate for fewer or more limited indications than we
request or may grant approval contingent on the performance of costly post-marketing clinical trials. In addition, the FDA or other non-U.S. regulatory
authorities may not approve the labeling claims that we believe would be necessary or desirable for the successful commercialization of our product
candidates.

Before obtaining marketing approvals for the commercial sale of any product candidate for a target indication, we must demonstrate with substantial
evidence gathered in preclinical studies and well-controlled clinical studies, and, with respect to approval in the United States, to the satisfaction of the
FDA, that the product candidate is safe and effective for use for that target indication. There is no assurance that the FDA or non-U.S. regulatory authorities
will consider our future clinical trials to be sufficient to serve as the basis for approval of one of our product candidates for any indication. The FDA and
non-U.S. regulatory authorities retain broad discretion in evaluating the results of our clinical trials and in determining whether the results demonstrate that
a product candidate is safe and effective. If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials of a product candidate than we expect prior to its approval,
we will need substantial additional funds and there is no assurance that the results of any such additional clinical trials will be sufficient for approval.
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Clinical drug development is a lengthy and expensive process, with an uncertain outcome. If clinical trials of our product candidates fail to
demonstrate safety and efficacy to the satisfaction of regulatory authorities or do not otherwise produce positive results, we may incur additional costs,
experience delays in completing, or ultimately be unable to complete, the development of our product candidates or be unable to obtain marketing
approval.

Before obtaining marketing approval from regulatory authorities for the sale of ALRN-6924 or any other product candidate we may develop, we
must complete preclinical development and then conduct extensive clinical trials to demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates. Clinical
testing is expensive, difficult to design and implement, can take many years to complete and is uncertain as to outcome. A failure of one or more clinical
trials can occur at any stage of testing. The outcome of preclinical studies and early-stage clinical trials may not be predictive of the success of later clinical
trials in the same or different indications, and interim results of a clinical trial, such as the interim results of our Phase 1b clinical trial of ALRN-6924 in
patients with p53-mutated SCLC that we announced in October 2020, do not necessarily predict final results. Moreover, preclinical and clinical data are
often susceptible to varying interpretations and analyses, and many companies that have believed their product candidates performed satisfactorily in
preclinical studies and clinical trials have nonetheless failed to obtain marketing approval of their drugs.

We do not know whether our ongoing clinical trials will be completed on schedule or at all, or whether future clinical trials will begin on time, need
to be redesigned, enroll patients on time or be completed on schedule, if at all. Moreover, due to the continuing COVID-19 pandemic, patient recruitment
and enrollment in our clinical trials may be adversely affected, delayed or interrupted. For instance, the initiation of, and expected timing of reporting data
from, our ongoing human volunteer study was delayed due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Patients may choose to withdraw from our studies or
we may choose to or be required to pause enrollment and or patient dosing in our ongoing clinical trials in order to preserve health resources and protect
trial participants.

Clinical trials can be delayed for a variety of reasons, including delays related to:

 • obtaining marketing approval to commence a trial;

 • reaching agreement on acceptable terms with prospective contract research organizations, or CROs, and clinical trial sites, the terms of which
can be subject to extensive negotiation and may vary significantly among different CROs and clinical trial sites;

 • obtaining institutional review board approval at each clinical trial site;

 • recruiting suitable patients to participate in a trial;

 • developing and validating any companion diagnostic to be used in the trial, to the extent we are required to do so;

 • patients failing to comply with trial protocol or dropping out of a trial;

 • clinical trial sites deviating from trial protocol or dropping out of a trial;

 • the need to add new clinical trial sites; or

 • manufacturing sufficient quantities of product candidate for use in clinical trials.

We may experience numerous unforeseen events during, or as a result of, clinical trials that could delay or prevent our ability to receive marketing
approval or commercialize our product candidates, including:

 • we may receive feedback from regulatory authorities that requires us to modify the design of our clinical trials;

 • clinical trials of our product candidates may produce negative or inconclusive results, and we may decide, or regulators may require us, to
conduct additional clinical trials or abandon drug development programs;

 • the number of patients required for clinical trials of our product candidates may be larger than we anticipate, enrollment in these clinical trials
may be slower than we anticipate or participants may drop out of these clinical trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;

 • our third-party contractors may fail to comply with regulatory requirements or meet their contractual obligations to us in a timely manner, or
at all;

 • we or our investigators might have to suspend or terminate clinical trials of our product candidates for various reasons, including non-
compliance with regulatory requirements, a finding that our product candidates have undesirable side effects or other unexpected
characteristics, or a finding that the participants are being exposed to unacceptable health risks;

 • the cost of clinical trials of our product candidates may be greater than we anticipate;

 • the supply or quality of our product candidates or other materials necessary to conduct clinical trials of our product candidates may be
insufficient or inadequate;
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 • regulators may revise the requirements for approving our product candidates, or such requirements may not be as we anticipate; and

 • any future collaborators that conduct clinical trials may face any of the above issues, and may conduct clinical trials in ways they view as
advantageous to them but that are suboptimal for us.

If we are required to conduct additional clinical trials or other testing of our product candidates beyond those that we currently contemplate, if we are
unable to successfully complete clinical trials of our product candidates or other testing, if the results of these trials or tests are not positive or are only
modestly positive or if there are safety concerns, we may:

 • incur unplanned costs;

 • be delayed in obtaining marketing approval for our product candidates or not obtain marketing approval at all;

 • obtain marketing approval in some countries and not in others;

 • obtain marketing approval for indications or patient populations that are not as broad as intended or desired;

 • obtain marketing approval with labeling that includes significant use or distribution restrictions or safety warnings, including boxed warnings;

 • be subject to additional post-marketing testing requirements; or

 • have the drug removed from the market after obtaining marketing approval.

Our drug development costs will also increase if we experience delays in testing or marketing approvals. We do not know whether clinical trials will
begin as planned, will need to be restructured or will be completed on schedule, or at all. Furthermore, we rely on third-party CROs and clinical trial sites
to ensure the proper and timely conduct of our clinical trials, and while we have agreements governing their committed activities, we have limited influence
over their actual performance. Significant clinical trial delays also could shorten any periods during which we may have the exclusive right to
commercialize our product candidates or allow our competitors to bring drugs to market before we do and impair our ability to successfully commercialize
our product candidates and may harm our business and results of operations.

We are conducting a clinical trial of ALRN-6924 and plan to conduct additional trials of ALRN-6924 at sites outside the United States. The FDA may
not accept data from trials conducted in such locations and the conduct of trials outside the United States could subject us to additional delays and
expense.

We are conducting clinical trials of ALRN-6924 and plan to conduct additional trials of ALRN-6924 at one or more trial sites that are located
outside the United States. The FDA’s acceptance of data from clinical trials outside of the United States is subject to certain conditions. For example, the
clinical trial must be well designed and conducted and performed by qualified investigators in accordance with good clinical practice. The FDA must be
able to validate the data from the trial through an onsite inspection if necessary. The trial population must also have a similar profile to the U.S. population,
and the data must be applicable to the U.S. population and U.S. medical practice in ways that the FDA deems clinically meaningful, except to the extent the
disease being studied does not typically occur in the United States. In addition, while these clinical trials are subject to the applicable local laws, FDA
acceptance of the data will be dependent upon its determination that the trials also complied with all applicable U.S. laws and regulations. There can be no
assurance that the FDA will accept data from trials conducted outside of the United States. If the FDA does not accept the data from any trial that we
conduct outside the United States, it would likely result in the need for additional trials, which would be costly and time-consuming and delay or
permanently halt our development of our product candidates.

If we experience delays or difficulties in the enrollment of patients in clinical trials, our receipt of necessary marketing approvals could be delayed or
prevented.

We may not be able to initiate or continue clinical trials for our product candidates if we are unable to locate and enroll a sufficient number of
eligible patients to participate in these trials as required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Patient enrollment is a significant factor
in the timing of clinical trials. We do not yet know exactly how many patients will have the genetic profile that ALRN-6924 or other future product
candidates are designed to address. In particular, because our clinical trials are targeted at a subset of patients in indications with p53-mutated cancers, our
ability to enroll eligible patients may be limited or may result in slower enrollment than we anticipate.

Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic, patient recruitment and enrollment in our clinical trials has been and may continue to be adversely
affected, delayed or interrupted. Patients may choose to withdraw from our studies or we may choose to or be required to pause enrollment and or patient
dosing in our ongoing clinical trials in order to preserve health resources and protect trial participants. It is unknown how long these pauses or disruptions
could continue.

40



 

Patient enrollment may be affected if our competitors have ongoing clinical trials for product candidates that are under development for the same
indications as our product candidates, and patients who would otherwise be eligible for our clinical trials instead enroll in clinical trials of our competitors’
product candidates. Patient enrollment may also be affected by other factors, including:

 • size and nature of the patient population;

 • severity of the disease under investigation;

 • availability and efficacy of approved drugs for the disease under investigation;

 • patient eligibility criteria for the trial in question;

 • perceived risks and benefits of the product candidate under study;

 • efforts to facilitate timely enrollment in clinical trials;

 • patient referral practices of physicians;

 • the ability to monitor patients adequately during and after treatment;

 • proximity and availability of clinical trial sites for prospective patients; and

 • continued enrollment of prospective patients by clinical trial sites.

Our inability to enroll a sufficient number of patients for our clinical trials would result in significant delays or may require us to abandon one or
more clinical trials altogether. Enrollment delays in our clinical trials may result in increased development costs for our product candidates, which would
cause the value of our company to decline and limit our ability to obtain additional financing.

If serious adverse or unacceptable side effects are identified during the development of our product candidates or we observe limited efficacy of our
product candidates, we may need to abandon or limit the development of one or more of our product candidates.

Adverse events or undesirable side effects caused by, or other unexpected properties of, our product candidates could cause us, any future
collaborators, an institutional review board, or IRB, or regulatory authorities to interrupt, delay or halt clinical trials of one or more of our product
candidates and could result in the delay or denial of marketing approval by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities or a more restrictive label,
if approved.

In general, our clinical trials of ALRN-6924 include cancer patients who are very sick and whose health is deteriorating, and we expect that
additional clinical trials of ALRN-6924 and any other product candidates that we may develop will include similar patients with deteriorating health. It is
possible that some of these patients might die prior to their completion of our clinical trial. For example, in our Phase 1 trial of single agent ALRN-6924 for
the treatment of AML and MDS a patient that was receiving a 3.8 mg/kg dose of ALRN-6924 under our three times per week dosing regimen died of tumor
lysis syndrome related to treatment with ALRN-6924. Such deaths may be caused by the cancers from which such patients are suffering, or other causes,
unrelated to ALRN-6924 or the other product candidates that may be the subject of the clinical trial. Even if the deaths are not related to our product
candidate, the deaths could affect perceptions regarding the safety of our product candidate.

If ALRN-6924 is associated with adverse events or undesirable side effects or has properties that are unexpected such as the aforementioned death
we observed in our Phase 1 trial of single agent ALRN-6924 for the treatment of AML and MDS, our trials could be suspended or terminated and the FDA
or comparable foreign regulatory authorities could order us to cease further development of or deny approval of our product candidates for any or all
targeted indications. We, or any future collaborators, may abandon development or limit development of that product candidate to certain uses or
subpopulations in which the undesirable side effects or other characteristics are less prevalent, less severe or more acceptable from a risk-benefit
perspective. Drug-related side effects could affect patient recruitment or the ability of enrolled patients to complete the trial or result in potential product
liability claims. Any of these occurrences may harm our business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects significantly.
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We have never obtained marketing approval for a product candidate and we may be unable to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing
approval for any product candidate.

We have never obtained marketing approval for a product candidate. It is possible that the FDA may refuse to accept for substantive review any new
drug applications, or NDAs, that we submit for our product candidates or may conclude after review of our data that our application is insufficient to obtain
marketing approval of our product candidates. If the FDA does not accept or approve our NDAs for our product candidates, it may require that we conduct
additional clinical, nonclinical or manufacturing validation studies and submit that data before it will reconsider our applications. Depending on the extent
of these or any other FDA-required studies, approval of any NDA or application that we submit may be delayed by several years, or may require us to
expend more resources than we have available. It is also possible that additional studies, if performed and completed, may not be considered sufficient by
the FDA to approve our NDAs.

Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, marketing approvals would prevent us from commercializing our product candidates, generating
revenues and achieving and sustaining profitability. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to abandon our development efforts for our product
candidates, which could significantly harm our business.

The FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may, under certain circumstances, require that a companion diagnostic be approved for use
with ALRN-6924. If we are unable to successfully develop and obtain approval for such a diagnostic, either on our own or through a third party, or if
we experience significant delays in doing so, we may not obtain marketing approval for ALRN-6924 in a timely manner, or at all.

We expect that the FDA will, under certain circumstances, require us to have a companion in vitro diagnostic approved for use with ALRN-6924 in
order to identify patients with mutated p53. We expect that we will also be required to obtain similar approvals from comparable foreign regulatory
authorities. We are in the process of evaluating the third party for the supply of a commercially available diagnostic to identify patients’ p53 status, in each
case requiring approval of the diagnostic by regulatory authorities. We are currently evaluating the likelihood of such a requirement, given recent FDA
actions, as well as the risks and benefits of each approach. We currently rely upon commercially available third-party assays and employ a central
laboratory to test both archived tumor tissue samples and fresh biopsy samples from patients taken prior to enrollment in clinical trials of ALRN-6924 to
identify p53 status. We do not have experience or capabilities in developing or commercializing companion diagnostics.

Companion diagnostics are subject to regulation by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities as medical devices and require separate
marketing approval prior to commercialization. We or any third party upon which we decide to rely may encounter difficulties in developing and obtaining
approval for a companion diagnostic for ALRN-6924, including issues relating to selectivity/specificity, analytical validation, reproducibility or clinical
validation. The process of complying with the requirements of the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities to support marketing authorization
of a companion diagnostic is costly, time-consuming and burdensome. Any delay or failure to develop or obtain marketing approval of the companion
diagnostic could delay or prevent approval of ALRN-6924.

We may expend our limited resources to pursue a particular product candidate or indication and fail to capitalize on product candidates or indications
that may be more profitable or for which there is a greater likelihood of success.

Because we have limited financial and managerial resources, we focus on research programs and product candidates that we identify for specific
indications. As a result, we may forego or delay pursuit of opportunities with other product candidates or for other indications that later prove to have
greater commercial potential. Our resource allocation decisions may cause us to fail to capitalize on viable commercial drugs or profitable market
opportunities. Our spending on current and future research and development programs and product candidates for specific indications may not yield any
commercially viable drugs. For instance, we have conducted clinical trials of ALRN-6924 for the treatment of peripheral T-cell lymphoma, acute myeloid
leukemia and advanced high-risk myelodysplastic syndrome, SCLC and MDM2-amplified advanced solid tumors in combination with palbociclib
(Ibrance) and, in part, due to commercial developments, have ceased clinical development of ALRN-6924 for those indications. If we do not accurately
evaluate the commercial potential or target market for a particular product candidate, we may relinquish valuable rights to that product candidate through
collaboration, licensing or other strategic arrangements in cases in which it would have been more advantageous for us to retain sole development and
commercialization rights to such product candidate.

42



 

We may not be successful in our efforts to identify or discover additional potential product candidates.

One element of our strategy is to leverage our proprietary stabilized cell-permeating peptide platform to develop additional product candidates across
oncology and other diseases with unmet medical need. We may not be successful in doing so. Our research programs may initially show promise in
identifying potential product candidates, yet fail to yield product candidates for clinical development for a number of reasons, including:

 • the research methodology used may not be successful in identifying potential product candidates;

 • potential product candidates may, on further study, be shown to have harmful side effects or other characteristics that indicate that they are
unlikely to be drugs that will receive marketing approval and/or achieve market acceptance; and

 • potential product candidates may not be effective in treating their targeted diseases.

Research programs to identify new product candidates require substantial technical, financial and human resources. If we are unable to identify
suitable compounds for preclinical and clinical development, our business would be harmed.

If ALRN-6924 or any of our future product candidates receives marketing approval and we, or others, later discover that the drug is less effective than
previously believed or causes undesirable side effects that were not previously identified, our ability, or that of any future collaborators, to market the
drug could be compromised.

Clinical trials of our product candidates must be conducted in carefully defined subsets of patients who have agreed to enter into clinical trials.
Consequently, it is possible that our clinical trials, or those of any future collaborator, may indicate an apparent positive effect of a product candidate that is
greater than the actual positive effect, if any, or alternatively fail to identify undesirable side effects. If one or more of our product candidates receives
marketing approval and we, or others, discover that the drug is less effective than previously believed or causes undesirable side effects that were not
previously identified, a number of potentially significant negative consequences could result, including:

 • regulatory authorities may withdraw their approval of the drug or seize the drug;

 • we, or any future collaborators, may be required to recall the drug, change the way the drug is administered or conduct additional clinical
trials;

 • additional restrictions may be imposed on the marketing of, or the manufacturing processes for, the particular drug;

 • we may be subject to fines, injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties;

 • regulatory authorities may require the addition of labeling statements, such as a “black box” warning or a contraindication;

 • we, or any future collaborators, may be required to create a Medication Guide outlining the risks of the previously unidentified side effects for
distribution to patients;

 • we, or any future collaborators, could be sued and held liable for harm caused to patients;

 • the drug may become less competitive; and

 • our reputation may suffer.

Any of these events could have a material and adverse effect on our operations and business and could adversely impact our stock price.

Even if ALRN-6924 or any of our future product candidates receives marketing approval, they may fail to achieve the degree of market acceptance by
physicians, patients, healthcare payors and others in the medical community necessary for commercial success.

If ALRN-6924 or any of our future product candidates receives marketing approval, they may nonetheless fail to gain sufficient market acceptance
by physicians, patients, healthcare payors and others in the medical community. For example, current cancer treatments like chemotherapy and radiation
therapy are well-established in the medical community, and doctors may continue to rely on these treatments. If our product candidates do not achieve an
adequate level of acceptance, we may not generate significant revenues from sales of drugs and we may not become profitable. The degree of market
acceptance of our product candidates, if approved for commercial sale, will depend on a number of factors, including:

 • the efficacy and safety of the product;

 • the potential advantages of the product compared to competitive therapies;

 • the prevalence and severity of any side effects;
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 • whether the product is designated under physician treatment guidelines as a first-, second- or third-line therapy;

 • our ability, or the ability of any future collaborators, to offer the product for sale at competitive prices;

 • the product’s convenience and ease of administration compared to alternative treatments;

 • the willingness of the target patient population to try, and of physicians to prescribe, the product;

 • limitations or warnings, including distribution or use restrictions contained in the product’s approved labeling;

 • the strength of sales, marketing and distribution support;

 • changes in the standard of care for the targeted indications for the product; and

 • availability and amount of coverage and reimbursement from government payors, managed care plans and other third-party payors.

If, in the future, we are unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities or enter into agreements with third parties to sell and market our product
candidates, we may not be successful in commercializing our product candidates if and when they are approved.

We do not have a sales or marketing infrastructure and have no experience in the sale or marketing of pharmaceutical drugs. We are not currently a
party to a strategic collaboration that provides us with access to a collaborator’s resources in selling or marketing drugs. To achieve commercial success for
any approved drug for which sales and marketing is not the responsibility of any strategic collaborator that we may have in the future, we must either
develop a sales and marketing organization or outsource these functions to other third parties. In the future, we may choose to build a sales and marketing
infrastructure to market or co-promote some of our product candidates if and when they are approved or enter into collaborations with respect to the sale
and marketing of our product candidates.

There are risks involved with both establishing our own sales and marketing capabilities and entering into arrangements with third parties to perform
these services. For example, recruiting and training a sales force is expensive and time-consuming and could delay any commercial launch of a product
candidate. If the commercial launch of a product candidate for which we recruit a sales force and establish marketing capabilities is delayed or does not
occur for any reason, we would have prematurely or unnecessarily incurred these commercialization expenses. This may be costly, and our investment
would be lost if we cannot retain or reposition our sales and marketing personnel.

Factors that may inhibit our efforts to commercialize our drugs on our own include:

 • our inability to recruit and retain adequate numbers of effective sales and marketing personnel;

 • the inability of sales personnel to obtain access to physicians or persuade adequate numbers of physicians to prescribe any future drugs;

 • the lack of complementary drugs to be offered by sales personnel, which may put us at a competitive disadvantage relative to companies with
more extensive drug lines;

 • unforeseen costs and expenses associated with creating an independent sales and marketing organization; and

 • inability to obtain sufficient coverage and reimbursement from third-party payors and governmental agencies.

If we enter into arrangements with third parties to perform sales and marketing services, our revenues from the sale of drugs or the profitability of
these revenues to us are likely to be lower than if we were to market and sell any drugs that we develop ourselves. In addition, we may not be successful in
entering into arrangements with third parties to sell and market our product candidates or may be unable to do so on terms that are favorable to us. We
likely will have little control over such third parties, and any of them may fail to devote the necessary resources and attention to sell and market our drugs
effectively. If we do not establish sales and marketing capabilities successfully, either on our own or in collaboration with third parties, we will not be
successful in commercializing our product candidates.
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We face substantial competition, which may result in others discovering, developing or commercializing products before or more successfully than we
do.

The pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries generally, and the cancer drug sector specifically, are highly competitive and characterized by
rapidly advancing technologies, evolving understanding of disease etiology and a strong emphasis on proprietary drugs. We face competition with respect
to ALRN-6924, our product candidate, and will face competition with respect to any product candidates that we may seek to discover and develop or
commercialize in the future, from major pharmaceutical, specialty pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies. There are a number of major
pharmaceutical, specialty pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies that currently market and sell drugs or are pursuing the development of drugs for
the treatment of cancer. Potential competitors also include academic institutions and governmental agencies and public and private research institutions.

There are a large number of companies developing or marketing treatments for cancer, including the indications for which we may develop product
candidates. Many of the companies that we compete or may compete against in the future have significantly greater financial resources and expertise in
research and development, manufacturing, preclinical testing, conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and marketing approved drugs than
we do. Small or early-stage companies may also prove to be significant competitors, particularly through collaborative arrangements with large and
established companies. These competitors also compete with us in recruiting and retaining qualified scientific and management personnel and establishing
clinical trial sites and patient registration for clinical trials, as well as in acquiring technologies complementary to, or that may be necessary for, our
programs.

Our commercial opportunity could be reduced or eliminated if our competitors develop and commercialize drugs that are safer, more effective, have
fewer or less severe side effects, are more convenient or are less expensive than any drugs that we may develop. Our competitors also may obtain FDA or
other regulatory approval for their drugs more rapidly than we may obtain approval for ours, which could result in our competitors establishing a strong
market position before we are able to enter the market. The key competitive factors affecting the success of our product candidates, if approved, are likely
to be their efficacy, safety, convenience, price, the effectiveness of companion diagnostics in guiding the use of related therapeutics, the level of generic
competition and the availability of reimbursement from government and other third-party payors.

The most common methods of treating patients with cancer are surgery, radiation and drug therapy. There are a variety of available drug therapies
marketed for cancer. In many cases, these drugs are administered in combination to enhance efficacy. Some of the currently-approved drug therapies are
branded and subject to patent protection and may be established as the standard of care for the treatment of indications for which we may choose to seek
regulatory approvals. Many of these approved drugs are well-established therapies and are widely accepted by physicians, patients and third-party payors,
and, even if our product candidates were to be approved, there can be no assurance that our drugs would displace existing treatments. In addition to
currently marketed therapies, there are also a number of drugs in late-stage clinical development to treat cancer, including the indications for which we are
developing product candidates. These clinical-stage drug candidates may provide efficacy, safety, convenience and other benefits that are not provided by
currently-marketed therapies. As a result, they may provide significant competition for ALRN-6924 any of our future product candidates for which we
obtain regulatory approval.

We initially designed ALRN-6924, our product candidate, to act as a reactivator of p53 for the treatment of various cancers. We are aware of other
product candidates that are in clinical development for the treatment of various cancers through the reactivation of p53. Although there is a subset of drugs that
directly target the p53 pathway, there are many cancer drugs that claim to affect the p53 pathway by upstream or complementary pathways. We are aware of
selective small molecule inhibitors that are designed to target the p53-MDM2 interaction in various stages of clinical development being tested by
F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche Inc., or collectively Roche, Novartis AG, Daiichi Sankyo Co., Ltd., Boehringer Ingelheim, Ascentage
Pharma Group Corporation, Ltd, Kartos Therapeutics, Inc. and Unity Biotechnology, Inc. including testing MDM2 inhibitors in combination with a variety of
other anti-cancer agents or investigating MDM2 inhibitors and senolytic drugs for the treatment of aging-related diseases such as osteoarthritis of the knee.

We are aware of another company that is actively developing chemoprotective agents, G1 Therapeutics, Inc., or G1. In February 2021, the FDA
approved trilaciclib (COSELA), a short-acting intravenous CDK4/6 inhibitor developed by G1, to decrease chemotherapy-induced myelosuppression in adult
patients when administered prior to a platinum/etoposide-containing regimen or topotecan-containing regimen for extensive-stage SCLC. G1 is conducting or
has plans to conduct additional clinical trials of trilaciclib in other indications, including colorectal cancer, metastatic triple-negative breast cancer and bladder
cancer.  In addition, ALRN-6924 may compete with multiple approved drugs or drugs that may be approved in the future, such as plinabulin which is in
development for chemotherapy-induced neutropenia.
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If the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities approve generic versions of any of our drugs that receive marketing approval, or such
authorities do not grant our drugs appropriate periods of data or market exclusivity before approving generic versions of our drugs, the sales of our
drugs could be adversely affected.

Once an NDA is approved, the drug covered thereby becomes a “reference-listed drug” in the FDA’s publication, “Approved Drug Products with
Therapeutic Equivalence Evaluations.” Manufacturers may seek approval of generic versions of reference-listed drugs through submission of abbreviated
new drug applications, or ANDAs, in the United States. In support of an ANDA, a generic manufacturer need not conduct clinical trials demonstrating
safety and efficacy. Rather, the applicant generally must show that its drug has the same active ingredient(s), dosage form, strength, route of administration
and conditions of use or labeling as the reference-listed drug and that the generic version is bioequivalent to the reference-listed drug, meaning it is
absorbed in the body at the same rate and to the same extent. Generic drugs may be significantly less costly to bring to market than the reference-listed drug
and companies that produce generic drugs are generally able to offer them at lower prices. Thus, following the introduction of a generic drug, a significant
percentage of the sales of any branded product or reference-listed drug is typically lost to the generic drug.

The FDA may not approve an ANDA for a generic drug until any applicable period of non-patent exclusivity for the reference-listed drug has
expired. The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDCA, provides a period of five years of non-patent exclusivity for a new drug containing a new
chemical entity, or NCE. Specifically, in cases where such exclusivity has been granted, an ANDA may not be filed with the FDA and the FDA may not
approve the application until the expiration of five years unless the submission is accompanied by a Paragraph IV certification that a patent covering the
reference-listed drug is either invalid or will not be infringed by the generic drug, in which case the applicant may submit its application four years
following approval of the reference-listed drug. Manufacturers may seek to launch these generic drugs following the expiration of the marketing exclusivity
period, even if we still have patent protection for our drug.

Competition that our drugs may face from generic versions of our drugs could materially and adversely impact our future revenue, profitability and
cash flows and substantially limit our ability to obtain a return on the investments we have made in those drug candidates. Our future revenues, profitability
and cash flows could also be materially and adversely affected and our ability to obtain a return on the investments we have made in those drug candidates
may be substantially limited if our drugs, if and when approved, are not afforded the appropriate periods of non-patent exclusivity.

Even if we are able to commercialize any product candidate, such product candidate may become subject to unfavorable pricing regulations, third-
party coverage and reimbursement policies or healthcare reform initiatives, which would harm our business.

The regulations that govern marketing approval, pricing, coverage and reimbursement for new drugs vary widely from country to country. Some
countries require approval of the sale price of a drug before it can be marketed. In many countries, the pricing review period begins after marketing
approval is granted. In some foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after initial
approval is granted. As a result, we might obtain marketing approval for a product in a particular country, but then be subject to price regulations that delay
our commercial launch of the product, possibly for lengthy time periods, and negatively impact the revenues we are able to generate from the sale of the
product in that country. Adverse pricing limitations may hinder our ability to recoup our investment in one or more product candidates, even if our product
candidates obtain marketing approval.

Our ability to commercialize any products successfully also will depend in part on the extent to which reimbursement and coverage for these
products and related treatments will be available from government authorities, private health insurers and other organizations, and if reimbursement and
coverage is available, the level of reimbursement and coverage. Government authorities and third-party payors, such as private health insurers and health
maintenance organizations, decide which medications they will pay for and establish reimbursement levels. A primary trend in the healthcare industry in
the United States and elsewhere is cost containment. Government authorities and third-party payors have attempted to control costs by limiting coverage
and the amount of reimbursement for particular medications. Increasingly, the third-party payors who reimburse patients or healthcare providers, such as
government and private insurance plans, are requiring that drug companies provide them with predetermined discounts from list prices, and are seeking to
reduce the prices charged or the amounts reimbursed for medical products. We cannot be sure that reimbursement will be available for any drug that we
commercialize and, if reimbursement is available, we cannot be sure as to the level of reimbursement. Reimbursement may impact the demand for, or the
price of, any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval. If reimbursement is not available or is available only to limited levels, we may not
be able to successfully commercialize any product candidate for which we obtain marketing approval.
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There may be significant delays in obtaining reimbursement for newly approved drugs, and coverage may be more limited than the purposes for
which the drug is approved by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Moreover, eligibility for reimbursement does not imply that any drug
will be reimbursed in all cases or at a rate that covers our costs, including research, development, manufacture, sale and distribution. Interim reimbursement
levels for new drugs, if applicable, may also not be sufficient to cover our costs and may not be made permanent. Reimbursement rates may vary according
to the use of the drug and the clinical setting in which it is used, may be based on reimbursement levels already set for lower cost drugs, may be
incorporated into existing payments for other services and may reflect budgetary constraints or imperfections in Medicare data. Net prices for drugs may be
reduced by mandatory discounts or rebates required by government healthcare programs or private payors and by any future relaxation of laws that
presently restrict imports of drugs from countries where they may be sold at lower prices than in the United States. Third-party payors often rely upon
Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement rates. Our inability to promptly obtain coverage and adequate
reimbursement rates from both government-funded and private payors for new products that we develop and for which we obtain marketing approval could
have a material adverse effect on our operating results, our ability to raise capital needed to commercialize products and our overall financial condition.

Product liability lawsuits against us could cause us to incur substantial liabilities and to limit commercialization of any drugs that we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of product liability exposure related to the testing of our product candidates in clinical trials and will face an even greater
risk if we commercially sell any drugs that we may develop. If we cannot successfully defend ourselves against claims that our product candidates or drugs
caused injuries, we will incur substantial liabilities. Regardless of merit or eventual outcome, liability claims may result in:

 • decreased demand for any product candidates or drugs that we may develop;

 • injury to our reputation and significant negative media attention;

 • withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

 • significant costs to defend the related litigation;

 • substantial monetary awards to trial participants or patients;

 • loss of revenue;

 • reduced resources of our management to pursue our business strategy; and

 • the inability to commercialize any drugs that we may develop.

We currently hold clinical trial liability insurance coverage for up to $5.0 million, but that coverage may not be adequate to cover any and all
liabilities that we may incur. We would need to increase our insurance coverage when we begin the commercialization of our product candidates, if ever.
Insurance coverage is increasingly expensive. We may not be able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in an amount adequate to satisfy
any liability that may arise.

Governments outside of the United States tend to impose strict price controls, which may adversely affect our revenues from the sales of our products, if
any.

In some countries, particularly member states of the European Union, the pricing of prescription pharmaceuticals is subject to governmental control.
In these countries, pricing negotiations with governmental authorities can take considerable time after the receipt of marketing approval for a product. In
addition, there can be considerable pressure by governments and other stakeholders on prices and reimbursement levels, including as part of cost
containment measures. Political, economic and regulatory developments may further complicate pricing negotiations, and pricing negotiations may
continue after reimbursement has been obtained. Reference pricing used by various European Union member states and parallel distribution, or arbitrage
between low-priced and high-priced member states, can further reduce prices. In some countries, we, or our future collaborators, may be required to
conduct a clinical trial or other studies that compare the cost-effectiveness of our product candidates to other available therapies in order to obtain or
maintain reimbursement or pricing approval. Publication of discounts by third-party payors or authorities may lead to further pressure on the prices or
reimbursement levels within the country of publication and other countries. If reimbursement of any product candidate approved for marketing is
unavailable or limited in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at unsatisfactory levels, our business could be materially harmed.
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Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

We rely on third parties to conduct our clinical trials and some aspects of our research and preclinical studies, and those third parties may not perform
satisfactorily, including failing to meet deadlines for the completion of such trials, research and studies.

We currently rely on third parties, such as CROs, clinical data management organizations, medical institutions and clinical investigators, to conduct
our clinical trials of ALRN-6924 and expect to continue to rely upon third parties to conduct additional clinical trials of ALRN-6924 and any other product
candidates that we may develop. We currently rely and expect to continue to rely on third parties to conduct some aspects of our research and preclinical
studies. Any of these third parties may terminate their engagements with us at any time. If we need to enter into alternative arrangements, it would delay
our drug development activities.

Our reliance on these third parties for research and development activities will reduce our control over these activities but will not relieve us of our
regulatory responsibilities. For example, we will remain responsible for ensuring that each of our clinical trials is conducted in accordance with the general
investigational plan and protocols for the trial. Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with standards, commonly referred to as Good Clinical Practice,
or GCP, regulations for conducting, recording and reporting the results of clinical trials to assure that data and reported results are credible and accurate and
that the rights, integrity and confidentiality of trial participants are protected. The European Medicines Agency, or EMA, also requires us to comply with
similar standards. Regulatory authorities enforce these GCP requirements through periodic inspections of trial sponsors, principal investigators and trial
sites. If we or any of our CROs fail to comply with applicable GCP requirements, the clinical data generated in our clinical trials may be deemed unreliable
and the FDA, EMA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may require us to perform additional clinical trials before approving our marketing
applications. There can be no assurances that upon inspection by a given regulatory authority, such regulatory authority will determine that any of our
clinical trials comply with GCP regulations. Furthermore, we conduct clinical trials in foreign countries, subjecting us to additional risks and challenges,
including additional regulatory compliance. We also contract with foreign CROs that may be less experienced with respect to regulatory matters applicable
to us. In addition, our clinical trials must be conducted with product produced under current Good Manufacturing Practices, or cGMP, regulations. Our
failure to comply with these regulations may require us to repeat clinical trials, which would delay the marketing approval process. We also are required to
register certain ongoing clinical trials and post the results of certain completed clinical trials on a government-sponsored database, ClinicalTrials.gov,
within certain timeframes. Failure to do so can result in fines, adverse publicity and civil and criminal sanctions.

Furthermore, these third parties may also have relationships with other entities, some of which may be our competitors. If these third parties do not
successfully carry out their contractual duties, meet expected deadlines or conduct our clinical trials in accordance with regulatory requirements or our
stated protocols, we will not be able to obtain, or may be delayed in obtaining, marketing approvals for our product candidates and will not be able to, or
may be delayed in our efforts to, successfully commercialize our product candidates.

We also expect to rely on other third parties to store and distribute drug supplies for our clinical trials. Any performance failure on the part of such
third parties could delay clinical development or marketing approval of our product candidates or commercialization of our drugs, producing additional
losses and depriving us of potential revenue from sales of drugs.

We contract with third parties for the manufacture of ALRN-6924 for our ongoing clinical trials, and expect to continue to do so for additional clinical
trials and ultimately for commercialization. This reliance on third parties increases the risk that we will not have sufficient quantities of our product
candidates or drugs or such quantities at an acceptable cost, which could delay, prevent or impair our development or commercialization efforts.

We do not have any manufacturing facilities or personnel. We currently rely, and expect to continue to rely, on third-party manufacturers for the
manufacture of ALRN-6924 for clinical trials under the guidance of members of our organization. To date, we have obtained the active pharmaceutical
ingredient, or API, of ALRN-6924 from one third-party manufacturer. We have engaged a separate third-party manufacturer to conduct fill-and-finish and
labeling services, as well as for the storage and distribution of ALRN-6924 to clinical sites. We do not have a long-term supply agreement with either of
these third-party manufacturers, and we purchase our required drug supplies on a purchase order basis.

48



 

We expect to rely on third-party manufacturers or third-party collaborators for the manufacture of our product candidates for commercial supply of
ALRN-6924 or any of our future product candidates for which we or any of our future collaborators obtain marketing approval. We may be unable to
establish any agreements with third-party manufacturers or to do so on acceptable terms. Even if we are able to establish agreements with third-party
manufacturers, reliance on third-party manufacturers entails additional risks, including:

 • the possible failure of the third party to manufacture our product candidate according to our schedule, or at all, including if our third-party
contractors give greater priority to the supply of other products over our product candidates or otherwise do not satisfactorily perform
according to the terms of the agreements between us and them;

 • the possible termination or nonrenewal of agreements by our third-party contractors at a time that is costly or inconvenient for us;

 • the possible breach by the third-party contractors of our agreements with them;

 • the failure of third-party contractors to comply with applicable regulatory requirements;

 • the possible failure of the third party to manufacture our product candidates according to our specifications;

 • the possible mislabeling of clinical supplies, potentially resulting in the wrong dose amounts being supplied or active drug or placebo not
being properly identified;

 • the possibility of clinical supplies not being delivered to clinical sites on time, leading to clinical trial interruptions, or of drug supplies not
being distributed to commercial vendors in a timely manner, resulting in lost sales; and

 • the possible misappropriation of our proprietary information, including our trade secrets and know-how.

The facilities used by our contract manufacturers to manufacture our product candidates must be approved by the FDA pursuant to inspections that
will be conducted after we submit our NDA to the FDA. We do not have complete control over all aspects of the manufacturing process of, and are
dependent on, our contract manufacturing partners for compliance with cGMP regulations for manufacturing both active drug substances and finished drug
products. Third-party manufacturers may not be able to comply with cGMP regulations or similar regulatory requirements outside of the United States. If
our contract manufacturers cannot successfully manufacture material that conforms to our specifications and the strict regulatory requirements of the FDA
or others, they will not be able to secure and/or maintain marketing approval for their manufacturing facilities. In addition, we do not have complete control
over the ability of our contract manufacturers to maintain adequate quality control, quality assurance and qualified personnel. If the FDA or a comparable
foreign regulatory authority does not approve these facilities for the manufacture of our product candidates or if it withdraws any such approval in the
future, we may need to find alternative manufacturing facilities, which would significantly impact our ability to develop, obtain marketing approval for or
market our product candidates, if approved. Our failure, or the failure of our third-party manufacturers, to comply with applicable regulations could result
in sanctions being imposed on us, including fines, injunctions, civil penalties, delays, suspension or withdrawal of approvals, license revocation, seizures or
recalls of product candidates or drugs, operating restrictions and criminal prosecutions, any of which could significantly and adversely affect supplies of
our drugs and harm our business and results of operations.

Any drugs that we may develop may compete with other product candidates and drugs for access to manufacturing facilities. There are a limited
number of manufacturers that operate under cGMP regulations and that might be capable of manufacturing for us.

Any performance failure on the part of our existing or future manufacturers could delay clinical development or marketing approval. We do not
currently have arrangements in place for redundant supply of the API of ALRN-6924 and we only currently use a different single third-party manufacturer
for fill-and-finish services for ALRN-6924. If our current contract manufacturers cannot perform as agreed, we may be required to replace those
manufacturers. Although we believe that there are several potential alternative manufacturers who could manufacture our product candidates, we may incur
added costs and delays in identifying and qualifying any such replacement.

Our current and anticipated future dependence upon others for the manufacture of our product candidates or drugs may adversely affect our future
profit margins and our ability to commercialize any drugs that receive marketing approval on a timely and competitive basis.

We may enter into strategic collaborations for the development, marketing and commercialization of ALRN-6924. If those collaborations are not
successful, the development, marketing and/or commercialization of our product candidates that are the subject of such collaborations would be
harmed.

As we further develop ALRN-6924, we may build a commercial infrastructure with the capability to directly market it to a variety of markets and
geographies. Although we currently plan to retain all commercial rights to ALRN-6924, we may enter into strategic collaborations for the development,
marketing and commercialization of ALRN-6924 and any other product candidates that we may develop. Our likely collaborators for any collaboration
arrangements include large and mid-size pharmaceutical companies, regional and national pharmaceutical companies and biotechnology companies. If we
do enter into any such arrangements with any third parties, we will likely have limited control over the amount and timing of resources that our
collaborators dedicate to the
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development, marketing and/or commercialization of our product candidates. Our ability to generate revenues from these arrangements will depend on our
collaborators’ abilities to successfully perform the functions assigned to them in these arrangements. In addition, any future collaborators may have the
right to abandon research or development projects and terminate applicable agreements, including funding obligations, prior to or upon the expiration of the
agreed upon terms.

Collaborations involving our product candidates would pose the following risks to us:

 • collaborators have significant discretion in determining the efforts and resources that they will apply to these collaborations;

 • collaborators may not perform their obligations as expected;

 • collaborators may not pursue development, marketing and/or commercialization of our product candidates or may elect not to continue or
renew development, marketing or commercialization programs based on clinical trial results, changes in the collaborator’s strategic focus or
available funding or external factors such as an acquisition that diverts resources or creates competing priorities;

 • collaborators may delay clinical trials, provide insufficient funding for a clinical trial program, stop a clinical trial or abandon a product
candidate, repeat or conduct new clinical trials or require a new formulation of a product candidate for clinical testing;

 • collaborators could independently develop, or develop with third parties, drugs that compete directly or indirectly with our drugs or product
candidates;

 • a collaborator with marketing and distribution rights to one or more drugs may not commit sufficient resources to the marketing and
distribution of such drug or drugs;

 • disagreements with collaborators, including disagreements over proprietary rights, contract interpretation or the preferred course of
development, might cause delays or termination of the research, development or commercialization of product candidates, might lead to
additional responsibilities for us with respect to product candidates, or might result in litigation or arbitration, any of which would be time-
consuming and expensive;

 • collaborators may not properly maintain or defend our intellectual property rights or may use our proprietary information in such a way as to
invite litigation that could jeopardize or invalidate our proprietary information or expose us to potential litigation;

 • collaborators may infringe the intellectual property rights of third parties, which may expose us to litigation and potential liability;

 • we may lose certain valuable rights under circumstances identified in any collaboration arrangement that we enter into, such as if we undergo
a change of control;

 • collaborations may be terminated and, if terminated, may result in a need for additional capital to pursue further development, marketing
and/or commercialization of the applicable product candidates;

 • collaborators may learn about our discoveries, data, proprietary information, trade secrets or compounds and use this knowledge to compete
with us in the future; and

 • the number and type of our collaborations could adversely affect our attractiveness to future collaborators or acquirers.

Collaboration agreements may not lead to development or commercialization of product candidates in the most efficient manner, or at all.

If we decide to seek to establish collaborations, but are not able to establish those collaborations, we may have to alter our development and
commercialization plans.

Our development of ALRN-6924 and the potential commercialization of ALRN-6924 will require substantial additional cash to fund expenses. We
may seek to selectively form collaborations to expand our capabilities, potentially accelerate research and development activities and provide for
commercialization activities by third parties.

We would face significant competition in seeking appropriate collaborators. Whether we reach a definitive agreement for a collaboration will
depend, among other things, upon our assessment of the collaborator’s resources and expertise, the terms and conditions of the proposed collaboration and
the proposed collaborator’s evaluation of a number of factors. Those factors may include the design or results of clinical trials, the likelihood of approval
by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, the potential market for the subject product candidate, the costs and complexities of
manufacturing and delivering such product candidate to patients, the potential of competing drugs, the existence of uncertainty with respect to our
ownership of intellectual property, which can exist if there is a challenge to such ownership without regard to the merits of the challenge, and industry and
market conditions
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generally. The potential collaborator may also consider alternative product candidates or technologies for similar indications that may be available to
collaborate on and whether such a collaboration could be more attractive than the one with us for our product candidate.

We may also be restricted under then-existing collaboration agreements from entering into future agreements on certain terms with potential
collaborators.

Collaborations are complex and time-consuming to negotiate and document. In addition, there have been a significant number of recent business
combinations among large pharmaceutical companies that have resulted in a reduced number of potential future collaborators.

We may not be able to negotiate collaborations on a timely basis, on acceptable terms, or at all, if and when we seek to enter into collaborations. If
we are unable to do so, we may have to curtail the development of a product candidate, reduce or delay its development program or one or more of our
other development programs, delay its potential commercialization or reduce the scope of any sales or marketing activities, or increase our expenditures
and undertake development or commercialization activities at our own expense. If we elect to increase our expenditures to fund development or
commercialization activities on our own, we may need to obtain additional capital, which may not be available to us on acceptable terms, or at all. If we do
not have sufficient funds, we may not be able to further develop our product candidates or bring them to market and generate revenue from sales of drugs.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our intellectual property. It is difficult and costly to protect our proprietary rights and technology,
and we may not be able to ensure their protection.

Our commercial success will depend in large part on obtaining and maintaining patent, trademark and trade secret protection of our proprietary
technologies and our product candidates, which include ALRN-6924 and others, their respective components, formulations, methods used to manufacture
them and methods of treatment, as well as successfully defending these patents against third-party challenges. Our ability to stop unauthorized third parties
from making, using, selling, offering to sell or importing our product candidates is dependent upon the extent to which we have rights under valid and
enforceable patents or trade secrets that cover these activities.

The patenting process is expensive and time-consuming, and we may not be able to file and prosecute all necessary or desirable patent applications
at a reasonable cost or in a timely manner. In addition, we may not pursue or obtain patent protection in all relevant markets. It is also possible that we will
fail to identify patentable aspects of our research and development output before it is too late to obtain patent protection. Our pending and future patent
applications may not result in issued patents that protect our technology or products, in whole or in part. In addition, our existing patents and any future
patents we obtain may not be sufficiently broad to prevent others from using our technology or from developing competing products and technologies.

We currently in-license certain intellectual property from President and Fellows of Harvard College, or Harvard, and Dana-Farber Cancer Institute,
or DFCI, and others. In the future we may in-license intellectual property from other licensors. We rely on certain of these licensors to file and prosecute
patent applications and maintain patents and otherwise protect the intellectual property we license from them. We have limited control over these activities
or any other intellectual property that may be related to our in-licensed intellectual property. For example, we cannot be certain that such activities by these
licensors have been or will be conducted in compliance with applicable laws and regulations or will result in valid and enforceable patents and other
intellectual property rights. We have limited control over the manner in which our licensors initiate an infringement proceeding against a third-party
infringer of the intellectual property rights, or defend certain of the intellectual property that is licensed to us. It is possible that the licensors’ infringement
proceeding or defense activities may be less vigorous than had we conducted them ourselves.

The growth of our business may depend in part on our ability to acquire or in-license additional proprietary rights. For example, our programs may
involve additional product candidates that may require the use of additional proprietary rights held by third parties. Our product candidates may also
require specific formulations to work effectively and efficiently. These formulations may be covered by intellectual property rights held by others. We may
develop products containing our compounds and pre-existing pharmaceutical compounds. These pharmaceutical compounds may be covered by intellectual
property rights held by others. We may be required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities to provide a companion diagnostic test or tests
with our product candidates. These diagnostic test or tests may be covered by intellectual property rights held by others. We may be unable to acquire or in-
license any relevant third-party intellectual property rights that we identify as necessary or important to our business operations. We may fail to obtain any
of these licenses at a reasonable cost or on reasonable terms, if at all, which would harm our business. We may need to cease use of the compositions or
methods covered by such third-party intellectual property rights, and may need to seek to develop alternative approaches that do not infringe on such
intellectual property rights which may entail additional costs and development delays, even if we were able to develop such alternatives, which may not be
feasible. Even if we are able to obtain a license under
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such intellectual property rights, any such license may be non-exclusive, which may allow our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us.

Additionally, we sometimes collaborate with academic institutions to accelerate our preclinical research or development under written agreements
with these institutions. In certain cases, these institutions provide us with an option to negotiate a license to any of the institution’s rights in technology
resulting from the collaboration. Regardless of such option, we may be unable to negotiate a license within the specified timeframe or under terms that are
acceptable to us. If we are unable to do so, the institution may offer the intellectual property rights to others, potentially blocking our ability to pursue our
program. If we are unable to successfully obtain rights to required third-party intellectual property or to maintain the existing intellectual property rights we
have, we may have to abandon development of such program and our business and financial condition could suffer.

The licensing and acquisition of third-party intellectual property rights is a competitive practice, and companies that may be more established, or
have greater resources than we do, may also be pursuing strategies to license or acquire third-party intellectual property rights that we may consider
necessary or attractive in order to commercialize our product candidates. More established companies may have a competitive advantage over us due to
their larger size and cash resources or greater clinical development and commercialization capabilities. There can be no assurance that we will be able to
successfully complete such negotiations and ultimately acquire the rights to the intellectual property surrounding the additional product candidates that we
may seek to acquire.

During the course of business we have decided not to pursue certain products or processes and have terminated certain corresponding intellectual
property license agreements or removed certain intellectual property from current license agreements, and we may do so again in the future. If it is later
determined that our activities or product candidates infringe this intellectual property, then we may be liable for damages, enhanced damages or subjected
to an injunction, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

The patent position of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies generally is highly uncertain and involves complex legal and factual questions
for which many legal principles remain unresolved. In recent years patent rights have been the subject of significant litigation. As a result, the issuance,
scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain. Our pending and future patent applications may not result in
patents being issued in the United States or in other jurisdictions which protect our technology or products or which effectively prevent others from
commercializing competitive technologies and products. Changes in either the patent laws or interpretation of the patent laws in the United States and other
countries may diminish the value of our patents or narrow the scope of our patent protection. In addition, the laws of foreign countries may not protect our
rights to the same extent as the laws of the United States. Publications of discoveries in the scientific literature often lag behind the actual discoveries, and
patent applications in the United States and other jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, or in some cases not at all. Therefore,
we cannot be certain that we were the first to make the inventions claimed in our patents or pending patent applications, or that we were the first to file for
patent protection of such inventions. In addition, the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or USPTO, might require that the term of a patent issuing from a
pending patent application be disclaimed and limited to the term of another patent that is commonly owned or names a common inventor. As a result, the
issuance, scope, validity, enforceability and commercial value of our patent rights are highly uncertain.

Recent or future patent reform legislation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the
enforcement or defense of our issued patents. In March 2013, under the Leahy-Smith America Invents Act, or America Invents Act, the United States
moved from a “first to invent” to a “first-to-file” system. Under a “first-to-file” system, assuming the other requirements for patentability are met, the first
inventor to file a patent application generally will be entitled to a patent on the invention regardless of whether another inventor had made the invention
earlier. The America Invents Act includes a number of other significant changes to U.S. patent law, including provisions that affect the way patent
applications are prosecuted, redefine prior art and establish a new post-grant review system. The effects of these changes are currently unclear as the
USPTO only recently developed new regulations and procedures in connection with the America Invents Act and many of the substantive changes to patent
law, including the “first-to-file” provisions, only became effective in March 2013. In addition, the courts have yet to address many of these provisions and
the applicability of the act and new regulations on specific patents discussed herein have not been determined and would need to be reviewed. However, the
America Invents Act and its implementation could increase the uncertainties and costs surrounding the prosecution of our patent applications and the
enforcement or defense of our issued patents, all of which could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition. We may become
involved in opposition, interference, derivation, inter partes review or other proceedings challenging our patent rights or the patent rights of others, and the
outcome of any proceedings are highly uncertain. An adverse determination in any such proceeding could reduce the scope of, or invalidate, our patent
rights, allow third parties to commercialize our technology or products and compete directly with us, without payment to us, or result in our inability to
manufacture or commercialize products without infringing third-party patent rights.
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Even if our patent applications issue as patents, they may not issue in a form that will provide us with any meaningful protection, prevent
competitors from competing with us or otherwise provide us with any competitive advantage. Our competitors may be able to circumvent our owned or
licensed patents by developing similar or alternative technologies or products in a non-infringing manner. The issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its
scope, validity or enforceability, and our owned and in-licensed patents may be challenged in the courts or patent offices in the United States and abroad.
Such challenges may result in the patent claims of our owned or in-licensed patents being narrowed, invalidated or held unenforceable, which could limit
our ability to stop or prevent us from stopping others from using or commercializing similar or identical technology and products, or limit the duration of
the patent protection of our technology and products. Given the amount of time required for the development, testing and regulatory review of new product
candidates, patents protecting such candidates might expire before or shortly after such candidates are commercialized. As a result, our patent portfolio may
not provide us with sufficient rights to exclude others from commercializing products similar or identical to ours or otherwise provide us with a competitive
advantage.

The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain because legal means afford only limited protection and may not adequately
protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep our competitive advantage. For example:

 • others may be able to make or use compounds that are similar to the pharmaceutical compounds used in our product candidates but that are
not covered by the claims of our patents;

 • the active pharmaceutical ingredients in our current product candidates will eventually become commercially available in generic drug
products, and no patent protection may be available with regard to formulation or method of use;

 • we or our licensors, as the case may be, may fail to meet our obligations to the U.S. government in regards to any in-licensed patents and
patent applications funded by U.S. government grants, leading to the loss of patent rights;

 • we or our licensors, as the case may be, might not have been the first to file patent applications for these inventions;

 • others may independently develop similar or alternative technologies or duplicate any of our technologies;

 • it is possible that our pending patent applications will not result in issued patents;

 • it is possible that there are prior public disclosures that could invalidate our or our licensors’ patents, as the case may be, or parts of our or
their patents;

 • it is possible that others may circumvent our owned or in-licensed patents;

 • it is possible that there are unpublished applications or patent applications maintained in secrecy that may later issue with claims covering our
products or technology similar to ours;

 • the laws of foreign countries may not protect our or our licensors’, as the case may be, proprietary rights to the same extent as the laws of the
United States;

 • the claims of our owned or in-licensed issued patents or patent applications, if and when issued, may not cover our product candidates;

 • our owned or in-licensed issued patents may not provide us with any competitive advantages, may be narrowed in scope or may be held
invalid or unenforceable as a result of legal challenges by third parties;

 • the inventors of our owned or in-licensed patents or patent applications may become involved with competitors, develop products or processes
which design around our patents or become hostile to us or the patents or patent applications on which they are named as inventors;

 • we have engaged in scientific collaborations in the past, such as with Roche, and will continue to do so in the future. Such collaborators may
develop adjacent or competing products to ours that are outside the scope of our patents;

 • we may not develop additional proprietary technologies for which we can obtain patent protection;

 • it is possible that product candidates or diagnostic tests we develop may be covered by third parties’ patents or other exclusive rights; or

 • the patents of others may have an adverse effect on our business.

We also may rely on trade secrets to protect our technology, especially where we do not believe patent protection is appropriate or obtainable.
However, trade secrets are difficult to protect, and we have limited control over the protection of trade secrets used by our licensors, collaborators and
suppliers. Although we use reasonable efforts to protect our trade secrets, our employees, consultants, contractors, outside scientific collaborators and other
advisors may unintentionally or willfully disclose our information to competitors or use such information to compete with us. Moreover, our competitors
may independently develop equivalent knowledge, methods and know-how. If our confidential or proprietary information is divulged to or acquired by
third parties, including our competitors, our competitive position in the marketplace will be harmed and this would have a material adverse effect on our
business.
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If any of our owned or in-licensed patents are found to be invalid or unenforceable, or if we are otherwise unable to adequately protect our rights, it
could have a material adverse impact on our business and our ability to commercialize or license our technology and product candidates. Our current
owned and in-licensed patents covering our proprietary technologies and our product candidates are expected to expire on various dates from 2021 through
2033, including a composition of matter patent that we own covering our product candidate, ALRN-6924, which expires in the United States in 2033,
without taking into account any possible patent term adjustments or extensions. Our earliest in-licensed patents were only filed in the United States and
may expire before, or soon after, our first product achieves marketing approval in the United States. Upon the expiration of our current patents, we may
lose the right to exclude others from practicing these inventions. The expiration of these patents could also have a similar material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects. We own or in-license pending patent applications covering our proprietary technologies or
our product candidates that if issued as patents are expected to expire from 2021 through 2037, without taking into account any possible patent term
adjustments or extensions. However, we cannot be assured that the USPTO or relevant foreign patent offices will grant any of these patent applications.

If we fail to comply with our obligations under our patent licenses with third parties, we could lose license rights that are important to our business.

We are a party to license agreements with Harvard, DFCI, Umicore Precious Metals Chemistry USA, LLC and others, pursuant to which we in-
license key patent and patent applications for our product candidates. These existing licenses impose various diligence, milestone payment, royalty,
insurance and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply with these obligations, our licensors may have the right to terminate the license, in which event
we would not be able to develop or market the products covered by such licensed intellectual property.

In early 2016, Harvard communicated a claim to us that we had not achieved one or more of the diligence milestones set forth in our license
agreement with Harvard and DFCI and that we were in material breach of the license agreement. We provided Harvard with a response stating our position
that we had fully satisfied the diligence milestones required under the license agreement. Since that time, Harvard has never re-asserted its claim or sought
to terminate the license agreement. In making its assertion, Harvard did not seek to terminate the license agreement or interfere with our ongoing p53
program, but instead proposed to convert our exclusive license with respect to certain of the patent families licensed under the license agreement to a non-
exclusive license. In any event, Harvard’s proposal would not have impeded our development of ALRN-6924 or our other ongoing programs. DFCI did not
join Harvard in making this assertion or proposal and has not expressed a similar position to us. We have continued to communicate with Harvard in the
ordinary course, including providing periodic reports, and have paid applicable licensing and milestone payments to Harvard pursuant to the terms of the
license agreement, and we believe we remain in full compliance with the agreement.

We continue to monitor our compliance with our obligations under our license agreements on an ongoing basis. However, if in the future Harvard or
DFCI were to successfully assert a material breach and if we were to lose some or all of our rights under the license agreement, our business would be
adversely affected, and it may be difficult to commercialize ALRN-6924 until the applicable patents covered by the license agreement with Harvard and
DFCI expired, unless we were able to negotiate a new license arrangement with those parties.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of litigation or other proceedings relating to patents, and we may be unable to protect our rights to our
products and technology.

If we or our licensors choose to go to court to stop a third party from using the inventions claimed in our owned or in-licensed patents, that third
party may ask the court to rule that the patents are invalid and/or should not be enforced against that third party. These lawsuits are expensive and would
consume time and other resources even if we or they, as the case may be, were successful in stopping the infringement of these patents. In addition, there is
a risk that the court will decide that these patents are not valid and that we or they, as the case may be, do not have the right to stop others from using the
inventions.

There is also the risk that, even if the validity of these patents is upheld, the court will refuse to stop the third party on the ground that such third
party’s activities do not infringe our owned or in-licensed patents. In addition, the U.S. Supreme Court has recently changed some legal principles that
affect patent applications, granted patents and assessment of the eligibility or validity of these patents. As a consequence, issued patents may be found to
contain invalid claims according to the newly revised eligibility and validity standards. Some of our owned or in-licensed patents may be subject to
challenge and subsequent invalidation or significant narrowing of claim scope in proceedings before the USPTO, or during litigation, under the revised
criteria which could also make it more difficult to obtain patents.

We, or our licensors, may not be able to detect infringement against our owned or in-licensed patents, as the case may be, which may be especially
difficult for manufacturing processes or formulation patents. Even if we or our licensors detect infringement by a third party of our owned or in-licensed
patents, we or our licensors, as the case may be, may choose not to pursue litigation against or settlement with the third party. If we, or our licensors, later
sue such third party for patent infringement, the third party may have certain legal defenses available to it, which otherwise would not be available except
for the delay between when the infringement was first detected and when the suit was brought. Such legal defenses may make it impossible for us or our
licensors to enforce our owned or in-licensed patents, as the case may be, against such third party.
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If another party questions the patentability of any of our claims in our owned or in-licensed U.S. patents, the third party can request that the USPTO
review the patent claims such as in an inter partes review, ex parte re-exam or post-grant review proceedings. These proceedings are expensive and may
result in a loss of scope of some claims or a loss of the entire patent. In addition to potential USPTO review proceedings, we may become a party to patent
opposition proceedings in the European Patent Office, or EPO, or similar proceedings in other foreign patent offices, where either our owned or in-licensed
foreign patents are challenged. The costs of these opposition or similar proceedings could be substantial, and may result in a loss of scope of some claims
or a loss of the entire patent. An unfavorable result at the USPTO, EPO or other patent office may result in the loss of our right to exclude others from
practicing one or more of our inventions in the relevant country or jurisdiction, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We may incur substantial costs as a result of litigation or other proceedings relating to intellectual property rights other than patents, and we may be
unable to protect our rights to our products and technology.

We may rely on trade secrets and confidentiality agreements to protect our technology and know-how, especially where we do not believe patent
protection is appropriate or obtainable. Enforcing a claim that a third party illegally obtained and is using any of our trade secrets is expensive and time
consuming, and the outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts outside the United States are sometimes less willing to protect trade secrets. If we choose
to go to court to stop a third party from using any of our trade secrets, we may incur substantial costs. These lawsuits may consume our time and other
resources even if we are successful.

If we are sued for infringing patents or other intellectual property rights of third parties, it will be costly and time consuming, and an unfavorable
outcome in that litigation would have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our commercial success depends upon our ability to develop, manufacture, market and sell our product candidates and use our proprietary
technologies without infringing the proprietary rights of third parties. U.S. and foreign issued patents and pending patent applications, which are owned by
third parties, exist in the fields relating to our product candidates. As the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries expand and more patents are issued,
the risk increases that others may assert our product candidates infringe the patent rights of others. Moreover, it is not always clear to industry participants,
including us, which patents cover various types of drugs, products or their methods of use or manufacture. Thus, because of the large number of patents
issued and patent applications filed in our fields, there may be a risk that third parties may allege they have patent rights encompassing our product
candidates, technologies or methods.

In addition, because some patent applications in the United States may be maintained in secrecy until the patents are issued, patent applications in
the United States and many foreign jurisdictions are typically not published until 18 months after filing, and publications in the scientific literature often lag
behind actual discoveries, we cannot be certain that others have not filed patent applications for technology covered by our owned and in-licensed issued
patents or our pending applications, or that we or, if applicable, a licensor were the first to invent the technology. Our competitors may have filed, and may
in the future file, patent applications covering our products or technology similar to ours. Any such patent application may have priority over our owned
and in-licensed patent applications or patents, which could require us to obtain rights to issued patents covering such technologies. If another party has filed
a U.S. patent application on inventions similar to those owned by or in-licensed to us on or before March 15, 2013, we or, in the case of in-licensed
technology, the licensor may have to participate in an interference proceeding initiated by such other party to determine priority of invention in the United
States. If another party has filed such patent application after March 15, 2013, a derivation proceeding in the United States can be initiated by such other
party to determine whether our, or in the case of in-licensed technology, the licensor’s invention was derived from such party’s invention. If we or one of
our licensors is a party to an interference proceeding involving a U.S. patent application on inventions owned by or in-licensed to us, we may incur
substantial costs, divert management’s time and expend other resources, even if we are successful.

There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries
generally. We may be exposed to, or threatened with, future litigation by third parties having patent or other intellectual property rights alleging that our
product candidates and/or proprietary technologies infringe their intellectual property rights.

If a third party claims that we infringe its intellectual property rights, we may face a number of issues, including, but not limited to:

 • infringement and other intellectual property claims which, regardless of merit, may be expensive and time-consuming to litigate and may
divert our management’s attention from our core business;

 • substantial damages for infringement, which we may have to pay if a court decides that the product candidate or technology at issue infringes
on or violates the third party’s rights, and, if the court finds that the infringement was willful, we could be ordered to pay treble damages and
the patent owner’s attorneys’ fees;

 • a court prohibiting us from developing, manufacturing, marketing or selling our product candidates, or from using our proprietary
technologies, unless the third party licenses its product rights to us, which it is not required to do;
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 • if a license is available from a third party, we may have to pay substantial royalties, upfront fees and other amounts, and/or grant cross-
licenses to intellectual property rights for our products; and

 • redesigning our product candidates or processes so they do not infringe, which may not be possible or may require substantial monetary
expenditures and time.

Some of our competitors may be able to sustain the costs of complex patent litigation more effectively than we can because they have substantially
greater resources. In addition, any uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of any litigation could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our operations or could otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and prospects.

We may choose to challenge the patentability of claims in a third party’s U.S. patent by requesting that the USPTO review the patent claims in an ex-
parte re-exam, inter partes review or post-grant review proceedings. These proceedings are expensive and may consume our time or other resources. We
may choose to challenge a third party’s patent in patent opposition proceedings in the EPO, or other foreign patent office. The costs of these opposition
proceedings could be substantial, and may consume our time or other resources. If we fail to obtain a favorable result at the USPTO, EPO or other patent
office then we may be exposed to litigation by a third party alleging that the patent may be infringed by our product candidates or proprietary technologies.

We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights with patents throughout the world.

Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on all of our product candidates throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive. Competitors may
use our technology in jurisdictions where we have not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and, further, may export otherwise
infringing products to territories where we have patent protection but where enforcement is not as strong as in the United States. These products may
compete with our product candidates in jurisdictions where we do not have any issued patents and our patent claims or other intellectual property rights
may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from so competing. Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending
intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the
enforcement of patents and other intellectual property protection, particularly those relating to biopharmaceuticals, which could make it difficult for us to
stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of competing products against third parties in violation of our proprietary rights generally. The initiation
of proceedings by third parties to challenge the scope or validity of our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in substantial cost and divert our
efforts and attention from other aspects of our business.

Obtaining and maintaining our patent protection depends upon compliance with various procedural, document submission, fee payment and other
requirements imposed by governmental patent agencies, and our patent protection could be reduced or eliminated for non-compliance with these
requirements.

The USPTO and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural, documentary, fee payment and
other provisions during the patent prosecution process and following the issuance of a patent. Our failure to comply with such requirements could result in
abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In such an event,
competitors might be able to enter the market earlier than would otherwise have been the case if our patent were in force, which would have a material
adverse effect on our business.

We may be subject to claims that our employees have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their former employers.

As is common in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries, we employ individuals who were previously employed at other biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. Although no claims against us are currently pending, we may be subject to
claims that these employees or we have inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other proprietary information of their former
employers. Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. If we fail in defending any such claims, in addition to paying monetary damages,
we may lose valuable intellectual property rights or personnel. Even if we are successful in defending against such claims, litigation or other legal
proceedings relating to intellectual property claims may cause us to incur significant expenses, and could distract our technical and management personnel
from their normal responsibilities. In addition, there could be public announcements of the results of hearings, motions or other interim proceedings or
developments, and, if securities analysts or investors perceive these results to be negative, it could have a substantial adverse effect on the price of our
common stock. This type of litigation or proceeding could substantially increase our operating losses and reduce our resources available for development
activities. We may not have sufficient financial or other resources to adequately conduct such litigation or proceedings. Some of our competitors may be
able to sustain the costs of such litigation or proceedings more effectively than we can because of their substantially greater financial resources.
Uncertainties resulting from the initiation and continuation of patent litigation or other intellectual property related proceedings could adversely affect our
ability to compete in the marketplace.
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Risks Related to Marketing Approval and Other Legal Compliance Matters

Even if we complete the necessary preclinical studies and clinical trials, the marketing approval process is expensive, time-consuming and uncertain
and may prevent us, or any future collaborators, from obtaining approvals for the commercialization of some of our product candidates. As a result, we
cannot predict when or if, and in which territories, we, or any future collaborators, will obtain marketing approval to commercialize a product
candidate.

The research, testing, manufacturing, labeling, approval, selling, marketing, promotion and distribution of drugs are subject to extensive regulation
by the FDA and comparable foreign regulatory authorities, whose laws and regulations may differ from country to country. We, and any future
collaborators, are not permitted to market our product candidates in the United States or in other countries until we or they receive approval of an NDA
from the FDA or marketing approval from comparable foreign regulatory authorities. Our product candidates are in early stages of development and are
subject to the risks of failure inherent in drug development. We have not submitted an application for or received marketing approval for ALRN-6924 any
of our future product candidates in the United States or in any other jurisdiction. We have limited experience in conducting and managing the clinical trials
necessary to obtain marketing approvals, including FDA approval of an NDA.

The process of obtaining marketing approvals, both in the United States and abroad, is a lengthy, expensive and uncertain process. It may take many
years, if approval is obtained at all, and can vary substantially based upon a variety of factors, including the type, complexity and novelty of the product
candidates involved. Securing marketing approval requires the submission of extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to
regulatory authorities for each therapeutic indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and efficacy. Securing marketing approval also requires the
submission of information about the product manufacturing process to, and inspection of manufacturing facilities by, the regulatory authorities. The FDA
or other regulatory authorities have substantial discretion and may determine that our product candidates are not safe and effective, only moderately
effective or have undesirable or unintended side effects, toxicities or other characteristics that preclude our obtaining marketing approval or prevent or limit
commercial use. Any marketing approval we ultimately obtain may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the
approved product not commercially viable.

Our product candidates could fail to receive marketing approval for many reasons, including the following:

 • the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with the design or implementation of our clinical trials;

 • we may be unable to demonstrate to the satisfaction of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities that a product candidate is safe
and effective for its proposed indication;

 • the results of clinical trials may not meet the level of statistical significance required by the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities
for approval;

 • we may be unable to demonstrate that a product candidate’s clinical and other benefits outweigh its safety risks;

 • the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may disagree with our interpretation of data from preclinical studies or clinical trials;

 • the data collected from clinical trials of our product candidates may not be sufficient to support the submission of an NDA or other submission
or to obtain marketing approval in the United States or elsewhere;

 • the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve the manufacturing processes or facilities of third-party
manufacturers with which we contract for clinical and commercial supplies;

 • the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may fail to approve any companion diagnostics that may be required in connection with
approval of our therapeutic product candidates; and

 • the approval policies or regulations of the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities may significantly change in a manner rendering
our clinical data insufficient for approval.

This lengthy approval process as well as the unpredictability of clinical trial results may result in our failing to obtain marketing approval to market
ALRN-6924, which would significantly harm our business, results of operations and prospects.

In addition, changes in marketing approval policies during the development period, changes in or the enactment or promulgation of additional
statutes, regulations or guidance or changes in regulatory review for each submitted drug application may cause delays in the approval or rejection of an
application. Regulatory authorities have substantial discretion in the approval process and may refuse to accept any application or may decide that our data
are insufficient for approval and require additional preclinical studies, clinical trials or other studies and testing. In addition, varying interpretations of the
data obtained from preclinical studies and clinical trials could delay, limit or prevent marketing approval of a product candidate. Any marketing approval
we, or any collaborators we may have in the future, ultimately obtain may be limited or subject to restrictions or post-approval commitments that render the
approved drug not commercially viable.
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Any delay in obtaining or failure to obtain required approvals could materially adversely affect our ability or that of any collaborators we may have
to generate revenue from the particular product candidate, which likely would result in significant harm to our financial position and adversely impact our
stock price.

Failure to obtain marketing approval in foreign jurisdictions would prevent our product candidates from being marketed abroad. Any approval we are
granted for our product candidates in the United States would not assure approval of our product candidates in foreign jurisdictions.

In order to market and sell our products in the European Union and many other foreign jurisdictions, we or our potential third-party collaborators
must obtain separate marketing approvals and comply with numerous and varying regulatory requirements. The approval procedure varies among countries
and can involve additional testing. The time required to obtain approval may differ substantially from that required to obtain FDA approval. The regulatory
approval process outside of the United States generally includes all of the risks associated with obtaining FDA approval. In addition, in many countries
outside of the United States, it is required that the product be approved for reimbursement before the product can be approved for sale in that country. We
or our potential third-party collaborators may not obtain approvals from regulatory authorities outside of the United States on a timely basis, if at all.
Approval by the FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions, and approval by one regulatory authority
outside of the United States does not ensure approval by regulatory authorities in other countries or jurisdictions or by the FDA. However, a failure or delay
in obtaining regulatory approval in one country may have a negative effect on the regulatory process in other countries. We may not be able to file for
marketing approvals and may not receive necessary approvals to commercialize our products candidates in any market.

Additionally, we could face heightened risks with respect to seeking marketing approval in the United Kingdom as a result of the recent withdrawal
of the United Kingdom from the European Union.  Pursuant to the formal withdrawal arrangements agreed between the United Kingdom and the European
Union, the United Kingdom withdrew from the European Union, effective December 31, 2020. On December 24, 2020, the United Kingdom and European
Union entered into a Trade and Cooperation Agreement, which set out certain procedures for approval and recognition of medical products in each
jurisdiction. Any delay in obtaining, or an inability to obtain, any marketing approvals, as a result of the Trade and Cooperation Agreement or otherwise,
could prevent us from commercializing any product candidates in the United Kingdom and/or the European Union and restrict our ability to generate
revenue and achieve and sustain profitability. If any of these outcomes occur, we may be forced to restrict or delay efforts to seek regulatory approval in the
United Kingdom and/or European Union for any product candidates, which could significantly and materially harm our business.

We, or any future collaborators, may not be able to obtain orphan drug designation or obtain or maintain orphan drug exclusivity for our product
candidates and, even if we do, that exclusivity may not prevent the FDA or the EMA from approving competing products.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdictions, including the United States and the European Union, may designate drugs for relatively small patient
populations as orphan drugs. Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may designate a product as an orphan drug if it is a drug intended to treat a rare disease
or condition, which is generally defined as a patient population of fewer than 200,000 individuals annually in the United States, or a patient population
greater than 200,000 in the United States where there is no reasonable expectation that the cost of developing the drug will be recovered from sales in the
United States. We may also seek orphan drug designations for ALRN-6924 for other indications, or for other of our product candidates. There can be no
assurances that we will be able to obtain such designations.

In the United States, orphan drug designation entitles a party to financial incentives such as opportunities for grant funding towards clinical trial
costs, tax advantages and user-fee waivers. In addition, if a product that has orphan drug designation subsequently receives the first FDA approval for the
disease for which it has such designation, the product is entitled to orphan drug exclusivity. Orphan drug exclusivity in the United States provides that the
FDA may not approve any other applications, including a full NDA, to market the same drug for the same indication for seven years, except in limited
circumstances. The applicable exclusivity period is ten years in Europe. The European exclusivity period can be reduced to six years if a drug no longer
meets the criteria for orphan drug designation or if the drug is sufficiently profitable so that market exclusivity is no longer justified.
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Even if we, or any future collaborators, obtain orphan drug designation for a product candidate as we have obtained for ALRN-6924 for AML, we,
or they, may not be able to obtain or maintain orphan drug exclusivity for that product candidate. We may not be the first to obtain marketing approval of
any product candidate for which we have obtained orphan drug designation for the orphan-designated indication due to the uncertainties associated with
developing pharmaceutical products. In addition, exclusive marketing rights in the United States may be limited if we seek approval for an indication
broader than the orphan-designated indication or may be lost if the FDA later determines that the request for designation was materially defective or if we
are unable to assure sufficient quantities of the product to meet the needs of patients with the rare disease or condition. Further, even if we, or any future
collaborators, obtain orphan drug exclusivity for a product, that exclusivity may not effectively protect the product from competition because different
drugs with different active moieties may be approved for the same condition.

Even after an orphan drug is approved, the FDA can subsequently approve a different product for the same condition if the FDA concludes that the
later product is clinically superior in that it is shown to be safer, more effective or makes a major contribution to patient care or the manufacturer of the
product with orphan exclusivity is unable to maintain sufficient product quantity. Orphan drug designation neither shortens the development time or
regulatory review time of a drug nor gives the drug any advantage in the regulatory review or approval process. The FDA may reevaluate the Orphan Drug
Act and its regulations and policies. We do not know if, when, or how the FDA may change the orphan drug regulations and policies in the future, and it is
uncertain how any changes might affect our business.

Even if we, or any collaborators we may have in the future, obtain marketing approvals for our product candidates, the terms of approvals and ongoing
regulation of our drugs could require substantial expenditure of resources and may limit how we, or they, manufacture and market our drugs, which
could materially impair our ability to generate revenue.

Once marketing approval has been granted, an approved drug and its manufacturer and marketer are subject to ongoing review and extensive
regulation. These requirements include submissions of safety and other post-marketing information and reports, registration and listing requirements,
requirements relating to manufacturing, quality control, quality assurance and corresponding maintenance of records and documents, requirements
regarding the distribution of samples to physicians and recordkeeping. We, and any collaborators we may have in the future, must also comply with
requirements concerning advertising and promotion for any of our product candidates for which we or they obtain marketing approval. Promotional
communications with respect to prescription drugs are subject to a variety of legal and regulatory restrictions and must be consistent with the information in
the drug’s approved labeling. Thus, we, and any collaborators we may have in the future, may not be able to promote any drugs we develop for indications
or uses for which they are not approved.

The FDA may also impose requirements for costly post-marketing studies or clinical trials and surveillance to monitor the safety or efficacy of a
drug. For example, the approval may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which the drug may be marketed or to the conditions of approval,
including the requirement to implement a Risk Evaluation and Mitigation Strategy, which could include requirements for a restricted distribution system.
Manufacturers of approved drugs and those manufacturers’ facilities are also required to comply with extensive FDA requirements, including ensuring that
quality control and manufacturing procedures conform to cGMPs, which include requirements relating to quality control and quality assurance as well as
the corresponding maintenance of records and documentation and reporting requirements. We, our contract manufacturers, our future collaborators and
their contract manufacturers could be subject to periodic unannounced inspections by the FDA to monitor and ensure compliance with cGMPs.

Accordingly, assuming we, or our future collaborators, receive marketing approval for one or more of our product candidates, we, and our future
collaborators, and our and their contract manufacturers will continue to expend time, money and effort in all areas of regulatory compliance, including
manufacturing, production, product surveillance and quality control.

If we, and our future collaborators, are not able to comply with post-approval regulatory requirements, we, and our future collaborators, could have
the marketing approvals for our drugs withdrawn by regulatory authorities and our, or our future collaborators’, ability to market any future drugs could be
limited, which could adversely affect our ability to achieve or sustain profitability. Further, the cost of compliance with post-approval regulations may have
a negative effect on our operating results and financial condition.

The FDA’s and other regulatory authorities’ policies may change and additional government regulations may be enacted that could prevent, limit or
delay regulatory approval of our product candidates, which would impact our ability to generate revenue.

In December 2016, the 21st Century Cures Act, or Cures Act, was signed into law. The Cures Act, among other things, is intended to modernize the
regulation of drugs and spur innovation, but its ultimate implementation is unclear. If we are slow or unable to adapt to changes in existing requirements or
the adoption of new requirements or policies, or if we are not able to maintain regulatory compliance, we may lose any marketing approval that we may
have obtained and we may not achieve or sustain profitability, which would adversely affect our business, prospects, financial condition and results of
operations.
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We also cannot predict the likelihood, nature or extent of government regulation that may arise from future legislation or administrative or executive
action, either in the United States or abroad. For example, certain policies of the current administration may impact our business and industry. Namely, the
current administration has taken several executive actions, including the issuance of a number of executive orders, that could impose significant burdens
on, or otherwise materially delay, the FDA’s ability to engage in routine regulatory and oversight activities such as implementing statutes through
rulemaking, issuance of guidance and review and approval of marketing applications.

ALRN-6924 and any of our future product candidates for which we, or our future collaborators, obtain marketing approval in the future will be subject
to substantial penalties if we, or they, fail to comply with regulatory requirements or if we, or they, experience unanticipated problems with our drugs
following approval.

ALRN-6924 and any of our future product candidates for which we, or our future collaborators, obtain marketing approval in the future, will be
subject to continual review by the FDA and other regulatory authorities.

The FDA and other agencies, including the Department of Justice, or the DOJ, closely regulate and monitor the post-approval marketing and
promotion of drugs to ensure that they are manufactured, marketed and distributed only for the approved indications and in accordance with the provisions
of the approved labeling. The FDA imposes stringent restrictions on manufacturers’ communications regarding off-label use and if we, or our future
collaborators, do not market any of our product candidates for which we, or they, receive marketing approval for only their approved indications, we, or
they, may be subject to warnings or enforcement action for off-label marketing. Violation of the FDCA and other statutes, including the False Claims Act,
relating to the promotion and advertising of prescription drugs may lead to investigations or allegations of violations of federal and state healthcare fraud
and abuse laws and state consumer protection laws.

In addition, later discovery of previously unknown adverse events or other problems with our drugs or their manufacturers or manufacturing
processes, or failure to comply with regulatory requirements, may yield various results, including:

 • litigation involving patients taking our drug;

 • restrictions on such drugs, manufacturers or manufacturing processes;

 • restrictions on the labeling or marketing of a drug;

 • restrictions on drug distribution or use;

 • requirements to conduct post-marketing studies or clinical trials;

 • warning letters or untitled letters;

 • withdrawal of the drugs from the market;

 • refusal to approve pending applications or supplements to approved applications that we submit;

 • recall of drugs;

 • fines, restitution or disgorgement of profits or revenues;

 • suspension or withdrawal of marketing approvals;

 • damage to relationships with any potential collaborators;

 • restrictions on coverage by third-party payors;

 • unfavorable press coverage and damage to our reputation;

 • refusal to permit the import or export of drugs;

 • drug seizure; or

 • injunctions or the imposition of civil or criminal penalties.

Recently enacted and future legislation may increase the difficulty and cost for us and our future collaborators to obtain marketing approval of and
commercialize our product candidates and affect the prices we, or they, may obtain for any products that are approved in the United States or foreign
jurisdictions.

In the United States and some foreign jurisdictions, there have been a number of legislative and regulatory changes and proposed changes regarding
the healthcare system that could prevent or delay marketing approval of our product candidates, restrict or regulate post-approval activities and affect our
ability, or the ability of any future collaborators, to profitably sell any product candidates for which we, or they, obtain marketing approval. We expect that
current laws, as well as other healthcare reform measures
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that may be adopted in the future, may result in more rigorous coverage criteria and in additional downward pressure on the price that we, or any
collaborators, may receive for any approved products. If reimbursement of our products is unavailable or limited in scope, our business could be materially
harmed.

In the United States, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003, or Medicare Modernization Act, changed the
way Medicare covers and pays for pharmaceutical products. The legislation expanded Medicare coverage for drug purchases by the elderly and introduced
a new reimbursement methodology based on average sales prices for physician-administered drugs. In addition, this legislation provided authority for
limiting the number of drugs that will be covered in any therapeutic class. Cost reduction initiatives and other provisions of this legislation could decrease
the coverage and price that we, or any future collaborators, may receive for any approved products. While the Medicare Modernization Act applies only to
drug benefits for Medicare beneficiaries, private payors often follow Medicare coverage policy and payment limitations in setting their own reimbursement
rates. Therefore, any reduction in reimbursement that results from the Medicare Modernization Act may result in a similar reduction in payments from
private payors.

In March 2010, President Obama signed into law the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education
Affordability Reconciliation Act, or collectively the ACA.  In August 2011, the Budget Control Act of 2011, among other things, created measures for
spending reductions by Congress. This legislation resulted in aggregate reductions to Medicare payments to providers of up to 2% per fiscal year, which
will remain in effect through 2030 under the CARES Act. The American Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012, among other things, reduced Medicare payments to
several providers and increased the statute of limitations period for the government to recover overpayments to providers from three to five years. These
laws may result in additional reductions in Medicare and other healthcare funding and otherwise affect the prices we may obtain for any of our product
candidates for which we may obtain regulatory approval or the frequency with which any such product candidate is prescribed or used. Since enactment of
the ACA, there have been, and continue to be, numerous legal challenges and Congressional actions to repeal and replace provisions of the law. For
example, with enactment of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, or the TCJA, which was signed by President Trump on December 22, 2017, Congress
repealed the “individual mandate.” The repeal of this provision, which requires most Americans to carry a minimal level of health insurance, became
effective in 2019.

On November 10, 2020, the Supreme Court heard oral arguments. On February 10, 2021, the Biden Administration withdrew the federal
government’s support for overturning the ACA. A ruling by the Supreme Court is expected sometime this year.

The Trump Administration also took executive actions to undermine or delay implementation of the ACA, including directing federal agencies with
authorities and responsibilities under the ACA to waive, defer, grant exemptions from, or delay the implementation of any provision of the ACA that would
impose a fiscal or regulatory burden on states, individuals, healthcare providers, health insurers, or manufacturers of pharmaceuticals or medical devices.
On January 28, 2021, however, President Biden issued a new Executive Order which directs federal agencies to reconsider rules and other policies that
limit Americans’ access to health care, and consider actions that will protect and strengthen that access. This Executive Order also directs the U.S.
Department of Health and Human Services to create a special enrollment period for the Health Insurance Marketplace in response to the COVID-19
pandemic. We cannot predict how federal agencies will respond to such Executive Orders.

Litigation and legislation over the ACA are likely to continue, with unpredictable and uncertain results.

The costs of prescription pharmaceuticals in the United States and foreign jurisdictions is subject to considerable legislative and executive actions and
could impact the prices we obtain for our drug products, if and when approved.

The costs of prescription pharmaceuticals have also been the subject of considerable discussion in the United States. To date, there have been several
recent U.S. congressional inquiries and proposed and enacted state and federal legislation designed to, among other things, bring more transparency to drug
pricing, review the relationship between pricing and manufacturer patient programs, reduce the costs of drugs under Medicare and reform government
program reimbursement methodologies for products. To those ends, President Trump issued several executive orders intended to lower the costs of
prescription drug products. Certain of these orders are reflected in recently promulgated regulations, including an interim final rule implementing President
Trump’s most favored nation model, but such final rule is currently subject to a nationwide preliminary injunction.  It remains to be seen whether these
orders and resulting regulations will remain in force during the Biden Administration.  Further, on September 24, 2020, the Trump Administration finalized
a rulemaking allowing states or certain other non-federal government entities to submit importation program proposals to the FDA for review and approval.
Applicants are required to demonstrate their importation plans pose no additional risk to public health and safety and will result in significant cost savings
for consumers.  The FDA has issued draft guidance that would allow manufacturers to import their own FDA-approved drugs that are authorized for sale in
other countries (multi-market approved products).

At the state level, individual states are increasingly aggressive in passing legislation and implementing regulations designed to control
pharmaceutical and biological product pricing, including price or patient reimbursement constraints, discounts, restrictions on certain product access and
marketing cost disclosure and transparency measures, and, in some cases, designed to encourage importation from other countries and bulk purchasing. In
addition, regional health care authorities and individual hospitals are increasingly using bidding procedures to determine what pharmaceutical products and
which suppliers will be included in their prescription drug and other health care programs. These measures could reduce the ultimate demand for our
products, once approved, or put pressure on our product pricing. We expect that additional state and federal healthcare reform measures will be adopted in
the
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future, any of which could limit the amounts that federal and state governments will pay for healthcare products and services, which could result in reduced
demand for our product candidates or additional pricing pressures.

We may seek to obtain certain regulatory designations for ALRN-6924. We may not receive such designations, and even if we do, such designation may
not lead to a faster development or regulatory review or approval process.

We may seek to obtain breakthrough therapy designation, fast track designation, or priority review designation for ALRN-6924. A breakthrough
therapy is defined as a drug that is intended, alone or in combination with one or more other drugs, to treat a serious condition, and preliminary clinical
evidence indicates that the drug may demonstrate substantial improvement over existing therapies on one or more clinically significant endpoints, such as
substantial treatment effects observed early in clinical development. FDA fast track designation is possible for drugs intended for the treatment of a serious
condition and nonclinical or clinical data demonstrate the potential to address unmet medical need for this condition. In addition, if the FDA determines that
a product candidate offers a treatment for a serious condition and, if approved, the product would provide a significant improvement in safety or effectiveness,
the FDA may designate the product candidate for priority review. Drugs designated as breakthrough therapies by the FDA may also be eligible for priority
review if supported by clinical data at the time the NDA is submitted to the FDA.

Such regulatory designations are within the discretion of the FDA, and the FDA may not approve any application that we submit. Even if we were to
obtain breakthrough designation or fast track designation, the FDA may subsequently withdraw such designation if the FDA determines that the designation no
longer meets the conditions for qualification or is no longer supported by data from our clinical development program. In addition, receipt of any such
designations may not result in a faster development or regulatory review or approval process compared to drugs considered for approval under conventional
FDA procedures, and does not assure ultimate approval by the FDA of any drug candidates so designated.   

Our relationships with healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors will be subject to applicable anti-kickback, fraud and abuse and other
healthcare laws and regulations, which could expose us to penalties, including criminal sanctions, civil penalties, contractual damages, reputational
harm and diminished profits and future earnings.

Our relationships with healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors will subject us to additional healthcare statutory and regulatory
requirements and enforcement by the federal government and the states and foreign governments in which we conduct our business. Our future
arrangements with healthcare providers, physicians and third-party payors and patients may expose us to broadly applicable fraud and abuse and other
healthcare laws and regulations that may constrain the business or financial arrangements and relationships through which we market, sell and distribute
our products for which we obtain marketing approval. Restrictions under applicable federal and state healthcare laws and regulations include the following:

 • Anti-Kickback Statute—the federal anti-kickback statute prohibits, among other things, persons from knowingly and willfully soliciting,
offering, receiving or providing any remuneration, directly or indirectly, in cash or in kind, to induce or reward, or in return for, either the
referral of an individual for, or the purchase, order or recommendation or arranging of, any good, facility, item or service, for which payment
may be made, in whole or in part, by a federal healthcare program, such as Medicare and Medicaid.

 • False Claims Act—the federal civil and criminal false claims laws, including the civil False Claims Act, and civil monetary penalties laws,
which prohibit individuals or entities from, among other things, knowingly presenting, or causing to be presented, to the federal government,
claims for payment that are false, fictitious or fraudulent or knowingly making, using or causing to made or used a false record or statement to
avoid, decrease or conceal an obligation to pay money to the federal government;

 • HIPAA—the federal Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996, or HIPAA, which created additional federal criminal laws
that prohibit, among other things, knowingly and willfully executing, or attempting to execute, a scheme to defraud any healthcare benefit
program or making false statements relating to healthcare matters;

 • HIPAA Privacy Provisions—as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act, and their respective
implementing regulations, including the Final Omnibus Rule published in January 2013, which impose obligations, including mandatory
contractual terms, with respect to safeguarding the privacy, security and transmission of individually identifiable health information
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 • Transparency Requirements—the federal transparency requirements known as the federal Physician Payments Sunshine Act, under the Patient
Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act, or collectively the Affordable Care Act,
which requires certain manufacturers of drugs, devices, biologics and medical supplies to report annually to the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid
Services, or CMS, within the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, information related to payments and other transfers of value made
by that entity to physicians and teaching hospitals, as well as ownership and investment interests held by physicians and their immediate family
members; and

 • Analogous State and Foreign Laws—analogous state and foreign fraud and abuse laws and regulations, such as state anti-kickback and false
claims laws, can apply to sales or marketing arrangements and claims involving healthcare items or services and are reimbursed by non-
governmental third-party payors, including private insurers.

Some state laws require pharmaceutical companies to comply with the pharmaceutical industry’s voluntary compliance guidelines and the relevant
compliance guidance promulgated by the federal government and require drug manufacturers to report information related to payments and other transfers
of value to physicians and other healthcare providers or marketing expenditures and pricing information. State and foreign laws also govern the privacy and
security of health information in some circumstances, many of which differ from each other in significant ways and often are not preempted by HIPAA,
thus complicating compliance efforts.

Efforts to ensure that our business arrangements with third parties will comply with applicable healthcare laws and regulations will involve
substantial costs. It is possible that governmental authorities will conclude that our business practices may not comply with current or future statutes,
regulations or case law involving applicable fraud and abuse or other healthcare laws and regulations. If our operations are found to be in violation of any
of these laws or any other governmental regulations that may apply to us, we may be subject to significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties,
damages, fines, imprisonment, exclusion of drugs from government funded healthcare programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, and the curtailment or
restructuring of our operations. Although effective compliance programs can mitigate the risk of investigation and prosecution for violations of these laws,
these risks cannot be entirely eliminated. Any action against us for an alleged or suspected violation could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and
could divert our management’s attention from the operation of our business, even if our defense is successful. If any of the physicians or other healthcare
providers or entities with whom we expect to do business is found to be not in compliance with applicable laws, it may be costly to us in terms of money,
time and resources, and they may be subject to criminal, civil or administrative sanctions, including exclusions from government-funded healthcare
programs.

Our employees may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including non-compliance with regulatory standards and requirements, which
could cause significant liability for us and harm our reputation.

We are exposed to the risk of employee fraud or other misconduct, including intentional failures to comply with FDA regulations or similar regulations
of comparable foreign regulatory authorities, provide accurate information to the FDA or comparable foreign regulatory authorities, comply with
manufacturing standards we may establish, comply with federal and state healthcare fraud and abuse laws and regulations and similar laws and regulations
established and enforced by comparable foreign regulatory authorities, report financial information or data accurately or disclose unauthorized activities to us.
In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent fraud,
kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing, discounting, marketing and
promotion, sales commission, incentive programs and other business arrangements. Employee misconduct could also involve the improper use of information
obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and serious harm to our reputation. It is not always possible to identify and
deter employee misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or
losses or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to be in compliance with such laws, standards
or regulations. If any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a
significant impact on our business and results of operations, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions.

If we fail to comply with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, we could become subject to fines or penalties or incur costs that could
have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are subject to numerous environmental, health and safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures and the
handling, use, storage, treatment and disposal of hazardous materials and wastes. Our operations involve the use of hazardous and flammable materials,
including chemicals and biological materials. Our operations also produce hazardous waste products. We generally contract with third parties for the
disposal of these materials and wastes. We cannot eliminate the risk of contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of contamination or injury
resulting from our use of hazardous materials, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We also
could incur significant costs associated with civil or criminal fines and penalties.
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Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to cover us for costs and expenses we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting
from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against potential liabilities. We do not maintain insurance for
environmental liability or toxic tort claims that may be asserted against us in connection with our storage or disposal of hazardous and flammable materials,
including chemicals and biological materials.

In addition, we may incur substantial costs in order to comply with current or future environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. These
current or future laws and regulations may impair our research, development or commercialization efforts. Failure to comply with these laws and
regulations also may result in substantial fines, penalties or other sanctions.

Laws and regulations governing any international operations we may have in the future may preclude us from developing, manufacturing and selling
certain product candidates outside of the United States and require us to develop and implement costly compliance programs.

If we expand our operations outside of the United States, we must comply with numerous laws and regulations in each jurisdiction in which we plan
to operate. The creation and implementation of international business practices compliance programs is costly and such programs are difficult to enforce,
particularly where reliance on third parties is required.

The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, or FCPA, prohibits any U.S. individual or business from paying, offering, authorizing payment or offering of
anything of value, directly or indirectly, to any foreign official, political party or candidate for the purpose of influencing any act or decision of the foreign
entity in order to assist the individual or business in obtaining or retaining business. The FCPA also obligates companies whose securities are listed in the
United States to comply with certain accounting provisions requiring the company to maintain books and records that accurately and fairly reflect all
transactions of the corporation, including international subsidiaries, and to devise and maintain an adequate system of internal accounting controls for
international operations. The anti-bribery provisions of the FCPA are enforced primarily by the DOJ. The Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, is
involved with enforcement of the books and records provisions of the FCPA.

Compliance with the FCPA is expensive and difficult, particularly in countries in which corruption is a recognized problem. In addition, the FCPA presents
particular challenges in the pharmaceutical industry, because, in many countries, hospitals are operated by the government, and doctors and other hospital
employees are considered foreign officials. Certain payments to hospitals in connection with clinical trials and other work have been deemed to be improper
payments to government officials and have led to FCPA enforcement actions.

Various laws, regulations and executive orders also restrict the use and dissemination outside of the United States, or the sharing with certain non-
U.S. nationals, of information classified for national security purposes, as well as certain products and technical data relating to those products. If we
expand our presence outside of the United States, it will require us to dedicate additional resources to comply with these laws, and these laws may preclude
us from developing, manufacturing, or selling certain drugs and product candidates outside of the United States, which could limit our growth potential and
increase our development costs.

The failure to comply with laws governing international business practices may result in substantial penalties, including suspension or debarment from
government contracting. Violation of the FCPA can result in significant civil and criminal penalties. Indictment alone under the FCPA can lead to suspension of
the right to do business with the U.S. government until the pending claims are resolved. Conviction of a violation of the FCPA can result in long-term
disqualification as a government contractor. The termination of a government contract or relationship as a result of our failure to satisfy any of our obligations
under laws governing international business practices would have a negative impact on our operations and harm our reputation and ability to procure
government contracts. The SEC also may suspend or bar issuers from trading securities on U.S. exchanges for violations of the FCPA’s accounting provisions.

Compliance with global privacy and data security requirements could result in additional costs and liabilities to us or inhibit our ability to collect and
process data globally, and the failure to comply with such requirements could subject us to significant fines and penalties, which may have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations.

The regulatory framework for the collection, use, safeguarding, sharing, transfer and other processing of information worldwide is rapidly evolving
and is likely to remain uncertain for the foreseeable future. Globally, virtually every jurisdiction in which we operate has established its own data security and
privacy frameworks with which we must comply. For example, the collection, use, disclosure, transfer, or other processing of personal data regarding
individuals in the European Union, including personal health data, is subject to the EU General Data Protection Regulation, or the GDPR, which took effect
across all member states of the European Economic Area, or EEA, in May 2018. The GDPR is wide-ranging in scope and imposes numerous requirements on
companies that process personal data, including requirements relating to processing health and other sensitive data, obtaining consent of the individuals to
whom the personal data relates, providing information to individuals regarding data processing activities, implementing safeguards to protect the security and
confidentiality of personal data, providing notification of data breaches, and taking certain measures when engaging third-party processors. The GDPR
increases our obligations with respect to clinical trials conducted in the EEA by expanding the definition of personal data to include coded data and requiring
changes to informed consent practices and more detailed notices for clinical trial subjects and investigators. In addition, the GDPR also imposes strict rules on
the transfer of personal data to countries outside the European Union, including the United States and, as a result, increases the scrutiny that clinical trial sites
located in the EEA should apply to transfers of personal data from such sites to countries that are considered to lack an adequate level of data protection, such
as the
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United States. The GDPR also permits data protection authorities to require destruction of improperly gathered or used personal information and/or impose
substantial fines for violations of the GDPR, which can be up to four percent of global revenues or €20 million, whichever is greater, and it also confers a
private right of action on data subjects and consumer associations to lodge complaints with supervisory authorities, seek judicial remedies, and obtain
compensation for damages resulting from violations of the GDPR. In addition, the GDPR provides that EU member states may make their own further laws
and regulations limiting the processing of personal data, including genetic, biometric or health data.

Similar actions are either in place or under way in the United States. There are a broad variety of data protection laws that are applicable to our
activities, and a wide range of enforcement agencies at both the state and federal levels that can review companies for privacy and data security concerns based
on general consumer protection laws. The Federal Trade Commission and state Attorneys General all are aggressive in reviewing privacy and data security
protections for consumers. New laws also are being considered at both the state and federal levels. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act, which
went into effect on January 1, 2020, is creating similar risks and obligations as those created by the GDPR, though the California Consumer Privacy Act does
exempt certain information collected as part of a clinical trial subject to the Federal Policy for the Protection of Human Subjects (the Common Rule). Many
other states are considering similar legislation. A broad range of legislative measures also have been introduced at the federal level. Accordingly, failure to
comply with federal and state laws (both those currently in effect and future legislation) regarding privacy and security of personal information could expose us
to fines and penalties under such laws. There also is the threat of consumer class actions related to these laws and the overall protection of personal data.

Given the breadth and depth of changes in data protection obligations, preparing for and complying with these requirements is rigorous and time
intensive and requires significant resources and a review of our technologies, systems and practices, as well as those of any third-party collaborators, service
providers, contractors or consultants that process or transfer personal data collected in the European Union. The GDPR and other changes in laws or regulations
associated with the enhanced protection of certain types of sensitive data, such as healthcare data or other personal information from our clinical trials, could
require us to change our business practices and put in place additional compliance mechanisms, may interrupt or delay our development, regulatory and
commercialization activities and increase our cost of doing business, and could lead to government enforcement actions, private litigation and significant fines
and penalties against us and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. Similarly, failure to comply with
federal and state laws regarding privacy and security of personal information could expose us to fines and penalties under such laws. Even if we are not
determined to have violated these laws, government investigations into these issues typically require the expenditure of significant resources and generate
negative publicity, which could harm our reputation and our business.

Risks Related to Employee Matters and Managing Growth

Our future success depends on our ability to retain our Chief Executive Officer and other key executives, and to attract, retain and motivate qualified
personnel.

We are highly dependent on Manuel Aivado, M.D., Ph.D., our Chief Executive Officer, as well as the other principal members of our management
and scientific teams. Our agreements with Dr. Aivado and other key employees do not prevent them from terminating their employment with us at any
time. Replacing our executives or other key employees may be extremely difficult, and may take an extended period of time due to the intense competition
for qualified personnel in our industry and the limited number of individuals who have the breadth of skills and experience required to develop, gain
regulatory approval of, and commercialize products successfully. We do not maintain “key person” insurance for any of our executives or other employees.
Accordingly, the loss of the services of Dr. Aivado or any other senior member of our management and scientific teams could impede the achievement of
our research, development and commercialization objectives, and harm our business.

Recruiting and retaining qualified personnel in the scientific and clinical fields is also critical to our success. The pool of qualified candidates is
limited, and competition in the life sciences industry, particularly in the Greater Boston area, is intense. We also experience competition for the hiring of
scientific and clinical personnel from universities and research institutions. We may be unable to hire, train, retain or motivate additional key personnel on
acceptable terms given the degree of competition for similar personnel. In addition, we rely on consultants and advisors, including scientific and clinical
advisors, to assist us in formulating our research and development and commercialization strategy. Our consultants and advisors may be employed by
employers other than us and may have commitments under consulting or advisory contracts with other entities that may limit their availability to us.

We expect to expand our development and regulatory capabilities and potentially our sales and marketing capabilities, and as a result, we may
encounter difficulties in managing our growth, which could disrupt our operations.

In order to conduct later stage clinical trials and prepare for commercialization, we would need to expand our organization significantly through the
hiring of a number of additional employees, particularly in the areas of drug development, clinical operations, regulatory affairs and, potentially, sales and
marketing. To manage this future growth, we must continue to implement and improve our managerial, operational and financial systems, periodically
assess the adequacy of our facilities, and continue to recruit and train additional qualified personnel. Due to our limited financial resources and the limited
experience of our leadership team in managing a company’s growth, we may not be able to effectively manage an expansion of our operations or recruit
and train additional qualified personnel. In addition, a physical expansion of our operations may lead to significant costs and may divert our
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management and business development resources. Any inability to manage growth could delay the execution of our business plans or disrupt our
operations.

Our internal computer systems, or those of our collaborators or other contractors or consultants, may fail or suffer security breaches, which could
result in a material disruption of our product development programs or overall business operations.

Despite our security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our current and any future collaborators and other contractors or
consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical
failures. While we have not experienced any such material system failure, accident or security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause
interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our development programs and our business operations, whether due to a loss of
our trade secrets or other proprietary information or other similar disruptions. For example, the loss of clinical trial data from completed or future clinical
trials could result in delays in our regulatory approval efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any
disruption or security breach were to result in a loss of, or damage to, our data or applications, or inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary
information, we could incur liability, our competitive position could be harmed, and the further development and commercialization of our product
candidates could be delayed or halted. In addition, we may not have adequate insurance coverage to provide compensation for any losses associated with
such events.

We could be subject to risks caused by misappropriation, misuse, leakage, falsification or intentional or accidental release or loss of information
maintained in our information systems and networks, including personal information of our employees. In addition, outside parties may attempt to
penetrate our systems or those of our vendors or fraudulently induce our employees or employees of our vendors to disclose sensitive information to gain
access to our data. Like other companies, we may experience threats to our data and systems, including malicious codes and viruses, and other cyber-
attacks. The number and complexity of these threats continue to increase over time. If a material breach of our security or that of our vendors occurs, the
market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed, we could lose business and our reputation and credibility could be
damaged. We could also be required to expend significant amounts of money and other resources to repair or replace information systems or networks.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Provisions in our corporate charter documents and under Delaware law could make an acquisition of us, which may be beneficial to our stockholders,
more difficult and may prevent attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management.

Provisions in our certificate of incorporation and our bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger, acquisition or other change in control of us
that stockholders may consider favorable, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a premium for shares of common stock.
These provisions could also limit the price that investors might be willing to pay in the future for shares of our common stock, thereby depressing the
market price of our common stock. In addition, because our board of directors is responsible for appointing the members of our management team, these
provisions may frustrate or prevent any attempts by our stockholders to replace or remove our current management by making it more difficult for
stockholders to replace members of our board of directors. Among other things, these provisions:

 • establish a classified board of directors such that not all members of the board are elected at one time;

 • allow the authorized number of our directors to be changed only by resolution of our board of directors;

 • limit the manner in which stockholders can remove directors from the board;

 • establish advance notice requirements for stockholder proposals that can be acted on at stockholder meetings and nominations to our board of
directors;

 • require that stockholder actions must be effected at a duly called stockholder meeting and prohibit actions by our stockholders by written
consent;

 • limit who may call stockholder meetings;

 • authorize our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval, which could be used to institute a “poison pill” that
would work to dilute the stock ownership of a potential hostile acquirer, effectively preventing acquisitions that have not been approved by
our board of directors; and

 • require the approval of the holders of at least 75% of the votes that all our stockholders would be entitled to cast to amend or repeal certain
provisions of our charter or bylaws.

Moreover, because we are incorporated in Delaware, we are governed by the provisions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law,
which prohibits a person who owns in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock from merging or combining
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with us for a period of three years after the date of the transaction in which the person acquired in excess of 15% of our outstanding voting stock, unless the
merger or combination is approved in a prescribed manner.

An active trading market for our common stock may not be sustained.

Our shares of common stock began trading on The Nasdaq Global Market June 29, 2017 and transferred to The Nasdaq Capital Market, effective
December 30, 2019. Given the limited trading history of our common stock, there is a risk that an active trading market for our shares may not be
sustained, which could put downward pressure on the market price of our common stock and thereby affect the ability of stockholders to sell their shares.
An inactive trading market for our common stock may also impair our ability to raise capital to continue to fund our operations by selling shares and may
impair our ability to acquire other companies or technologies by using our shares as consideration.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business or if they publish negative evaluations of our stock, the price of our stock
could decline.

The trading market for our common stock relies in part on the research and reports that industry or financial analysts publish about us or our business. If
few analysts commence, or if analysts discontinue, coverage of us, the trading price of our stock would likely decrease. If one or more of the analysts covering
our business downgrade their evaluations of our stock, the price of our stock could decline. If one or more of these analysts cease to cover our stock, we could
lose visibility in the market for our stock, which in turn could cause our stock price to decline.

The price of our common stock is volatile and may fluctuate substantially, which could result in substantial losses for our stockholders.

Our stock price is volatile. During the period from June 28, 2017 to May 7, 2021, the closing price of our common stock ranged from a high of
$14.91 per share to a low of $0.29 per share. The stock market in general and the market for pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies in particular
have experienced extreme volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies. As a result of this volatility, our
stockholders may not be able to sell their shares at or above the price they paid for their shares. The market price for our common stock may be influenced
by many factors, including:

 • the timing and results of clinical trials of ALRN-6924 and any of our other product candidates that may develop;

 • regulatory actions with respect to our product candidates or our competitors’ products and product candidates;

 • the effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on both the healthcare system and the patient population;

 • the success of existing or new competitive products or technologies;

 • announcements by us or our competitors of significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures, collaborations or capital
commitments;

 • establishment or termination of collaborations for our product candidates or development programs;

 • failure or discontinuation of any of our development programs;

 • results of clinical trials of product candidates of our competitors;

 • regulatory or legal developments in the United States and other countries;

 • developments or disputes concerning patent applications, issued patents or other proprietary rights;

 • the recruitment or departure of key personnel;

 • the level of expenses related to ALRN-6924 or development programs;

 • the results of our efforts to discover, develop, acquire or in-license additional product candidates or products;

 • actual or anticipated changes in estimates as to financial results or development timelines;

 • announcement or expectation of additional financing efforts;

 • sales of our common stock by us, our insiders or other stockholders;

 • variations in our financial results or those of companies that are perceived to be similar to us;

 • changes in estimates or recommendations by securities analysts, if any, that cover our stock;

 • changes in the structure of healthcare payment systems;

 • market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology sectors;
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 • general economic, industry and market conditions; and

 • the other factors described in this “Risk Factors” section.

We could be subject to securities class action litigation.

In the past, securities class action litigation has often been brought against a company following a decline in the market price of its securities. This
risk is especially relevant for us because pharmaceutical companies have experienced significant stock price volatility in recent years. If we face such
litigation, it could result in substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and our resources, which could harm our business.

We are an “emerging growth company,” and a “smaller reporting company” and the reduced disclosure requirements applicable to emerging growth
companies and smaller reporting companies may make our common stock less attractive to investors.

We are an “emerging growth company,” as defined in the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012, or the JOBS Act. We may remain an emerging
growth company until December 31, 2022, or until such earlier time as we have more than $1.07 billion in annual revenue, the market value of our stock held
by non-affiliates is more than $700 million or we issue more than $1 billion of non-convertible debt over a three-year period. For so long as we remain an
emerging growth company, we are permitted and intend to rely on exemptions from certain disclosure requirements that are applicable to other public
companies that are not emerging growth companies. These exemptions include not being required to comply with the auditor attestation requirements of
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, not being required to comply with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public
Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about
the audit and the financial statements, reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation and exemptions from the requirements of holding a
nonbinding advisory vote on executive compensation and stockholder approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved.

We are also a smaller reporting company, and we will remain a smaller reporting company until the fiscal year following the determination that our
voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates is more than $250 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter, or our
annual revenues are less than $100 million during the most recently completed fiscal year and our voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates
is more than $700 million measured on the last business day of our second fiscal quarter. Similar to emerging growth companies, smaller reporting companies
are able to provide simplified executive compensation disclosure, are exempt from the auditor attestation requirements of Section 404 and have certain other
reduced disclosure obligations, including, among other things, being required to provide only two years of audited financial statements and not being required
to provide selected financial data, supplemental financial information or risk factors.

We have elected to take advantage of certain of the reduced reporting obligations. Investors may find our common stock less attractive as a result of our
reliance on these exemptions. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less active trading market for our common
stock and our stock price may be more volatile.

Our management is required to devote substantial time to new compliance initiatives. Any failure to maintain effective internal control over our
financial reporting could result in an adverse reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of confidence in the reliability of our financial statements.

As a public company, we incur, and particularly after we are no longer an “emerging growth company” or a “smaller reporting company” we will incur,
significant legal, accounting and other expenses that we did not incur as a private company. In addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and rules subsequently
implemented by the SEC and Nasdaq have imposed various requirements on public companies, including establishment and maintenance of effective
disclosure and financial controls and corporate governance practices. We have had to hire additional accounting, finance, and other personnel in connection
with our becoming a public company, and our efforts to comply with the requirements of being a public company, and our management and other personnel
devote a substantial amount of time towards maintaining compliance with these requirements. These requirements increase our legal and financial compliance
costs and will make some activities more time-consuming and costly.

In addition, Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 requires us, on an annual basis, to review and evaluate our internal controls. To maintain
compliance with Section 404, we are required to document and evaluate our internal control over financial reporting, which is both costly and challenging.
We will need to continue to dedicate internal resources, continue to engage outside consultants, and follow a detailed work plan to continue to assess and
document the adequacy of internal control over financial reporting, continue to improve control processes as appropriate, validate through testing that
controls are functioning as documented, and implement a continuous reporting and improvement process for internal control over financial reporting. There
is a risk that neither we nor our independent registered public accounting firm will be able to conclude within the prescribed timeframe that our internal
control over financial reporting is effective as required by Section 404. This could result in an adverse reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of
confidence in the reliability of our financial statements.
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Changes in tax laws or in their implementation or interpretation may adversely affect our business and financial condition.

Changes in tax law may adversely affect our business or financial condition. On December 22, 2017, the U.S. government enacted the TCJA, which
significantly reformed the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code. The TCJA, among other things, contained significant changes to
corporate taxation, including a reduction of the corporate tax rate from a top marginal rate of 35% to a flat rate of 21%, the limitation of the tax deduction
for net interest expense to 30% of adjusted taxable income (except for certain small businesses), the limitation of the deduction for net operating losses
arising in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 to 80% of current year taxable income and elimination of net operating loss carrybacks for
losses arising in taxable years ending after December 31, 2017 (though any such net operating losses may be carried forward indefinitely), the imposition
of a one-time taxation of offshore earnings at reduced rates regardless of whether they are repatriated, the elimination of U.S. tax on foreign earnings
(subject to certain important exceptions), the allowance of immediate deductions for certain new investments instead of deductions for depreciation
expense over time, and the modification or repeal of many business deductions and credits.

As part of Congress’ response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Families First Coronavirus Response Act, or FFCR Act, was enacted on March 18,
2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or CARES Act, was enacted on March 27, 2020 and COVID-19 relief provisions were
included in the Consolidated Appropriations Act, 2021, or CAA, which was enacted on December 27, 2020. All contain numerous tax provisions. In
particular, the CARES Act retroactively and temporarily (for taxable years beginning before January 1, 2021) suspends application of the 80%-of-income
limitation on the use of net operating losses, which was enacted as part of the TCJA. It also provides that net operating losses arising in any taxable year
beginning after December 31, 2017, and before January 1, 2021 are generally eligible to be carried back up to five years. The CARES Act also temporarily
(for taxable years beginning in 2019 or 2020) relaxes the limitation of the tax deductibility for net interest expense by increasing the limitation from 30 to
50% of adjusted taxable income.  

Regulatory guidance under the TCJA, the FFCR Act, the CARES Act and the CAA is and continues to be forthcoming, and such guidance could
ultimately increase or lessen impact of these laws on our business and financial condition. It is also likely that Congress will enact additional legislation in
connection with the COVID-19 pandemic, some of which could have an impact on our company. In addition, it is uncertain if and to what extent various
states will conform to the TCJA, the FFCR Act, the CARES Act and the CAA.

We might not be able to utilize a significant portion of our net operating loss carryforwards and research and development tax credit carryforwards.

As of December 31, 2020, we had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $203.5 million, of which $129.6 million will, if not utilized, begin to
expire in 2029. As of December 31, 2020, we had state net operating carryforwards of $197.7 million, which will, if not utilized, begin to expire in 2030.
Our federal and state research and development tax credit carryforwards of $2.6 million and $1.8 million, respectively, will, if not utilized, begin to expire
in 2025. We also have federal orphan drug tax credit carryforwards of $1.0 million which begin to expire in 2039. These net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards could expire unused and be unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities.

We have a history of cumulative losses and anticipate that we will continue to incur significant losses in the foreseeable future; thus, we do not know
whether or when we will generate taxable income necessary to utilize our net operating losses or research and development tax credit carryforwards.

In addition, under Section 382 of the Code and corresponding provisions of state law, if a corporation undergoes an “ownership change,” which is
generally defined as a greater than 50% change, by value, in its equity ownership by certain stockholders over a three-year period, the corporation’s ability
to use its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-change tax attributes to offset its post-change income may be limited. We have not
conducted a study to assess whether we have experienced Section 382 ownership changes in the past and if a portion of our net operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards are subject to an annual limitation under Section 382. In addition, we may experience ownership changes in the future as a result of
subsequent shifts in our stock ownership, some of which may be outside of our control. If we determine that an ownership change has occurred at any time
since our inception and our ability to use our historical net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards is materially limited, it would harm our future
operating results by effectively increasing our future tax obligations.

There is also a risk that due to regulatory changes, such as suspensions on the use of net operating losses, or other unforeseen reasons, our existing
net operating losses could expire or otherwise become unavailable to offset future income tax liabilities. In addition, state net operating losses generated in
one state cannot be used to offset income generated in another state. For these reasons, even if we attain profitability, we may be unable to use a material
portion of our net operating losses and other tax attributes.

Because we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our capital stock for the foreseeable future, capital appreciation, if any, of our common
stock will be our stockholders’ sole source of gain.

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our capital stock. We currently intend to retain all of our future earnings, if any, to finance the
growth and development of our business. In addition, the terms of any future debt agreements may preclude us
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from paying dividends. As a result, capital appreciation, if any, of our common stock will be our stockholders’ sole source of gain for the foreseeable
future.

A significant portion of our total outstanding shares may be sold into the market at any time, which could cause the market price of our common stock
to drop significantly, even if our business is doing well.

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public market could occur at any time. These sales, or the perception in the market
that the holders of a large number of shares intend to sell shares, could reduce the market price of our common stock. As of May 7, 2021, we had 90,327,848
shares of common stock outstanding.

We have filed several registration statements covering the resale of shares of our common stock held by several stockholders. In connection with our
April 2019 private placement, we filed a registration statement covering the resale of shares purchased by the purchasers in the private placement and shares
issuable upon exercise of warrants issued in the private placement. In August 2020 and February 2021, we filed registration statements on Form S-3 covering
the resale of an aggregate of 12,700,000 shares of our common stock held by Satter Medical Technology Partners, L.P., or SMTP, and entities affiliated with
SMTP. Dr. Nolan Sigal, a partner at Satter Management Co., L.P., an affiliate of SMTP, is a member of our board of directors.

On September 21, 2020, we entered into the Purchase Agreement with LPC pursuant to which LPC has committed to purchase up to $15.0 million of
shares of our common stock. We filed a registration statement on Form S-1 covering the sale of shares of common stock that are issued to LPC under the
Purchase Agreement, which was declared effective on October 15, 2020. We generally have the right to control the timing and amount of any future sales of
shares of our common stock to LPC. Sales of shares of our common stock, if any, to LPC will depend upon market conditions and other factors to be
determined by us. We may ultimately decide to sell to LPC all, some or none of the additional shares of our common stock that may be available for us to sell
pursuant to the Purchase Agreement. Therefore, sales to LPC by us could result in substantial dilution to the interests of other holders of our common stock.
Additionally, the sale of a substantial number of shares of our common stock to LPC, or the anticipation of such sales, could make it more difficult for us to sell
equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and at a price that we might otherwise wish to effect sales. If and when we do sell shares of our
common stock to LPC, after LPC has acquired the shares of common stock, LPC may resell all, some or none of those shares of common stock at any time or
in its discretion.

We have also registered all shares of common stock that we may issue under our equity compensation plans, including upon exercise of outstanding
options. These shares can be freely sold in the public market upon issuance, subject to volume limitations applicable to affiliates.

 
If we fail to maintain compliance with the requirements for continued listing on the Nasdaq Capital Market, our common stock could be delisted from
trading, which would adversely affect the liquidity of our common stock and our ability to raise additional capital or enter into strategic transactions.

 
On July 12, 2019, we received a deficiency letter from the Listing Qualifications Department of the Nasdaq Stock Market notifying us that, for the

last 30 consecutive business days, the bid price for our common stock had closed below the minimum $1.00 per share requirement for continued inclusion
on the Nasdaq Global Market, or the Bid Price Rule. On December 20, 2019, we applied to transfer the listing of our stock from the Nasdaq Global Market
to the Nasdaq Capital Market. The Nasdaq Capital Market is a continuous trading market that operates in substantially the same manner as the Nasdaq
Global Market and listed companies must meet certain financial requirements and comply with Nasdaq’s corporate governance requirements.

 
On December 27, 2019, Nasdaq approved our transfer application. This transfer became effective at the opening of business on December 30, 2019.

On June 11, 2020, after our common stock had a closing bid price of at least $1.00 for 10 consecutive trading days, Nasdaq provided written notification to
us that we had regained compliance with the Bid Price Rule. We have remained in compliance with the Bid Price Rule since June 2020. However, there can
be no assurance that we will continue to maintain compliance with the Bid Price Rule in the future.

Our certificate of incorporation designates the state courts in the State of Delaware or, if no state court located within the State of Delaware has
jurisdiction, the federal court for the District of Delaware, as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be
initiated by our stockholders, which could discourage lawsuits against the company and our directors, officers and employees.

Our certificate of incorporation provides that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of Chancery of the State of
Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery does not have jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of Delaware) will be the sole and exclusive forum for
any derivative action or proceeding brought on our behalf, any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any of our directors, officers or
employees to our company or our stockholders, any action asserting a claim against us arising pursuant to any provision of the General Corporation Law of the
State of Delaware or our certificate of
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incorporation or bylaws, or any action asserting a claim against us governed by the internal affairs doctrine. We do not expect this choice of forum provision
will apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by the Securities Act, the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or any other claim for which
federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction. This exclusive forum provision may limit the ability of our stockholders to bring a claim in a judicial forum that such
stockholders find favorable for disputes with us or our directors, officers or employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors,
officers and employees.
 
 
 

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

Item 6. Exhibits.

The exhibits listed on the Exhibit Index immediately preceding such exhibits, which is incorporated herein by reference, are filed or furnished as part
of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
 
Exhibit
Number   Description
  

10.1
 

Sublease Agreement, dated March 26, 2021, by and among the Company, Vittoria Industries North America, Inc. and Waterfront Equity
Partners, LLC.

   

10.2

 

Capital on Demand™ Sales Agreement, dated January 29, 2021, by and among Aileron Therapeutics, Inc. and JonesTrading Institutional
Services LLC and William Blair & Company, L.L.C. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K (File No. 001-38130) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on January 29, 2021).

   

  31.1
  

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  

  31.2
  

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

  

  32.1
  

Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

  

  32.2
  

Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002.

  

101.INS   XBRL Instance Document
  

101.SCH   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
  

101.CAL   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
  

101.DEF   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
  

101.LAB   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
  

101.PRE   XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 

    Aileron Therapeutics, Inc.
    
Date: May 11, 2021    By:  /s/ Manuel C. Alves Aivado, M.D., Ph.D.
      Manuel C. Alves Aivado, M.D., Ph.D.

      
President and Chief Executive Officer

(principal executive officer)
    
Date: May 11, 2021    By:  /s/ Richard J. Wanstall
      Richard J. Wanstall

      
Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer

(principal financial officer)
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DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 Execution Version SUBLEASE This Sublease (this “Sublease”) is entered into as of this 26th day of March, 2021, by and among Vittoria Industries North America, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Sublandlord”), Aileron Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Subtenant”), and Waterfront Equity Partners, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company (“Prime Landlord”). INTRODUCTORY STATEMENTS A. By Lease Agreement dated as of July 13, 2012 (the “Prime Lease”), by and between Sublandlord and Prime Landlord, a true, correct and complete copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit A, Prime Landlord leases to Sublandlord 3,365 square feet of the first floor (the “Subleased Premises”) in the building located at 285 Summer Street, Boston, Massachusetts (the “Building”), all as more particularly described in the Prime Lease. B. The Subleased Premises was previously subleased to Enevo, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Enevo”), but Enevo has surrendered the Subleased Premises by virtue of an agreement by and between Enevo and Sublandlord. C. Subtenant has agreed to sublet the Subleased Premises from Sublandlord, and Sublandlord has agreed to sublease the Subleased Premises to Subtenant, all subject to the terms and conditions hereof. D. Sublandlord and Subtenant desire to enter into this Sublease defining their respective rights, duties and liabilities relating to the Subleased Premises and Prime Landlord hereby enters into this Sublease for the
sole purpose of consenting hereto. AGREEMENT The parties, in consideration of the mutual promises and covenants contained herein and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, and each with intent to be legally bound, for themselves and their respective successors and assigns, agree as follows: 1. SUBLEASE Sublandlord, for and in consideration of the Subtenant’s payment of the rent and performance of the covenants contained in this Sublease, does hereby demise and lease to Subtenant the Subleased Premises. 2. PRIME LEASE (a) A true, correct and complete copy of the Prime Lease is attached hereto as Exhibit A. Except as otherwise stated herein to the contrary, this Sublease shall be subject and subordinate to all the terms and conditions contained in the Prime Lease as said terms and conditions affect the Subleased Premises, and all of the terms and conditions of the Prime Lease, except otherwise set forth herein, are hereby incorporated into this Sublease and shall be binding upon Subtenant with respect to the Subleased Premises to the same extent as if Subtenant were named as tenant and Sublandlord as landlord in the ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 Prime Lease. For the avoidance of doubt, Subtenant does not assume those obligations of tenant under the Prime Lease (i) due and payable before the Commencement Date (or arising or related to any period prior to the Commencement Date), and (iii) arising out of any act, omission, or conduct of Sublandlord or Sublandlord’s officers, directors, shareholders, employees, agents, subtenants, successors and assigns. For the purpose of this Sublease only, references in the Prime Lease to the “Original Term” or “Term” shall mean the Term of this Sublease, references to the “Leased Premises” in the Prime Lease shall mean the Subleased Premises, references to the “Rent Commencement Date” in the Prime Lease shall mean the Rent Commencement Date under this Sublease, references to “Security Deposit” in the Prime Lease shall mean the Security Deposit under this Sublease, references to “Commencement Date” shall mean the Commencement Date of this Sublease, and references to the “Expiration Date” in the Prime Lease shall mean the Expiration Date of this Sublease. Except as otherwise provided herein, when any fraction, factor or formula, which is based on the number of square feet leased, is expressed in the Prime Lease, it will be adjusted by substituting the number of square feet of the Subleased Premises for the number of square feet of the Premises in the Prime Lease. Notwithstanding, the parties hereto agree that the Subleased Premises includes the entirety of
the Leased Premises under the Prime Lease, with the exception of the “storage space” of approximately 600 rentable square feet located in the parking garage as described in Section 2 of the Prime Lease. Subtenant shall have no obligation or liability with respect to the “storage space”; Sublandlord shall be responsible for all obligations and liabilities relating to the “storage space.” For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of any inconsistency between the terms and conditions of the Prime Lease and the terms and conditions of the Sublease, the terms and conditions of the Sublease shall control. Section 1(A)’s “Fixed Rent,” “Additional Rent for Taxes,” “Additional Rent for Operating Expenses” “and Tenant Proportionate Share” provisions, provisions or references to “Additional Rent for Taxes” and “Additional Rent for Operating Expenses,” provisions relating to the “storage space,” Article 3, Section 5(A) – (C), Article XI, Article XIII, Section 6(15), Section 10(D), Section 10(K), Exhibit D, and Exhibit E of the Prime Lease are expressly not incorporated or included in this Sublease. (b) In order to facilitate the coordination of the provisions of this Sublease with those of the Prime Lease, the time periods contained in the provisions of the Prime Lease are incorporated by reference into this Sublease and for which the same action must be taken under the Prime Lease and this Sublease (such as, for example and without limitation, the time period for the curing of a default under this Sublease that is also a default under the Prime Lease or for the
response to a request by Subtenant for consent to an action for which consent of the Prime Landlord is also required), are changed for the purpose of incorporation by reference by shortening that period in each instance by three (3) days to cure any default for which there is a cure period provided in the Prime Lease or respond to any request), as applicable, so that in each instance Subtenant shall have that much less time to observe or perform hereunder than Sublandlord has as tenant under the Prime Lease. In instances in which the same action is not required under both the Prime Lease and this Sublease, the time periods contained in provisions of the Prime lease that are incorporated by reference are not changed. Notwithstanding the foregoing, this section will not affect the Commencement Date or the Expiration Date of this Sublease. 3. DEFINITIONS All terms not expressly defined in this Sublease shall have the meanings given to them in the Prime Lease. 4. PRIME LANDLORD; PRIME LEASE Subtenant agrees to look solely to Sublandlord for the performance of all services and obligations of the Prime Landlord under the Prime Lease with respect to the Subleased Premises. Sublandlord assumes any obligation to perform the terms, covenants and conditions contained in the Prime Lease on ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 the part of the Prime Landlord to be performed. In the event Prime Landlord shall fail to perform any of the terms, covenants, obligations and conditions contained in the Prime Lease on its part to be performed, Sublandlord shall (i) cooperate with Subtenant in seeking to obtain the performance of Prime Landlord under the Prime Lease and (ii) enforce or exercise any rights and/or remedies Sublandlord may have under the Prime Lease. Sublandlord represents and warrants to Subtenant that, as of the date hereof; (a) the Prime Lease is in full force and effect and there have been no changes, modifications or amendments made thereto; and (b) to the best of Sublandlord’s knowledge, there are no breaches or violations of the Prime Lease on the part of the Sublandlord that have not been cured and the parties to the Prime Lease have performed each of their respective obligations thereunder without waiver. Sublandlord covenants and agrees that it will at all times remain in compliance with the Prime Lease and shall perform all of its obligations thereunder in a timely fashion (including the payment of rent and all other amounts due thereunder) with Subtenant being liable for all of the obligations of “Subtenant” under this Sublease. Sublandlord is and shall remain liable for all of the obligations of “tenant” under the Prime Lease. Sublandlord covenants and agrees not to (i) take any action that would cause a default under the Prime Lease, (ii) take any action to amend, alter, or
otherwise modify the Prime Lease without the prior written approval of Subtenant, (iii) do or permit it agents, contractors, employees, or invitees to do anything which would cause the Prime Lease to be cancelled, terminated or surrendered unless the Prime Landlord either has agreed or will agree to recognize Subtenant’s rights under this Sublease from and after the date of such surrender or termination of the Prime Lease pursuant to a separate written agreement acceptable to Subtenant, and (iv) terminate the Prime Lease. 5. TERM: END OF TERM (a) The term of this Sublease (the “Term”) shall commence on the date that the Subleased Premises is actually delivered to Subtenant in the conditions required under this Sublease and Prime Landlord’s consent to this Sublease has been obtained as contemplated herein (the “Commencement Date”); provided, however, in no event shall the Commencement Date occur prior to April 1, 2021 without Subtenant’s written consent in its sole discretion. The term of this Sublease shall expire on March 31, 2023 (“Expiration Date”). The Term is subject to early termination of the Prime Lease. In the event that the term of the Prime Lease expires, or is terminated, the Term of this Sublease shall terminate thirty (30) days prior to the termination or expiration of the term of the Prime Lease. Subtenant acknowledges and agrees that it shall have no right to renew this Sublease. (b) The Commencement Date is anticipated to occur on April 1, 2021 (the “Anticipated Commencement Date”). If the Commencement
Date does not occur within thirty (30) days of the Anticipated Commencement Date, then Subtenant shall receive a credit toward Rent payable under this Sublease equal to one (1) day of Rent for each day that elapses from and after the Anticipated Commencement Date to and including the date on which the Commencement Date occurs (such credit to be applied to the Rent becoming first due and payable after the Rent Commencement Date and after the application of any prepaid Rent until such credit is exhausted). If the Commencement Date does not occur within sixty (60) days after the Anticipated Commencement Date, then this Sublease may be terminated by Subtenant by written notice to Sublandlord, and if so terminated: (a) the Security Deposit (as defined below) and any prepaid Rent paid by Subtenant shall be returned to Subtenant, and (b) neither Subtenant nor Sublandlord shall have any further rights, duties or obligations under this Sublease, except with respect to provisions of this Sublease which expressly survive the termination of this Sublease. (c) Upon the expiration or other termination of the Term of this Sublease, Subtenant shall peacefully quit and surrender to Sublandlord the Subleased Premises and all alterations and additions ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 thereto, broom clean, in good order repair and condition excepting ordinary wear, tear and use, damages by fire or other casualty not caused by Subtenant, damage caused by Prime Landlord or Sublandlord (and their respective agents, employees, subtenants and contractors), and repairs which in the Prime Lease are specifically made the responsibility of Prime Landlord. Subtenant shall remove all of its property and, to the extent specified by Sublandlord, all alterations and additions made by Subtenant and all partitions made by Subtenant wholly within the Subleased Premises, and shall repair any damage to the Subleased Premises or the Building caused by their installation or by such removal by Subtenant (except for the approved alterations described in Section 11 below). Within five (5) days prior to the expiration of the term of this Sublease (or such other mutually agreeable time before the expiration or earlier termination of the Term of this Sublease), subject to, Sublandlord and Subtenant shall conduct a joint walk-thru of the Subleased Premises to determine the condition of the Subleased Premises and to prepare a punch-list for Subtenant of any items Subtenant is required to repair and restore pursuant to this Subparagraph 5(c). Subtenant’s obligation to observe or perform this covenant shall survive the expiration or other termination of this Sublease. Subtenant will remove any personal property from the Building and the Subleased Premises upon or prior to the
expiration or termination of this Sublease and any such property which shall remain in the Building or the Subleased Premises thereafter shall be conclusively deemed to have been abandoned, and may either be retained by Sublandlord as its property or sold or otherwise disposed of in such manner as Sublandlord may see fit at Subtenant’s expense. For the avoidance of doubt, Subtenant shall have no obligation to remove any alterations, additions or installations made by or on behalf of Sublandlord or any prior subtenant (including any alterations, additions or installations existing in the Subleased Premises as of the Commencement Date). (d) Subtenant shall be granted early access to the Subleased Premises from execution hereof, at no cost or expense to Subtenant (but only after Subtenant has obtained and provided evidence of the insurance required in this Sublease), in order to install and setup of furniture, fixtures and equipment, including the installation of Tenant’s IT/AV wiring and cabling (provided that Subtenant shall not commence its actual business operations until the Commencement Date). In no event shall such early access trigger the Commencement Date. 6. RENT (a) The Fixed Rent (also referred to as “Rent”) during the Term hereunder shall be as follows: i. Rent for the first two full months of the Term shall be fully abated; ii. Commencing on the later of (i) June 1, 2021 and (ii) the date that is two full months following the Commencement Date (such later date, the “Rent Commencement Date”) through the date immediately
preceding the first anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date, the Rent shall be $11,777.50 per month (based on an annual rental rate of $42.00 per rentable square foot); and iii. Commencing on the first anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date through March 31, 2023, the Rent shall be $11,917.71 per month (based on an annual rental rate of $42.50 per rental square foot). All Rent shall be payable in lawful money of the United States of America in advance on the first day of each calendar month during the Term. The first full monthly payment of Fixed Rent (i.e. the Rent becoming due for the first full calendar month of the Term after giving effect to the Rent abatement described above) shall be due upon execution of this Sublease by Subtenant. Fixed Rent and any additional rent due hereunder for any partial month or period, as applicable, shall be ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 prorated using the percentage which is the number of days in such partial month or period, as applicable, to the total number of days in said month or period, as applicable. (b) In addition to the Fixed Rent set forth in subparagraph 6(a) above, Subtenant shall establish an account with and pay directly to an electrical utility all its costs of electricity for the Subleased Premises. Sublandlord represents and warrants to Subtenant that the Subleased Premises are separately metered for electricity. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Subtenant shall have no obligation for the payment of any Operating Expenses or Taxes; the parties acknowledging that Sublandlord, at its sole cost and expense, shall be solely responsible for the payment of such expenses, and agrees to timely pay such amounts, in accordance with the terms of the Prime Lease. (c) The terms “Fixed Rent” and “additional rent” are sometimes referred to herein a “Rent” or ‘rent” and shall mean all sums due from Subtenant to Sublandlord under the terms of this Sublease. Subtenant shall pay all Fixed Rent and additional rent when due and, in the case of fixed rent, without notice of any kind, and without any abatement, deduction or set-off for any reason whatsoever. All Rent shall be payable to Sublandlord at address for Notice set forth below or at such other address as directed by written notice from Sublandlord to Subtenant. (d) Subtenant’s obligations to pay the additional rent provided for in this paragraph 6 shall
survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Sublease. The parties hereto agree that Sublandlord shall have all of the rights and remedies with respect to the nonpayment by Subtenant of additional rent and all other costs, charges and expenses to be paid by Subtenant in this Sublease or by law in the case of nonpayment of Fixed Rent provided for hereunder. (e) Timely payment is of the essence of this Sublease and Subtenant may not delay or refuse any payment of Rent for any reason. In the event the payment of any Rent shall be paid to Sublandlord after the date on which it is due and payable, as provided in this Sublease, then Subtenant shall pay a late charge of $500.00 and interest on such past due amount as set forth in the Prime Lease and payable, as additional rent, to Sublandlord as liquidated damages (not as a penalty) for Subtenant’s failure to make prompt payment. No failure by Sublandlord to insist upon the strict performance by Subtenant of Subtenant’s obligations to pay delinquency service charges and interest shall constitute a waiver by Sublandlord of its rights to enforce the provisions of this Paragraph in any instance thereafter occurring. In addition, Sublandlord shall be entitled to add the sum of $35.00 to the Rent bill in the event of any returned check. If any of Subtenant’s checks are returned more than two times during the term of this Sublease, Sublandlord can require that future payments be made in cash or by certified or bank check. 7. USE OF SUBLEASED PREMISES (a) The Subleased Premises shall only be
used for general office purposes (the “Permitted Uses”). Sublandlord represents and warrants to Subtenant that the use of the Subleased Premises for the Permitted Uses is permitted by the Prime Lease, the certificate of occupancy for the Subleased Premises and the Building, and all applicable laws. Appurtenant to the Subleased Premises, to the extent set forth in the Prime Lease, Subtenant shall also have the non-exclusive right to use in common with others entitled thereto (i) the common facilities described in the Prime Lease (which facilities Sublandlord represents and warrants to Subtenant includes restrooms, which shall be available for the use and enjoyment of Subtenant at all times throughout the Term), and (ii) all other facilities, fixtures, equipment and all other rights of Sublandlord and items described in the Prime Lease. Subtenant shall use the Subleased Premises and appurtenant common areas in a careful, lawful, safe and proper manner and in accordance with all requirements of any governmental or quasi-governmental body and, in ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 addition, shall comply with such rules and regulations as the Prime Landlord may from time to time impose, as may be permitted under the Prime Lease, upon written notice to Subtenant. Subtenant shall not use the Subleased Premises or any of the common areas for any use or activity that is hazardous or that would constitute a nuisance or that: (i) would violate any covenant, agreement, term, provision or condition of the Prime Lease or this Sublease, (ii) is in contravention of the certificate of occupancy for the Subleased Premises or the Building, (iii) would violate any requirement of any governmental or quasigovernmental body, or (iv) many in any way impair or interfere with any of the Building services or the proper an economic heating, air conditioning, cleaning or other servicing of the Subleased Premises or the Building, the common areas or any portion thereof or impair or interfere with the use of any of the common areas by, or occasion discomfort, inconvenience or annoyance to, other occupants of the Building or their employees, guests or invitees (including, without limitation, the Sublandlord) or impair the appearance of the Building. Sublandlord covenants and agrees that Subtenant shall have access to and the right to use the Premises at all times set forth in the Prime Lease. (b) If any governmental license or permit shall be required for the proper and lawful conduct of any business or other activity carried in the Subleased Premises (including, but not limited
to, a Certificate of Occupancy), Subtenant shall, at Subtenant’s sole expense, procure and thereafter maintain such license or permit, shall promptly submit a copy thereof to Sublandlord, and shall comply with the terms and conditions thereof. (c) Intentionally Omitted. (d) Subtenant shall indemnify and hold Sublandlord and Prime Landlord harmless from and against any fine, penalty, cost, expense (including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees) or other damage or loss suffered by Sublandlord as a result of Subtenant’s failure to perform its obligations under the Prime Lease or this Sublease, including without limitation this Paragraph 7. All of the Subtenant’s obligations under this Paragraph 7 shall survive termination of this Sublease and surrender of the Subleased Premises to the Sublandlord. (e) Sublandlord shall indemnify and hold harmless Subtenant and Subtenant's owners, officers, agents, directors and employees (“Subtenant’s Indemnitees”) from any and all losses, fines, suits, damages, expenses, claims, demands and actions of any kind resulting from (i) any failure by Sublandlord to perform all of its retained obligations under, or breach or default by the Sublandlord under, the Prime Lease, provided such failure does not result from a breach by Subtenant of its obligations under this Sublease or (ii) Sublandlord’s breach or default of its representations, warranties, or obligations under this Sublease. The provisions of this subparagraph 7(e) shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of this Sublease. 8. DEFAULT OF
SUBTENANT AND SUBLANDLORD’S REMEDIES See Article VII of the Prime Lease which shall govern with respect to defaults (and, for the avoidance of doubt, Subtenant shall be entitled to all notice and cure periods set forth therein subject to Section 3(b) above). Sublandlord shall be entitled to any right or remedy as provided for in the Prime Lease. The remedies provided to the Sublandlord under this Sublease are cumulative and are in addition to any remedies allowed by law or in equity. 9. SECURITY DEPOSIT (a) Upon execution of this Sublease, Subtenant shall deposit with Sublandlord the sum of $23,555.00 (the “Security Deposit”) as security for the full and faithful performance of every portion of this Sublease to be performed by Subtenant. If Subtenant defaults with respect to any provision of this ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 Sublease (after any applicable notice and cure periods), then without limiting any other rights or remedies Sublandlord may have, Sublandlord may use, apply or retain such portion of the Security Deposit necessary to remedy such default. If any portion of said Security Deposit is so used or applied, Subtenant shall, within ten (10) days after demand therefor, deposit cash with Sublandlord in an amount sufficient to restore the Security Deposit to its original amount, and Subtenant’s failure to do so shall be a material breach of this Sublease. Sublandlord shall not be required to keep this security deposit separate from its general funds, and Subtenant shall not be entitled to interest on such deposit. (b) The Security Deposit, or any balance thereof to the extent not applied by Sublandlord in accordance with this Sublease, shall be returned to Subtenant within twenty (20) days after the (i) Expiration Date and (ii) return of the Subleased Premises to Sublandlord in the condition required by this Sublease, less only that portion, if any, assessed and retained by Sublandlord pursuant to Paragraph 9(a) above. (c) Sublandlord agrees to not assign or encumber or attempt to assign or encumber the monies deposited herein as Security Deposit separate from any assignment of Sublandlord’s rights under the Prime Lease. 10. CONDITION OF PREMISES The Subleased Premises shall be delivered to Subtenant free and clear of all occupants and personal property (other than the furniture listed
on Exhibit B (the “Furniture”)), broom-clean, and in good working order, condition and repair. Subtenant acknowledges that it has examined the Subleased Premises, and is taking the Subleased Premises, in its “AS IS” condition on Commencement Date, subject to reasonable wear and tear, damages by fire or other casualty not caused by Subtenant, damage caused by Prime Landlord or Sublandlord (and their respective agents, employees, subtenants, contractors), and repairs which in the Prime Lease are specifically made the responsibility of Prime Landlord. Sublandlord hereby represents to Subtenant that, upon information and belief, as of the Commencement Date all building systems serving the Subleased Premises and all structural elements are in good working order and condition, and that all applicable legal requirements have been satisfied as they relate to the Subleased Premises. 11. ALTERATIONS Subtenant shall not make any alterations, improvements or installations in or to the Subleased Premises without the prior written consent of Sublandlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. If Sublandlord does consent to any alterations, all improvements shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Prime Lease, and in those instances, if required, shall be subject to the Prime Landlord’s approval as provided in the Prime Lease. Sublandlord’s consent shall not be required in connection with any upgrades to ventilation systems serving the Subleased Premises that Subtenant may elect to perform (and
notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Subtenant may, but shall not be required to, remove such ventilation system upgrades at the end of the Term). Notwithstanding the foregoing, such upgrades shall be subject to the terms and conditions of the Prime Lease, where applicable, and may be subject to the Prime Landlord’s approval to the extent provided in the Prime Lease. Any alterations, improvements or installations consented to by the Sublandlord shall be made at the sole cost and expense of Subtenant. Subtenant shall not be obligated to restore alterations, improvements or installations only if both the Prime Landlord and Sublandlord approval of the same in writing expressly states therein that such alterations, improvements or installations, as the case may be, shall be allowed to remain at the end of the Term. Sublandlord agrees to inform Subtenant in writing whether such alterations, improvements or installations, as the case may be, shall be allowed to remain at the end of the Term. ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 12. REPAIRS AND MAINTENANCE Sublandlord shall perform all required repair and maintenance required of the Prime Landlord in the Prime Lease. Any repair and maintenance obligations with respect to the Sublease Premises which are the responsibility of the Sublandlord, as tenant under the Prime Lease, shall be performed by Subtenant at Subtenant’s sole cost and expense. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Subtenant shall have no obligation (i) to make any capital repairs, replacements or improvements to the Subleased Premises unless such capital repairs, replacements or improvements are required because of Subtenant’s specific use of the Subleased Premises (as opposed to office use generally) , or (ii) to perform any repairs or maintenance with respect to conditions existing prior to the Commencement Date. Subtenant agrees and acknowledges that Subtenant has inspected the Subleased Premises, and as of the Commencement Date is satisfied with the existing condition of the Subleased Premises. Sublandlord shall be solely responsible for making any capital repairs, replacements or improvements to the Subleased Premises only to the extent required by and pursuant to the terms of the Prime Lease. Subtenant agrees that it will notify Sublandlord promptly of the need for any repair to the Subleased Premises, even if Sublandlord is not responsible for any such repair. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, in the event that a condition
exists in the Subleased Premises that Prime Landlord is obligated to repair/maintain under the terms of the Prime Lease, Subtenant shall so advise Sublandlord, and Sublandlord, in turn, shall promptly advise the Prime Landlord thereof. Sublandlord shall have no liability to Subtenant for Prime Landlord’s failure to make any such repair or to provide any such service; provided that Subtenant shall be entitled to any abatement or offset rights that Sublandlord, as tenant under the Prime Lease, is entitled to. For the avoidance of doubt, Sublandlord shall cooperate with Subtenant in seeking to obtain the performance of Prime Landlord under the Prime Lease and shall enforce or exercise any rights and/or remedies Sublandlord may have under the Prime Lease. 13. UTILITIES AND SERVICE Subtenant shall be entitled to all those services and utilities that Prime Landlord is required to provide under the terms of the Prime Lease. Sublandlord shall not be responsible for Prime Landlord’s failure to provide the same nor shall any such failure constitute a default hereunder by Sublandlord or an abrogation of any other terms or conditions of this Sublease; provided that Subtenant shall be entitled to any abatement or offset rights that Sublandlord, as tenant under Prime Lease, is entitled to. For the avoidance of doubt, Sublandlord shall cooperate with Subtenant in seeking to obtain the performance of Prime Landlord under the Prime Lease and shall enforce or exercise any rights and/or remedies Sublandlord may have under the Prime Lease. 14.
ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASING Subtenant shall not have the right to assign or sub-sublet the Subleased Premises, in whole or in part without Sublandlord’s prior written consent, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, and without Prime Landlord’s prior written consent (to the extent Prime Landlord’s consent is required pursuant to the terms of the Prime Lease). Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Sublease or the Prime Lease, Subtenant may, without Sublandlord’s or Prime Landlord’s written consent, assign Subtenant’s interest in this Sublease to: (a) a subsidiary, affiliate, or parent of Subtenant or other entity which controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with, Subtenant; (b) a successor entity to Subtenant resulting from merger, consolidation, corporate reorganization, or government action; or (c) a purchaser of all or substantially all of Subtenant’s assets or ownership interests. Transfers of beneficial interests in Subtenant shall not constitute “assignments” under this Sublease or the Prime Lease. ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 15. INSURANCE Subtenant agrees to comply with all the insurance requirements and obligations of Sublandlord as tenant as set forth in the Prime Lease and to name the Sublandlord and Prime Landlord as additional insureds on any insurance policies. Subtenant shall deliver to Sublandlord and Prime Landlord a certificate of insurance evidencing such insurance prior to occupying the Subleased Premises. 16. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS (a) In addition to any obligations under the Prime Lease, Subtenant shall promptly comply with all applicable statutes, ordinances, rules, orders regulations and requirements of the Federal, State and municipal Governments (including the Board of Fire Underwriters) and of any and all of their Departments and Bureaus applicable to the specific use and occupancy of the Subleased Premises by Subtenant (collectively referred to as “Legal Requirements”). (b) If Subtenant shall fail or neglect to comply with the aforesaid Legal Requirements, or if Subtenant shall fail or neglect to make any repairs required by the terms of this Sublease, then Sublandlord or its agent may (but shall not be obligated to), without limiting any other right or remedy that may be available, enter the Subleased Premises and take such actions as necessary to cure the breach and comply with any and all of the said Legal Requirements, at the cost and expense of Subtenant; and, in case of Subtenant’s failure to pay therefor, the said cost and expense shall be added to the
next month’s Rent and be due and payable as such. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, Subtenant shall have no obligation to make any capital repairs, replacements or improvements to Subleased Premises unless such capital repairs, replacements or improvements are required because of Subtenant’s specific use of the Subleased Premises (as opposed to office use generally). 17. LIMITATIONS ON SUBLANDLORD’S LIABILITY (a) Subtenant acknowledges that Sublandlord has made no representations or warranties with respect to the Building or the Subleased Premises except as are expressly set forth in this Sublease and Subtenant accepts the Subleased Premises in it “AS IS” condition. (b) If Sublandlord assigns its leasehold estate in the Building, Sublandlord shall have no obligation to Subtenant arising after the date of such assignment. Subtenant shall then recognize Sublandlord’s assignee as Sublandlord of this Sublease. 18. SUBORDINATION This Sublease shall be automatically subject and subordinate the Prime Lease, and to any ground lease and to any mortgage or deed of trust thereon or on the fee simple interest in the Building or the land on which the Building is located to which the Prime Lease is subject and subordinate. This paragraph shall be self-operative and no further instrument of subordination shall be required. 19. TERMINATION, CASUALTY AND CONDEMNATION If the Prime Lease is terminated, this Sublease shall automatically terminate at the same time and Subtenant shall have no claim against
Sublandlord for the loss of its subleasehold interest other than due to breach of this Sublease by Sublandlord. If the Prime Lease is not terminated with respect to the Subleased Premises upon the occurrence of a casualty or condemnation, the provisions of the Prime Lease with respect to casualty or condemnation shall apply to the Sublease and the Subleased Premises. DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1 20. CONSENT OR APPROVAL OF PRIME LANDLO ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 20. CONSENT OR APPROVAL OF PRIME LANDLORD If the consent of Prime Landlord is required under the Prime Lease with respect to any matter relating to the Subleased Premises, Subtenant shall be required first to obtain the consent or approval of Sublandlord with respect thereto and, if Sublandlord grants such consent or approval, Sublandlord may forward a request for consent or approval to the Prime Landlord, but Sublandlord shall not be responsible for obtaining such consent or approval. Sublandlord shall have no liability to Subtenant for the failure of Prime Landlord to give its consent. 21. NOTICES All notices given pursuant to the provisions of this Sublease shall be in writing, addressed to the party to whom notice is given and sent registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, in a postpaid envelope or by nationally recognized overnight delivery service as follows: To Subtenant: Aileron Therapeutics, Inc. 290 Pleasant Street, Unit 112 Watertown, MA 02472 Attn: Manuel Aivado To Sublandlord: Vitoria Industries North America, Inc. Attn: Chiara S. Dyer 1639 W. Sheridan Ave Oklahoma City, OK 73106 It is understood and agreed that unless specifically modified by this Sublease, Sublandlord shall be entitled to the length of notice required to be given Prime Landlord plus three (3) days. All notices shall be deemed given upon receipt or rejection. Either party by written notice to the other may charge or add persons and places where notices are
to be sent or delivered. 22. BROKERAGE COMMISSIONS AND LEGAL FEES Each of Sublandlord and Subtenant represents and warrants to the other (and Prime Landlord) that it has had no dealings with any real estate broker or agent in connection with this Sublease except for Newmark Knight Frank and Cresa Partners Boston Inc. (the “Brokers”). Each of Sublandlord and Subtenant covenants to pay, hold harmless and indemnify the other and the Prime Landlord from and against any and all costs, expenses or liabilities for any compensation, commissions and charges claimed by any other broker or agent other than the Brokers with respect to this Sublease or the negotiation thereof, based upon alleged dealings with the indemnifying party. Sublandlord represents and warrants to Subtenant that Enevo has agreed to pay all brokerage commissions or fees due to the Brokers in connection with or arising out of this Sublease. 23. SUBLANDLORD’S AND SUBTENANT’S POWER TO EXECUTE Sublandlord (subject to Prime Landlord’s consent) and Subtenant covenant, warrant and represent that they have full power and proper authority to execute this Sublease. ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 24. CONSENT TO SUBLEASE BY PRIME LANDLORD This Sublease shall not become operative until the Prime Landlord has given to Sublandlord its consent thereto by signing this Sublease. Sublandlord shall not be responsible for Prime Landlord’s failure to consent to this Sublease. Should Prime Landlord not consent to this Sublease within twenty (20) days after the date hereof, then this Sublease shall be void and without further force or effect and each party shall be released from all obligations with respect to this Sublease. Should Prime Landlord not consent to this Sublease within such twenty (20) day period, Sublandlord shall promptly refund the Security Deposit and any pre-paid Rent to Subtenant. Promptly after Sublandlord receives Prime Landlord’s Consent, Sublandlord shall deliver written notice to Subtenant stating the date (which date shall be no less than five (5) days after the date of Sublandlord’s notice to Subtenant) that Sublandlord shall deliver possession of the Subleased Premises to Subtenant in accordance with the terms of this Sublease (which for the avoidance of doubt, shall be no earlier than April 1, 2021 without the written consent of Subtenant in its sole discretion). 25. HOLDING OVER If Subtenant holds over after the Expiration Date or the earlier termination of the Term of this Sublease without the express written consent of the Sublandlord (it being agreed that Sublandlord is under no obligation whatsoever to grant any such consent),
Subtenant shall become a tenant of sufferance only, at a rental rate determined as follows: (i) if such holdover does not cause Sublandlord to hold over under the Prime Lease, then such rental rate shall be two hundred percent (200%) of the Rent payable to Sublandlord for the immediately preceding calendar month, and (ii) if such holdover causes Sublandlord to hold over under the Prime Lease, then such rental rate shall be one hundred fifty percent (150%) of all holdover rent that Sublandlord is required to pay to Prime Landlord under the Prime Lease. Nothing in this Lease to the contrary shall limit Sublandlord’s remedies hereunder of Sublandlord’s right to recover damages from Subtenant accruing to Sublandlord as tenant under the Prime Lease, in the event Subtenant fails to surrender the Subleased Premises to Sublandlord on or before the Expiration Date, Subtenant shall indemnify and hold Sublandlord harmless from all loss or liability, including without limitation, any claim made by Prime Landlord or any successor tenant resulting from Subtenant’s failure to surrender the Subleased Premises and any attorney’s fees and costs incurred by Sublandlord and Prime Landlord; provided, however, it is understood and agreed that no indirect or consequential damages may be assessed by Sublandlord to Subtenant on account of the first thirty (30) days of any such holdover period. 26. RULES AND REGULATIONS Subtenant shall comply with all rules and regulations regarding the Subleased Premises and the Building as may be prescribed by
Prime Landlord. 27. GOVERNING LAW The exercise, validity, construction, operation and effect of the terms and provisions of this Sublease shall be determined and enforced in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 28. AUTHORITY The Subtenant has no authority to contact or make any agreement with the Prime Landlord about the Subleased Premises or the Prime Lease that would effect Sublandlord, unless agreed to by all the parties in writing. No purported agreement between Prime Landlord and Subtenant shall be binding upon Sublandlord, and shall not act to increase or modify Sublandlord’s obligations or liabilities under the ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 Prime Lease, unless and except Sublandlord has documented its agreement in a signed writing. The Subtenant may not pay rent or other charges to the Prime Landlord, but only to the Sublandlord, unless otherwise instructed in a written notice signed by Sublandlord. 29. SIGNAGE Sublandlord shall provide, at Sublandlord’s sole cost and expense, or shall cause Prime Landlord, at Sublandlord’s sole cost and expense, to provide a listing of Subtenant as a tenant in the standard building directory in the lobby of the Building. 30. SUCCESSORS Unless otherwise stated, this Sublease is binding on all parties who lawfully succeed to the rights or take the place of the Sublandlord or the Subtenant. 31. MISCELLANEOUS (a) The headings of the articles and the numbers of the items in this Sublease are inserted as a matter of convenience to the parties and shall not affect the construction of this Sublease. (b) The terms, conditions, covenants and provisions of this Sublease shall be deemed to be severable. If any clause or provision herein contained shall be adjudged to be invalid or unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction or by operation of any applicable law, it shall not affect the validity of any other clause or provision herein, but such other clauses or provisions shall remain in full force and effect. (c) This Sublease may be executed multiple counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
Counterparts may be delivered via facsimile, electronic mail (including pdf or any electronic signature process complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000) or other transmission method and any counterpart so delivered shall be deemed to have been duly and validly delivered and be valid and effective for all purposes. Electronic signatures shall be deemed original signatures for purposes of this Sublease and all matters related thereto, with such electronic signatures having the same legal effect as original signatures. 32. FURNITURE On the Commencement Date, Subtenant shall purchase the Furniture from Enevo for $1. Subtenant acknowledges that it has examined the Furniture and is assuming ownership of the Furniture in its “AS IS” condition without any representation or warranty from Sublandlord. On the Commencement Date, Sublandlord agrees to deliver to Subtenant, either in original or electronic form, a bill of sale duly acknowledged by Enevo, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, to transfer and assign to Subtenant the Furniture (which shall be in substantially the same condition existing as of the date of this Sublease, reasonable wear and tear excepted). Such delivery thereof shall be a condition precedent of this Sublease. Sublandlord shall have no liability resulting from the furniture’s use or non-use or obligation to make any alterations, repairs or improvements to the furniture to make them ready for Subtenant’s occupancy or on any future date. 33. EXPANSION OPTION Not Applicable. ActiveUS 185926618v.14
01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 34. PARKING During the term of this Sublease, so long as Sublandlord continues to lease the one (1) interior parking space in the Building garage (the “Parking Space”) pursuant to Article XIV of the Prime Lease, Subtenant shall have the right to use the Parking Space (such use in accordance with the terms of the Prime Lease) and shall pay to Sublandlord, as additional rent hereunder, for the use thereof, at the rate that Sublandlord pays for the Parking Space to Prime Landlord. Sublandlord hereby agrees that it shall continue to lease the Parking Space throughout the term of this Sublease. 35. CONSENT By its execution of this Sublease, Prime Landlord agrees and consents to Subtenant’s occupancy of the Subleased Premises and the terms and conditions of this Sublease. Subtenant hereby agrees that (a) this Sublease is subject to all of the terms, agreements, covenants and provisions of the Prime Lease except where expressly stated to the contrary herein; (b) this Sublease shall not be deemed to change, modify or amend the Prime Lease in any manner (but does give Subtenant certain unilateral assignment rights that would otherwise not exist under the Prime Lease as expressly set forth in Section 14, above); (c) Subtenant expressly assumes and agrees to be bound by and to perform and comply with, for the benefit of Prime Landlord, each and every obligation of tenant under the Prime Lease applicable to the Subleased Premises during the term of the Sublease (except as
expressly stated to the contrary herein); (d) neither the Prime Lease nor the Sublease shall grant or be deemed to grant Subtenant any rights whatsoever against Prime Landlord; and (e) Subtenant’s sole remedy for any alleged or actual breach of its rights in connection with the Subleased Premises or the Sublease shall be solely against Sublandlord. The execution of this Sublease by Prime Landlord for the limited purpose of consenting hereto and shall in no way constitute any representation or warranty whatsoever by Prime Landlord, express or implied, relating to the Prime Lease, the Premises, the Sublease, the Subleased Premises or any other matter relating to Sublandlord’s or Subtenant’s tenancy, including, without limitation, the physical condition or square footage of the Premises or the Subleased Premises, and Sublandlord and Subtenant acknowledge and agree that they are not relying on any such representation or warranty in entering into the Sublease or in consummating the transactions contemplated by the Sublease (provided the foregoing shall not be deemed to limit any representations or warranties of Prime Landlord to Sublandlord as set forth in the Prime Lease). Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Sublandlord and Subtenant specifically acknowledge and agree that Prime Landlord is not a party to the Sublease (except for the limited purpose of consenting hereto) and, notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Sublease, Prime Landlord is not bound by any of the terms contained in the Sublease, including,
without limitation, any of the covenants, representations, warranties, duties and obligations contained therein. The execution of this Sublease by Prime Landlord for the limited purpose of consenting hereto shall not be deemed to create any obligations on the part of Prime Landlord with respect to the Sublease or the Subleased Premises, or constitute any consent to any further sublease or assignment (but does permit Subtenant to make certain assignments without the consent of Prime Landlord as expressly set forth in Section 14, above), or release Sublandlord of any of its obligations under the Prime Lease (including, without limitation, Sublandlord’s surrender obligations as stated in the Prime Lease). The acceptance of rent and other amounts by Prime Landlord from Subtenant or anyone else liable under the Prime Lease shall not be deemed a waiver by Landlord of any of the terms of the Prime Lease. Sublandlord shall remain fully and primarily liable for the prompt and timely payment of all rent, additional rent and other charges under the Prime Lease and for the timely performance of all of the ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 tenant’s obligations under the Prime Lease. Sublandlord shall be deemed to have waived any and all suretyship defenses. Sublandlord and Subtenant agree to indemnify and hold Prime Landlord harmless from and against any loss, cost, expense, damage or liability, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred as a result of a claim by any person or entity relating to or arising out of this Sublease (including, without limitation, the sale of the Furniture), except to the extent caused by the negligence or willful misconduct of Prime Landlord (but subject to Sublandlord’s and Subtenant’s insurance and waiver of subrogation obligations). If there is any legal action or proceeding, in which Prime Landlord is a party, to enforce or interpret any provision of this Sublease, the unsuccessful party to such action or proceeding shall pay to the prevailing party as finally determined, all costs and expenses, including, without limitation, attorneys’ fees and costs, incurred by such prevailing party in such action or proceeding, in enforcing such judgment, and in connection with any appeal from such judgment. Sublandlord and Subtenant agree that neither this Sublease nor any memorandum nor notice thereof shall be recorded in any public records. Sublandlord hereby agrees to pay all fees incurred by Prime Landlord in connection with reviewing and consenting to this Sublease within thirty (30) days after receipt of Landlord’s invoice therefor. Subtenant shall not be responsible for any fees
incurred by Prime Landlord in connection with reviewing and consenting to this Sublease. Sublandlord represents to Subtenant that Enevo has agreed to pay all fees incurred by Prime Landlord in connection with reviewing and consenting to this Sublease. [The remainder of this page has been intentionally left blank.] ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 ln WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties hereto have caused this Sublease to be properly executed as of the day and year first above written. SUBLANDLORD : Vittoria Industries North America, Inc., a Delaware corporation A42ECE88F5C6428 DocuSigned by: By: Name : Chiarasegalini Title: Director of Finance & Treasurer  SUBTENANT: Aileron Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation DD28F713249A4BA By : Name: Rick WanstalI Title: Chief Financial officer & Treasurer  For the sole purpose of consenting hereto: PRIME LANDLORD : Waterfront Equity Partners , LLC, Massachusetts limited liability company By: Aegean Capital, LLC Its: Manager By: Name : Constantine Alexakos, by Howard Rich, POA+CFO Its: Manager ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727 .1

 



 
 

 
DocuSign Envelope ID: 7B2CF802-FA2C-4771-BA88-9E593E041528 EXHIBIT A PRIME LEASE [Attached] ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
LEASE LANDLORD: Waterfront Equity Partners. LLC A Massachusetts Limited Liability Company TENANT: Vittoria Industries North America, Inc., ADelaware Corporation BUILDING: 285 Summer Street Boston, Massachusetts  DATED: July 13, 2012 00425441.DOC/3
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Lease dated as of the13_ dayof July, 2012, by Waterfront Equity Partners, LLC, a Massachusetts limited liability company, as landlord, (hereinafter referred to as "Landlord") , and Vittoria Industries North America, Inc., a Delaware corporation, as tenant ("Tenant''). ARTICLE I REFERENCE DATA 1. (A) SUBJECTS REFERRED TO: Each reference in this lease to any of the following subjects shall be construed to incorporate the data stated for that subject in this Section 1(A): LANDLORD'S ADDRESS: c/o Aegean Capital, LLC 150 East S8th Street, Suite 2000 New Yolk, New York 10155 LANDLORD'S MANAGING AGENT: Aegean Capital, LLC 150 East 58th Street, Suite 2000 New York, New York 10155 TENANT'S ADDRESS: 285 Summer Street, Suite 101 Boston Massachusetts 02110 BUILDING: THAT CERTAIN BUILDING KNOWN AS 285 SUMMER STREET, BOSTON, MASSACHUSETTS AND CONTAINING 48,616 RENTABLE SQUARE FEET OF FLOOR AREA   RENTABLE FLOOR AREA OF TENANT'S SPACE: APPROXIMATELY 3,365 SQUARE FEET ON THE1ST FLOOR OF THE BUILDING, AS SHOWN ON EXHIBITA COMMENCEMENT DATE: UPON SUBSTANTIAL COMPLETION BY LANDLORD OF THE WORK REQUIRED OF LANDLORD AS SET FORTH IN ARTICLE ID BELOW, AND DELIVERY OF TIIE DEMISED PREMISES TO TENANT RENT COMMENCEMENT ONE HUNDRED TWENTY (120) DAYS FROM DATE: THE COMMENCEMENT DATE SUBJECT TO ARTICLE V BELOW ORIGINAL TERM:
TEN (10) YEARS AND FOUR (4) MONTHS FROM THE COMMENCEMENT DATE 00425441.DOC/3

 



 
 

 
FIXED RENT:  DURING THE PERIOD FROM THE COMMENCEMENT DATE TO THE RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE..NO FIXED RENT SHALL BE PAYABLE;  DURING THE TWELVE MONTH PERIOD FOLLOWING THE RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE...$117,775.00 PER ANNUM/$9,814.58 PER MONTH;  DURJNG THE SECOND YEAR FOLLOWING THE RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE ...$121,140.00 PER ANNUM/$10,095.00 PER MONTH;  DURING THE THIRD YEAR FOLLOWING THE RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE ...$124,505.00 PER ANNUM/$ 10,375.42 PER MONTH;  DURING THE FOURTH YEAR FOLLOWJNG THE RENT COMMENCEMENT  DATE  $127,870.00 PERANNUMl$10,655.83 PER MONTH;  DURJNG THE FIFTH YEAR FOLLOWING THE RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE ...$131,235.00 PER ANNUM/$10, 936.25 PER MONTH;  DURING THE SIXTH YEAR FOLLOWING THE RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE ...$134,600.00 PER ANNUM/$11,216. 67 PER MONTH;  DURING THE SEVENTH YEAR FOLLOWING THE RENT COMMENCEMENT  DATE  ...$137,965.00 PER ANNUM/$11,497.08 PER MONTH;  DURING THE EIGHTH YEAR FOLLOWING THE RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE  ..$141,330.00 PER ANNUM/$ 11,777.50 PER MONTH;  DURING THE NINTH YEAR FOLLOWING THE RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE .$144,695.00 PER ANNUM/$12,057.92 PER MONTH;  DURING THE TENTH YEAR
FOLLOWING THE RENT COMMENCEMENT DATE ..$148,060.00 PER ANNUM/$12,338.33 PER MONTH; AND  DURING THE ADDITIONAL PERIOD FOR WIDCH THE ORIGINAL TERM OF TIIISLEASE MAY BE EXTENDED AS SET FORTH IN SECTION (A) OF ARTICLE Xlll BELOW...THAT  FIXED RENT  DETERMINED AS SET FORTI! IN SECTION (B) OF SAID ARTICLE XIII. 00425441.DOC/3 2

 



 
 

 
IN ADDTTION, TENANT SHALL PAY TO LANDLORD RENT FOR THE STORAGE SPACE REFERRED TO IN ARTICLE II BELOW AT THE RATE OF $750.00 PER MONTH PAYABLE IN EQUAL MONTHLY INSTALLMENTS COMMENCING ON THE COMMENCEMENT DATE AND THEREAFTER ON THE FIRST (1ST) DAY OF EACH MONTH DURING THE TERM, UNLESS TENANT GIVES LANDLORD AT LEAST N1NETY (90) DAYS NOTICE OF TENANT'S DESIRE TO DISCONTINUE USB OF TIIB STORAGE SPACE UPON WHICH TIIB LEASE OFTHE STORAGE SPACE AND RENT THEREFOR SHALL TERMINATE AS OF THE DATE SPECIFIED IN SAID NOTICE; AND TENANT SHALL HAVE NO FURTHER RIGHT TO LEASE THE STORAGE SPACE.  ADDITIONAL RENT FOR TAXES:  TENANT' S PROPOR110NATE SHARE OF REAL ESTATE TAXES IN EXCESS OF REAL ESTATE TAXES PAYABLE FOR THE 2013 FISCAL TAX YEAR  ADDITIONAL RENT FOR OPERATING EXPENSES  TEN.ANTS PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF OPERATING EXPENSES IN EXCESS OF OPERATING EXPENSES INCURRED FOR THE 2013 CALENDAR YEAR  TENANT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE:  TENANT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE SHALL INITIALLY BE 6.92%. TENANT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE SHALL BE COMPUTED ON THE RATIO THAT THE RENTABLE FLOOR AREA OF THE DEMISED PREMISES BEARS TO THE TOTAL
RENTABLE FLOOR AREA OF THE BUILDING. IF THE SIZE OF THE BUILDING, AND THE RBNTABLE FLOOR AREA THEREIN, CHANGES, TENANT'S PROPORTIONATE SHARE WILL VARY ACCORDINGLY.  INITIAL ELECTRIC CHARGE: SEPARATELY METERED SECURITY DEPOSIT: $24,676.66 PERMIITED USE: GENERAL OFFICE PURPOSES PUBLIC LIABILITY INSURANCE LIMITS: $1,000,000.00 PER OCCURRENCE AND $2,000,000.00 IN THE AGGREGAIB  PRESENT AFTER HOURS HEATING/COOLING CHARGE: $75.00 per hour for ventilating and air conditioning and $15.00 per hour for heat if requested by Tenant  00425441.IXX'/3 3

 



 
 

 
(B) EXHIBITS  The exhibits listed below in this Section are incorporated in this lease by reference and are  to be construed as part of this lease: EXHIBIT A Plan Showing the Demised Premises EXHIBIT B Legal Description EXHIBIT C  Building Rules and Regulations EXHJBIT D Tenant's Work EXHIBIT E Landlord's Work  ARTICLE II PREMISES 2. PREMISES Subject to and with the benefit of the provisions of this lease, Landlord hereby leases to Tenant, and Tenant leases from Landlord, approximately 3,36S square feet of rentable floor area on the first (1th) floor of the Building, excluding exterior faces of exterior walls, all common facilities of the Building and all building service fixtures and equipment serving (exclusively or in common) other parts of the Building. Tenant's space is hereinafter referred to as "the demised premises" and is shown on Exhibit A attached hereto and made a part hereof. Tenant shall have, as appurtenant to the demised premises, the right to use in common with others entitled thereto, subject to reasonable rules from time to time made by Landlord of which Tenant is given notice: (i) the common facilities from time to time included in the Building or on the parcel of land on which the Building is located (said parcel being more particularly described in Exhibit B and being hereafter referred to as "Property"),to the extent from time to time designated by Landlord; and (ii) the building service fixtures and equipment serving the demised premises. Landlord reserves the right from time to time (a) to install,
repair, replace, use, maintain and relocate for service to the demised premises and to other parts of the Building or either, building service fixtures and equipment wherever located in the Building; (b) to alter, relocate or eliminate any other common facility, except that such alteration shall not materially impair access to the Premises; (c) to designate specific parking areas upon the Property or within any parking garage serving the Building to be for the exclusive use of one or more users thereof, but subject to Tenant's right to any parking space specifically provided for in this I.ease; (d) to designate specific traffic routes for trucks end other delivery vehicles; (e) to alter the size of the Building; and (f) to increase and/or decrease the size of the Property by the acquisition of adjacent land and/or the disposition of any portions thereof. No such increase or decrease shall be deemed to have occurred until Landlord shall give Tenant at least thirty (30) days notice thereof. In addition to the demised premises Landlord hereby leases to Tenant and Tenant hereby leases from landlord storage space containing approximately 600 rentable square feet of floor area in the parking garage serving the Building and at the Fixed Rent set forth therefore in Article I of this lease. The insurance that Tenant is required to carry pursuant to Subsection (8) of Article VI of the lease shall be carried also on said storage space. Tenant shall use said storage at its sole risk and Landlord shall have no liability for theft or damage to the contents of 00425441.DOC/3 4

 



 
 

 
said storage space. If for any reason Tenant shall fail timely to pay the charge for said storage space, Landlord shall have the same rights against Tenant as Landlord has with respect to the timely payment of Fixed Rent hereunder. The monthly rate for the storage space set forth above may be increased by Landlord in its discretion pursuant to market conditions upon forty-five (45) days notice to Tenant ARTICLE III TERM AND CONSTRUCTION 3. (A) TERM To have and to hold for a period of ten (10) years and four (4) months ("the Term or the Original Term"}commencing on the delivery of the demised premises to Tenant with Landlord's Work substantially complete ("the Commencement Date") and, unless sooner terminated as provided herein, expiring on tenth (l0th) anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date; provided that if the Term (calculated as aforesaid) would expire prior to the last day of a calendar month, the Term shall be extended so as to expire on the last day of such calendar month. Promptly after the commencement of the Term of this lease, Landlord and Tenant shall execute a Commencement Date Agreement setting forth the commencement and expiration dates and the Term of this Lease. (B) DELIVERY Tenant acknowledges that it has inspected the demised premises, and itis understood and agreed that Tenant will accept the demised premises in its existing physical condition, and except as otherwise expressly stated herein Landlord shall be under no obligation to make any repairs, alterations or improvements to the
demised premises prior to or at the commencement of the term hereof or at any time thereafter. Landlord shall expose the wood ceiling, sandblast the wood and the brick of the demised premises as needed and retrofit the sprinkler heads as needed. In addition, Landlord shall build-out the demised premises pursuant to Exhibit E, using building standard materials and finishings. Promptly upon delivery of the demised premises to Tenant with Landlord’s Work substantially complete as set forth in Exhibit E below, Tenant shall promptly perform, at its own cost and expense, all other work required to prepare the demised premises for Tenant's occupancy pursuant to the provisions of Exhibit D attached hereto and made a part hereof and plans and specifications approved by Landlord, including Tenant's telephone/data cabling, installation and cooling. Tenant shall equip the demised premises with all trade fixtures and personal property suitable or appropriate to the regular and normal operation of the type of business in which Tenant is engaged.  All such trade fixtures and personal property shall be of first-class quality, and subject to Landlord's approval not unreasonably withheld. During the period commencing upon the earlier of (a) the fust entry by Tenant or its agents for the purpose of performing any work, or (b) the execution and delivery of this lease, and ending upon the Commencement Date, Tenant shall comply with all of the provisions of this lease as if said period were part of the term of this lease, except that no rent shall be payable for said
period. 00425441.IXJC/3 5

 



 
 

 
Subject to the provisions of Section (O) of Article X below, any delays not attributable to Landlord, and the provisions of Exhibit E below, Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to deliver the Premises to Tenant with all work to be Performed by Landlord substantially completed no later than one hundred fifty (150) days following the issuance of all required permits for Landlord 1s Work. Landlord's Work shall be deemed substantially complete when Landlord so determines.  (C) GENERAL CONSTRUCTION PROVISIONS.  All construction work required or permitted by this leas"7 whether by Landlord or by Tenant, shall be done in a good and workmanlike manner and incompliance with all applicable laws and all lawful ordinances, regulations and orders of governmental authorities and insurance rating or inspection bureaus having jurisdiction over the Building. Either party may inspect the work of the other at reasonable time and shall promptly give notice of observed defects.  ARTICLE IV LANDLORD'S SERVICES  (A) LANDLORD' S SERVICES DURING THE TERM:  Landlord agrees that during the Term:  Except as otherwise provided in this lease, to make such stmctura1 repairs to the roof, exterior walls and .structural elements of the Building, and to make such repairs to the improvements on the Property as may be necessary to keep them in serviceable condition. Landlord shall also provide central heating, ventilating and air conditioning ("HVAC'') service to the demised premises which shall include air conditioning.in the
cooling season, and tempered air during the heating season, all during normal business hours which are 8:00 am - 6:00 pm Monday through Friday and 8:00 am - 12:00 pm on Saturdays. Tenant agrees to pay an hourly surcharge for HVAC service requested by Tenant outside normal business hours. The hourly surcharge is presently $75.00 per hour for heat and $75.00 per hour for ventilating and air conditioning. Landlord shall perform all required maintenance, repairs and replacements of the HVAC systems and equipment serving the demised premises and the Building. Landlord shall provide building standard cleaning to the demised premises and the common areas of the Building five (5) nights a week, Monday-Friday.  (B) INTERRUPTIONS Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for any compensation or reduction of rent by reason of inconvenience or annoyance or for loss of business arising from. (a) power losses or shortages; or (b) the necessity of Landlord's entering the demised premises for any of the purposes in this lease authorized, including without limitation, for repairing or altering the demised premises or any portion of the Building or for bringing materials into and/or through the demised premises in connection with the making of repairs or alterations, it being agreed that Landlord shall use reasonable efforts to schedule such activities outside normal business hours. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if said losses or shortages are caused by Landlord's negligence or 00425441.IX>Cl.3 6

 



 
 

 
willful act, and if Tenant cannot materially operate in the demised premises for more than five (5) consecutive business days, Fixed Rent and additional rent shall abate to the extent of the disruption until Tenant is again able to operate in the demised premises  Incase Landlord is prevented or delayed from making any repairs, alterations or improvements or furnishing any service or performing any other covenant or duty to be performed on Landlord's part, by reason of any cause reasonably beyond Landlord's control, Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant therefor, nor, except as expressly otherwise provided in Article VIII, shall Tenant be entitled to any abatement or reduction of rent by reason thereof; nor shall the same give rise to a claim in Tenant's favor that such failure constitutes actual or constructive, total or partial, eviction from the demised premises. Landlord reserves the right to stop any service or utility system when necessary in Landlord's opinion by reason of accident or emergency or until necessary repairs have been completed. Except in case of emergency repairs, Landlord will give Tenant reasonable advance notice of any contemplated stoppage and, in any event, Landlord will use reasonable efforts to avoid unnecessary inconvenience to Tenant by reason thereof.  ARTICLE V RENT  5. (A) FIXED RENT  Commencing on the Rent Commencement Date, Tenant agrees to pay, without any oft Set or reduction whatever (except as made in accordance with the express provisions of this lease), fixed monthly rent equal to I/12th of the
Fixed Rent, such rent to be paid inequal installments in advance on the first day of each calendar month thereafter included .in the Term; and for any portion of a calendar month when Commencement Date shall occur, a portion of such fixed monthly rent, prorated on a per diem basis. All payments of Fixed and additional rent shall be made to Waterfront Equity Partners, LLC and sent to Landlord's Managing Agent at Managing Agent's A4dress set forth in Section (A) of Article I above. or to such other person and/or at such other address as Landlord may from time to time designate. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant agrees to pay the Fixed Rent payable for the first full month of the term of this lease following the Rent Commencement Date in the amount of $9,814.58, contemporaneously with Tenant's execution of this lease. It is agreed and understood that in the event the Commencement Date is delayed due to delays caused by or attributable to Tenant, the Rent Commencement Date shall be accelerated one (1) day for each day of delay caused by or attributable to Tenant  If any payment of rent or any other payment payable hereunder by Tenant to Landlord shall not be paid when due a late fee of ten percent (100/ci) of the overdue amount will be charged for any rent or other amount payable hereunder which is not paid within ten (10) days after such payment becomes due. The same shall also bear interest from the date when the same was payable until the date paid at the lesser of (a) eighteen percent (18%) per annum, or (b) the highest
lawful rate of interest which Landlord may charge to Tenant without violating any applicable law. Such interest shall constitute additional rent payable hereunder. 0042!1441.00CY3 7

 



 
 

 
ADDITIONAL RENT - TAXES For the purposes of this Section. "Tax Year" shall mean the twelve-month period in use in the City of Boston, Massachusetts for the purpose of imposing ad valorem taxes upon real property. In the event that said City of Boston, Massachusetts changes the period of its tax year, "Tax Year" shall mean a twelve-month period commencing on the first day of such new tax year, and each twelve-month period commencing on an anniversary of such date during the  Term of this lease. For purposes of this Section, the "Tax Amount" shall mean the Fiscal Year 2013 real estate taxes, special assessments and betterment assessments with respect to the Property; and "Taxes" shall mean all real estate taxes, special assessments and betterment assessments with respect to the Property for any Tax Year.  (2) (i)  In the event that the Tax.es imposed with respect to the Property shall be greater during any Tax Year than the Tax Amount, Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional rent, an amount equal to the amount by which the Taxes imposed with respect to the Property exceed the Tax Amount, multiplied by Tenant's Proportionate Share apportioned for any fraction of a Tax Year contained within the Term; and (ii) Estimated payments by Tenant on account of Taxes imposed with respect to the Property shall be made on the first day of each and every calendar month during the Term of this lease, in the fashion herein provided for the payment of Fixed Rent The monthly amount so to be paid to Landlord shall be sufficient to provide
Landlord by the time payments for Taxes are due with a sum equal to Tenant's required payment, as reasonably estimated by Landlord from time to time, on account of Taxes imposed with respect to the Property for the then current Tax Year. Promptly after receipt by Landlord of bills for such Taxes imposed with respect to the Property, Landlord shall advise Tenant of the amount thereof and the computation of Tenant's payment on account thereof If estimated payments theretofore made by Tenant for the Tax Year covered by such bills exceed the required payment on account thereof for such Tax Year, Landlord shall credit the amount of over payment against subsequent obligations of Tenant on account of Taxes imposed with respect to the Property (or promptly refund such overpayment if the Term of this lease has ended and Tenant has no .further obligation to Landlord); but if the required payments on account thereof for such Tax Year are greater than estimated payments theretofore made on account thereof for such Tax Year, Tenant shall pay the difference to Landlord within thirty (30) days after being so advised by Landlord, and the obligation to make such payment for any period within the Term shall survive expiration or earlier termination of the Term of this lease. (iii) In the event the first day of the Tax Year in the City of Boston, Massachusetts should be changed after the Commencement Date so as to change the twelve-month period comprising the Tax Year, in determining the additional rent to be paid by Tenant under this Section
with respect to the real estate taxes payable for any partial tax year, the Tax Amount shall be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of days elapsing during such partial tax year, and the denominator of which shall be 365. (3) If Landlord shall receive any tax refund or rebate or sum in lieu thereof with respect to any Tax Year, then out of any balance remaining thereof; after deducting Landlord's 00425441.DOC/3 8

 



 
 

 
expenses incurred in obtaining such refund, rebate or other sum, Landlord shall pay to Tenant, provided that Tenant is not then in default in the performance of any of its obligations hereunder, an amount equal to such balance multiplied by Tenant's Proportionate Share for such Tax Year; but in no event shall Landlord pay to Tenant out of such refund, rebate or other sum for any Tax Year more than the amount paid by Tenant to Landlord pursuant to this Section (B) for such Tax Year. (4) Any betterment assessment, so-called "rent tax" or any other tax levied or imposed by any governmental authority in addition to, in lieu of or as a substitute for real estate taxes shall never the less be deemed to be real estate taxes for the purpose of 1his Section (B). Furthermore, to the extent that any equipment installed as part of the Property (e.g. heating or air conditioning equipment) shall be classified as personal property for purposes of taxation, any personal property taxes thereon shall be deemed to be Taxes for purposes of this Section (B).  (5) In the event of any taking of the Building under circumstances whereby this lease shall not terminate, Tenant's Proportionate Share shall be adjusted in order to reflect any change in the rentable floor area of the demised premises and/or the total rentable floor area of the Building.  ADDITIONAL RENT - OPERATING EXPENSES  For the purposes of this Section, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:  Operating Year: Each successive fiscal year (as adopted by Landlord) in which any part
of the Term of this lease shall fa11•Operating Expenses: All reasonable expenses incurred by Landlord in operating and maintaining the Building, any parking garage serving the Building, the "Property" (as said term is hereinafter defined) (and the parking area contained therein) as well as their appurtenances, including but without limitation: premiums for insurance; security expenses; compensation and all fringe benefits, workmen's compensation insurance premiums and payroll taxes paid by Landlord to, for or with respect to all persons engaged in operating, maintaining, or cleaning of the Building and the Property (it being understood that only that portion of such employee cost attributed to the Building and the Property shall be included, and if any such employee works on other properties, their costs shall be allocated between properties to accurately reflect those costs specific to the Building and Property); steam, water, sewer, gas, telephone, and other utility charges not billed directly to tenants by Landlord or the utility company; cost of building and cleaning supplies, services and equipment (including rental); cost of maintenance, cleaning, repairs and replacements to the Building and the Property including the heating ventilating and air conditioning systems serving the Building or the demised premises; cost of snow plowing or removal, or both and care of landscaping; payments to independent contractors under service contracts for cleaning, operating, managing, maintaining and repairing the Building and the Property (which
payments maybe to affiliates of Landlord provided the same are at competitive :rates); all other reasonable and necessary expenses paid in connection with the operation, cleaning, maintenance, repair and replacement of the Building and the Property, or either, 004425441.DOC/3 9

 



 
 

 
including reasonable reserves for the replacement of equipment contained in and/or used in connection with the operation of the Property, provided such reserves are calculated in a manner no less favorable to Tenant than the manner used for reserve calculations when establishing the Base Opemti.ng Expenses; and a management fee equal to five percent (5%) of all of the gross revenues of the Building for the Operating Year in question. If during any portion of any year for which Operating Expenses are being computed the Building was not fully occupied by tenants or if not all of such tenants were paying fixed rent or if Landlord was not supplying all tenants with the services being supplied hereunder, actual Operating Expenses incurred shall be reasonably extrapolated by Landlord to the estimated Operating Expenses that would have been incurred if the Building were fully occupied by tenants and all such tenan1s were then paying fixed rent or if such services were being supplied to all tenants, and such extrapolated amount shall, for the purposes of this Section, be deemed to be the Operating Expenses for such year. Landlord shall provide to Tenant prior to execution of this Lease, a current generally itemized Operating Expense statement for the proposed 2012 budget of Operating Expenses. Base Operating Expenses: Calendar Year 2013 Operating Expenses. (2) After the expiration of each Operating Year, Landlord shall furnish Tenant with a statement setting forth in reasonable detail the Operating Expenses for such Operating Year. Such
statement shall be accompanied by a computation of the amount, if any, of the additional rent payable to Landlord pursuant to this Section. (3)(i) In the event that the Operating Expenses during any Operating Year shall be greater than the Base Operating Expenses, Tenant shall pay to Landlord as additional rent, an amount equal to the excess of the Operating Expenses for such Operating Year over and above the Base Operating Expenses multiplied by Tenant's Proportionate Share. (ii) Estimated payments by Tenant on account of Operating Expenses shall be made on the first day of each and every calendar month during the Term of this lease, in the fashion herein provided for the payment of Fixed Rent The monthly amount so to be paid to Landlord shall be sufficient to provide Landlord by the end of each Operating Year a sum equal to Tenant's required payment, as reasonably estimated by Landlord from time to time during each    Operating Year, on account of Operating Expenses for such Operating Year. After the end of each Operating Year, Landlord shall submit to Tenant a reasonably detailed accounting of Operating Expenses for such Operating Year. If estimated payments theretofore made for such Operating Year by Tenant exceed Tenant' s required payment on account thereof for such Operating Year according to such statement, Landlord shall m-edit the am01mt of overpayment against subsequent obligations of Tenant with respect to Operating Expenses (or promptly refund such overpayment if the Term of this lease has ended and
Tenant has no further obligation to Landlord); but if the required payments on account thereof for such Operating Year are greater than the estimated payments (if any) theretofore made on account thereof for such Operating Year, Tenant shall make payment to Landlord within thirty (30) days after being so advised by Landlord, and the obligation to make such payment for any period within the Term shall survive expiration or earlier termination of the Term of this lease. 004423441.DOC/3 10

 



 
 

 
(4) Said additional rent shall, with respect to the: Operating Years in which the Commencement Date: and end of the: Term of this lease fall, be adjusted to that proportion thereof as the portion of the Term of this lease falling within such Operating Year bears to the full Operating Year. If Landlord shall change its fiscal year, appropriate adjustments shall be made for any Operating Year of less than twelve months which may result (5) Any additional rent payable by Tenant under this Section (C) shall be paid within thirty (30) days after Landlord has furnished Tenant with the statement described above. (6) In the event of any taking of the Building under circumstances whereby this lease shall not terminate, the Tenant's Proportionate Share shall be appropriately adjusted to reflect any change in the floor area of the demised premises and/or the rentable floor area of the Building. (D) ADDITIONAL RENT – ELECTRICITY (1) The demised premises has utility meters measuring only the amount of the utilities consumed in the demised premises. AB such, Tenant shall pay to the utility companies furnishing such utilities, promptly upon the receipt of bills therefor, the cost of such utilities consumed in the demised premises. (2) Tenant's use of electricity in the demised premises shall not at any time exceed the capacity of any of the electrical conductors or equipment in or otherwise serving the demised premises. ARTICLE VI TENANT'S COVENANTS 6. TENANT'S COVENANTS DURING THE TERM. Tenant covenants during the Term and such
other time as Tenant occupies any part of the demised premises: (1) To pay when due (a) all Fixed Rent and additional rent, (b) all taxes which may be imposed on Tenant's personal property in the demised premises (including, without limitation, Tenant's fixtures and equipment) regardless to whomever assessed, and (c) all charges by any public utility fur telephone and other utility services rendered to the demised premises; (2) Except as otherwise provided in Article VIII and Section 4(A), to keep the demised premises clean, in good order, repair and condition, reasonable wear only excepted; to replace all light bulbs as necessary; maintain. And replace all interior glass; keep all utilities, pipes, conduits, drains and other installations used in connection with the demised premises, and at the expiration or termination of this lease peaceably to yield up the demised premises and all changes and additions therein in such order, repair and condition, first removing all goods and effects of Tenant and those claiming under Tenant and any items the removal of which is required by any agreement between Landlord and Tenant (or specified therein to be removed at Tenant's election and which Tenant elects to remove), and repairing all damage caused by such 004423441.DOC/3 11

 



 
 

 
removal and restoring the demised premises and leaving them clean and neat. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, Tenant shall forthwith remove from the demised premises (repairing any damage caused by such removal) any installations, alterations, additions or improvements made by Tenant as part of Tenant's work, and which Landlord requests Tenant to remove within t1rlrty (30) days after the expiration or termination of the tam of this lease, such removal to include returning the previously modified portions of the demised premises to their condition prior to the making of such installations, alterations, additions or improvements. Tenant's obligations hereunder shall survive the expiration or termination of the Tenn. For purposes of this Section (2) the word "repairs" includes the making of replacements when necessary; (3) Continuously from the Commencement Date, to use and occupy such portions of the demised premises delivered to Tenant only for the Permitted Use, and the storage space only fur storage of Tenant's equipment; and not to injure or deface the demised premises. Building, or Property; and not to permit in the demised premises any auction sale, nuisance, or the emission from the demised premises or the storage space of any objectionable noise or odor; nor any use thereof which is improper, offensive, contrary to law or ordinances, or liable to invalidate or increase the premiums for any insurance on the Building (or any portion thereof) or its contents, or liable to render necessary any alteration or
addition to the Building; (4) To comply with all applicable laws, rules, regulations, codes, ordinances and by- laws including, without limitation, the reasonable rules and regulations set forth in Exhibit C and all other reasonable rules and regulations hereafter made by Landlord (but only after copies thereof have been delivered to Tenant) for the care and use of the Building and 'the Property and their facilities and approaches, it being expresaly understood, that Landlord shall not be liable to Tenant for the failure of other tenants of the Building to conform to such rules and regulations; (5) To keep the demised premises equipped with all safety appliances required by law or ordinance or any other regulation of any public authority and/or any insurance inspection or rating bureau having jurisdiction, and to procure all licenses and permits required because of any use made by Tenant and, if requested by Landlord, to do any work required because of such use, it being understood that the foregoing provisions shall not be construed to broaden in any way  the Permitted Use; (6) Not without the prior written consent of Landlord, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld, to assign, hypothecate, pledge or otherwise encumber this lease, to make any sublease or to permit occupancy of the demised premises, the storage space or any part thereof by anyone other than Tenant, voluntarily or by operation of law; and as additional rent, to reimburse Landlord promptly upon demand for reasonable legal and other expenses incurred by Landlord in
connection with any request by Tenant for consent to assignment or subletting. In the event Tenant requests Landlord' s consent to sublet or assign the right to use the storage  space, without intending to limit Landlord's discretion in granting or withholding such consent, Landlord shall have the option, exercisable by notice to Tenant given within thirty (30) days after receipt of such request, to terminate this lease as to only the storage space as of a date specified in said notice.  If Landlord shall so terminate this lease as to the storage space, rent for the 004423441.DOC/3 12

 



 
 

 
storage space shall be apportioned as of the date of termination, and Landlord may lease the storage space or any portion thereof to any person or entity (including without limitation, Tenant's proposed assignee or subtenant, as the case may be) without any liability whatsoever to       Tenant by reason thereof If Landlord shall consent to any assignment of this lease by Tenant or a subletting of the whole of the demised premises by Tenant at a rent which exceeds the rent payable hereunder by Tenant, or if Landlord shall consent to a subletting of a portion of the demised premises by Tenant at a rent in excess of the subleased portion's prorata share of the rent payable hereunder by Tenant, then Tenant shall pay to Landlord, as additional rent forthwith upon Tenant's receipt of each installment of any such excess rent, fifty percent (50%) of the full amount of any such excess rent. Each request by Tenant for permission to assign this lease or to sublet the whole or any part of the demised premises shall be accompanied by a warranty by Tenant as to the amount of rent to be paid to Tenant by the proposed assignee or sublessee. For purposes of this Section (6) the term "rent” shall mean all fixed rent, additional rent or other payments and/or consideration payable by one party to another for the use and occupancy of premises. Tenant agrees, however, that neither it nor anyone claiming under it shall enter into any sublease, license, concession or other agreement for use, occupancy or utilization of space in the demised premises which provides for rental or
other payment for such use, occupancy or utilization based, in whole or in part, on the net income or profits derived by any person or entity from the space leased, used, occupied or utilized (other than an amount based on a fixed percentage or percentages of receipts or sales), and Tenant agrees that any such purported sublease, license, concession or other agreement shall be absolutely void and ineffective as a conveyance of any right or intere8t in the possession, use, occupancy or utilization of any part of the demised premises. Tenant further agrees that any sublease, license, concession or agreement for use, occupancy or utilization of space in the demised premises entered into by it or by anyone claiming under it shall contain the provisions set forth in the immediately preceding sentence. Tenant forth.er agrees that if a sublease is entered into neither the rent payable thereunder nor the amount thereof passed on to any person or entity shall have deducted therefrom any expenses or costs related in any way to the subleasing of such space. If and whenever Tenant shall not be a so-called "publicly held" company, it is understood and agreed that the transfer of fifty percent (50%) or more of the stock in Tenant of any class (whether at one time or at intervals) shall constitute an "assignment" of Tenant's interest in this lease. If there shall be any assignment or subletting by Tenant pursuant to the provisions of this paragraph, Tenant shall remain primarily liable for the performance and observance of the covenants and agreements herein contained on the
part of Tenant to be performed and observed, such liability to be (m the case of any assignment) joint and several with that of such assignee. It is expressly understood and agreed that no assignment of Tenant's interest in this lease shall be effective until such time as Tenant shall deliver to Landlord an agreement from the assignee, which agreement shall be reasonably satisfactory to Landlord in form and substance and shall provide that the assignee agrees with Landlord to be primarily liable for the performance and observance of the covenants and agreements herein contained on the part of Tenant to be performed and observed, such liability to be joint and several with that of Tenant. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this lease, Tenant shall have no right to assign this lease or sublease all or any portion of the demised premises to any existing tenants, subtenants or occupants of the Building. (7) Each party shall defend the other party, with acceptable counsel, save the other party harmless from, and indemnify the other party against any liability for injury, loss, accident 004423441.DOC/3 13

 



 
 

 
or damage to any person or property and from any claims, actions, proceedings and expenses and costs in connection therewith (including, without implied limitation, reasonable counsel's fees): (i) arising from the omission, fault, willful act, negligence at other misconduct of each party or anyone claiming under such party or from any use made or thing done or occurring upon or about the demised premises but not due to the omission, fault, willful act, negligence or other misconduct of each party, or (ii) resulting from the failure of each party to perform and discharge its covenants and obligations under this lease; (8) To maintain public liability insurance upon the demised premises in amounts which shall, at the beginning of the Term, be at least equal to $1,000,000.00 per occurrence and $2,000,000.00 in the aggregate, and from time to time during the Term, shall be for such higher limits, if any, as are customarily carried in the area in which the demised premises are located upon property similar in type and use to the demised premises. Such insurance shall name Landlord. Landlord's Managing Agent, and Landlord's Mortgagee as additional insureds and shall further cover any and all of Tenant's vendors who enter the Building and/or the Property. Vendors for whom no such evidence of insurance has been provided will not be permitted to ent.er the Building and/or the Property. Tenant shall deliver to Landlord the policies of such insurance, or certificates thereof, at least fifteen (15) days prior to the Commencement Date, and each renewal
policy or certificate thereof: at least fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration of the policy it renews. Each such policy shall be written by a responsible insurance company authorized to do business in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and shall provide that the same shall not be modified or terminated without at least twenty (20) days' prior written notice to each named insured; (9) To keep all employees working in the demised premises covered by workmen's compensation insurance in amounts required by law, and to furnish Landlord with certificates thereof; (10) Upon reasonable notice and so long as Tenant's business is not unreasonably interrupted, to permit Landlord and its agents entry: to examine the demised premises at reasonable times and, if Landlord shall so elect, to make repairs, alterations and replacements; to remove, at Tenant's expense, any changes, additions, signs, curtains, blinds, shades, awnings, aerials, :flagpoles, or the like not consented to inwriting; and to show the demised premises to prospective tenants during the six (6) months preceding the expiration of the Term and to prospective purchasers and mortgagees at all reasonable times; (11) Not to place a load upon any part of the floor of the demised premises exceeding that for which said floor was designed or in violation of what is allowed by law; and not to move any safe, vault, diagnostic imaging equipment or other heavy equipment in, about or out of the demised premises except in such manner and at such times as Landlord shall approve inwriting in each
instance. Tenant's business machines and other mechanical equipment which cause vibration or noise that may be transmitted to the Building structure or to any other space in the Building shall be placed and maintained by Tenant in settings of cork, rubber, spring, or other types of vibration e1iminators sufficient to confine such vibration or noise to the demised premises; 004423441.DOC/3 14

 



 
 

 
(12) All the furnishings, fixtures, equipment, effects and property of every kind, nature and description of Tenant and of all persons claiming by, through or under Tenant which, during the continuance of this lease or any occupancy of the demised premises by Tenant or anyone claiming under Tenant, may be on the demised premises or elsewhere in the Building or on the Property shall be at the sole risk and hazard of Tenant (subject to applicable law), and if the whole or any part thereof shall be destroyed or damaged by fire, water or otherwise, or by the leakage or bursting of water pipes, steam pipes, or other pipes, by theft, or from any other cause, no part of said loss or damage is to be charged to or to be borne by Landlord, unless caused by the negligence or willful act of Landlord; (13) To pay promptly when due the entire cost of any work done on the demised premises by Tenant and those claiming under Tenant; not to cause or permit any liens for labor or materials performed or furnished in connection therewith to attach to the demised premises; and immediately to discharge any such liens which may so attach; (14) Not to make any alterations, improvements, changes or additions to the demised premises without Landlord's prior written consent; (15) To pay to Landlord two (2) times the total of the Fixed Rent and additional rent then applicable for each month or portion thereof that Tenant shall retain possession of the demised premises or any part thereof after the termination of this lease, whether by lapse of time or otherwise, and also to
pay all damages sustained by Landlord on account thereof; however,  the provisions of this subsection shall not operate as a waiver by Landlord of any right of re  entry provided in this lease or as a matter of law. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall have no right to remain in possession of the demised premises or any part thereof after the termination of this lease without prior written consent of Landlord; (16) To insure the contents, equipment, and improvements of Tenant and those claiming under Tenant, under policies covering at least fire and the standard extended coverage risks, in amounts equal to the replacement cost thereof, the terms of which policies shall provide that such insurance shall not be canceled without at least twenty (20) days' prior written notice to Landlord. Copies of such insurance policy or policies, or certificates there o shall be delivered to Landlord at least fifteen (15) days prior to the Commencement Date and each renewal policy or certificate thereof, at least fifteen (15) days prior to the expiration of the policy it renews; and (17) Tenant shall pay all reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorney's fees, incurred in enforcing any obligation of Tenant in this lease. ARTICLE VII DEFAULT (A) EVENTS OF DEFAULT If Tenant shall default in the payment of Fixed Rent, additional rent or other payments required of Tenant, and if Tenant shall fail to cure said default within seven (7) days after receipt of notice of said default from Landlord, or (2) if Tenant shall default in the 004423441.DOC/3 15

 



 
 

 
performance or observance of any other agreement or condition on its part to be performed or observed and if Tenant shall fail to cure said default within :fifteen (15) days after receipt of notice of said default from Landlord (but if longer than fifteen (IS) days shall be reasonably required to cure said default, then if Tenant shall fail to commence the curing of such defim1t within fifteen (l5) days after receipt of said notice and diligently prosecute the curing thereof to completion), or (3) if any person shall levy upon, or take this leasehold interest or any part thereof upon execution, attachment or other process of law, or (4) if Tenant shall make an assignment of its property for the benefit of creditors, or (5) if Tenant shall be declared bankrupt or insolvent according to law, or (6) if any bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings shall be commenced by or against Tenant, or (7) if a receiver, trustee or assignee shall be appointed for the whole or any part of Tenant's property, then in any of said cases, Landlord lawfully may immediately, or at any time thereafter, and without any farther notice or demand, enter into and upon the demised premises or any part thett0f in the name of the whole, and hold the demised premises as if this lease had not been made, and expel Tenant and those claiming under it and remove its or their property without being taken or deemed to be guilty of any manner of trespass (or Landlord may send written notice to Tenant of the termination of this lease), and upon entry as aforesaid (or in the event that Landlord shall send Tenant
notice of termination as above provided, on the fifth day next following the date of the sending of the notice), the term of this lease shall terminate. Notwithstanding the provisions of clauses (1) and (2) of the immediately preceding sentence, if Landlord shall have rightfully given Tenant notice of default pursuant to either or both of said clauses twice during any twelve-month period, and if Tenant shall  thereafter default in the payment of Fixed Rent, additional rent or other payments and/or the performance or observance of any other agreement or condition required of Tenant, then  Landlord may exercise the right of termination provided for it in said immediately preceding sentence without first giving Tenant notice of such default and the opportunity to cure the same within the time provided in said clause (1) and/or clause (2), as the case may be. Tenant hereby expressly waives any and all rights of redemption granted by or under any present or future laws in the event of Tenant being evicted or dispossessed for any cause, or in the event Landlord terminates this lease as provided in this Article. (B) OBLIGATIONS T.HERBAFTBR In case of any such termination, Tenant will indemnify Landlord each month against all loss of Fixed Rent and additional rent and against all obligations which Landlord may incur by reason of any such termination between the time of termination and the expiration of the Term, less credit for any rents received by Landlord for the Premises. As an alternative, at the election of the Landlord, the Tenant will upon such
termination pay to the Landlord, as damages, such a sum as at the time of such termination represents the amount of the excess, if any, of the then value of the total rent and other benefits which would have accrued to the Landlord under this lease for the remainder of the lease term if the lease terms had been fully complied with by the Tenant over and above the then cash rental value in advance of the premises for the balance of the term with the result discounted at a rate of eight percent (8%) per year. Itis understood and agreed that at the time of the termination or at any time thereafter Landlord may rent the demised premises, and for a term which may expire before or after the expiration of the Term, without releasing Tenant from any liability whatsoever, that Tenant shall be liable for any expenses incurred by Landlord in connection with obtaining possession of the demised premises, With 004423441.DOC/3 16

 



 
 

 
removing from the demised premises property of Tenant and persons claiming under it (including warehouse charges), with putting the demised premises into good condition for reletting, and with any reletting, including, but without limitation, reasonable attorneys' fees and brokers fees, and that any monies collected from any reletting shall be applied first to the foregoing expenses and then to the payment of Fixed Rent, additional rent and all other payments due from Tenant to Landlord. ARTICLE VI11 CASUALTY AND TAKING 8. (A) CASUALTY AND TAKING In case during the Term all or any substantial part of the demised premises, the Building, or Property or any one or more of them, are damaged by fire or any other casualty or by action of public or other authority or are taken by eminent domain, this lease shall terminate at Landlord' selection, which may be made notwithstanding Landlord's entire interest may have been divested, by notice given to Tenant within thirty (30) days after the occurrence: of the event giving rise to the election to terminate. Said notice shall, in the case of damage as aforesaid, specify the effective date of termination which shall be not less than 1hirty nor more than sixty days after the date of notice of such termination. In the case of any such taking by eminent domain, the effective date of the termination shall be the day on which the taking authority shall take possession of the taken property. Fixed Rent and additional rent shall be apportioned and adjusted as of the effective date of any such termination.
If in any such case the demised  premises are rendered unfit for use and occupation and this lease is not so terminated, Landlord shall use due diligence to put the demised premises, or, in the case of a takin& what may remain thereof (excluding any items which Tenant may be required or permitted to remove from the demised premises at the expiration of the Term) into proper condition for use and occupation, but Landlord shall not be required to spend more than the net proceeds of insurance or award of damages it receives therefor, and, in any event: (i) a just proportion of the Fixed Rent and additional rent according to the nature and extent of the injury to the demised premises shall be abated until the demised premises or such remainder shall have been put by Landlord in such condition; and (ii) in case of a taking which permanently reduces the area of the demised premises, a just proportion of the Fixed Rent shall be abated for the remainder of the Term. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event of a casualty caused by Tenant, Tenant shall not be entitled to any relief from its obligation to pay rent nor shall Tenant have any right to terminate the lease. If there shall be (i) a taking, or damage or destruction to the demised premises by fire or other casualty not caused by Tenant, and (ii)Landlord is unable to provide Tenant with comparable replacement space elsewhere in the Building, and (iii) if the demised premises shall not be replaced, repaired or restored by Landlord within six (6) months from the date of loss, then Tenant may terminate
the Term of this lease by a notice to Landlord within thirty (30) days after the expiration of such period; provided that said replacement, repair or restoration shall not have been completed prior to the receipt by Landlord of said notice. 004423441.DOC/3 17

 



 
 

 
(B) RESERVATION OF AWARD Landlord reserves to itself any and all rights to receive awards made for damage to the demised premises, Building or Property and the leasehold hereby created, or any one or more of them, accruing by reason of any exercise of the right of eminent domain or by reason of anything done in pursuance of public or other authority. Tenant hereby releases and assigns to Landlord  all of Tenant's rights to such awards, and covenants to deliver such :further assignments and assurances thereof as Landlord may from time to time request, hereby irrevocably designating  and appointing Landlord as its attorney-in-fact to execute and deliver in Tenant's name and behalf all such further assignments thereat: Itis agreed and und however, that Landlord does not reserve to itself, and Tenant does not assign to Landlord, any damages payable for (i) movable equipment installed by Tenant or anybody claiming under Tenant at its own expense or (ii)relocation expenses, but in each case only if and to the extent that such damages are recoverable by Tenant from such authority in a separate action and without reducing Landlord's award of damages. ARTICLE IX MORTGAGEE (9) (A) SUBORDINATION TO MORTGAGES It is agreed that the rights and interest of Tenant under this lease shall be: (i) subject and subordinate to the lien of any present or future first mortgage and to any and all advances to be made thereunder, and to the interest thereon, upon the demised premises or any property of which the demised premises are a part,
if the holder of such mortgage shall elect, by notice to Tenant, to subject and subordinate the rights and interest of Tenant under this lease to the lien of its mortgage; or (ii) prior to the lien of any present or :future first mortgage, if the holder of such mortgage shall elect, by notice to Tenant, to give the rights and interest of Tenant under this  lease priority to the lien of its mortgage. It is understood and agreed that the holder of such mortgage may also elect, by notice to Tenant, to make some provisions hereof subject and subordinate to the lien of its mortgage while granting other provisions hereof priority to the lien of its mortgage. Jn the event of any of such elections, and upon notification by the bolder of such mortgage to that effect, the rights and interest of Tenant under this lease shall be deemed to be subordinate to, or to have priority over, as the case may be, the lien of said mortgage, irrespective of the time of execution or time of recording of any such mortgage. Tenant agrees that it will, upon request of Landlord, execute, acknowledge and deliver any and all instruments deemed by Landlord necessary or desirable to evidence or to give notice of such subordination or priority. The word "mortgage" as used herein includes mortgages, deeds of trust or other similar ins1ruments and modifications, consolidations, extensions, renewals, replacements and substitutes thereof. Whether the lien of any mortgage upon the demised premises or any property of which the demised premises are apart shall be superior or subordinate to this lease and the lien
hereat; Tenant agrees that it will, upon request, attorn to the holder of such mortgage or anyone claiming under such holder and their respective successors and assigns in the event of foreclosure of or similar action taken under such mortgage. Tenant further agrees that it shall not subordinate its interest in this lease to the lien of any junior mortgage, security agreement or 004423441.DOC/3 18

 



 
 

 
lease affecting the demised premises, unless the holder of the first mortgage upon the demised premises or property which includes the demised premises shall consent thereto. (B) LIMITATION ON MORTGAGEE'S LIABIUTY Upon entry and taking possession of the mortgaged premises for any purpose, the holder of a mortgage shall have all rights of Landlord, and during the period of such possession Landlord, not such mortgage holder, shall have the duty to perform all of Landlord's obligations hereunder. No such holder shall be liable, either as a mortgagee or as holder of a collateral assignment of this lease, to perform, or be liable in damages for failure to perform, any of the obligations of Landlord unless and until such holder shall succeed to Landlord's interest herein through foreclosure of its mortgage or the taking of a deed in lieu of foreclosure, and thereafter such mortgage holder shall not be liable for the performance of any of Landlord's obligations hereunder, except for the performance of those obligations which arise during the period of time that such mortgage holder holds Landlord's right, title and interest in this lease, such liability to be limited to the same extent as Landlord's liability is limited pursuant to Section 10(E) hereof. (C) NO RELEASE OR TERMINATION No act or failure to act on the part of Landlord which would entitle Tenant under the terms of this lease, or by law, to be relieved of any of Tenant’s obligations hereunder or to terminate this lease, shall result in a release or termination of sum obligations or a
termination of this lease unless (i)Tenant shall have first given written notice of Landlord's act or f8ilure to act to Landlord's mortgagees of record, if any, specifying the act or failure to act on the part of Landlord which could or would be the basis .of Tenant's rights and (ii) such mortgagees. after receipt of such notice, have failed or refused correct or cure the condition complained of within a reasonable time thereafter, but nothing contained in this Section (c) shall be deemed to impose any obligation on any such mortgagee to correct or cure any such condition. "Reasonable time" as used above means a period of time equivalent to that available to Landlord pursuant to this lease to correct or cure the condition. Finally, Tenant agrees that so long as any present or future mortgage shall remain in effect Tenant shall not alter, modify, amend, change, surrender or cancel this lease, except as expressly authorized herein, nor pay the rent due hereunder in advance for more than thirty (30) days, except as may be required herein, without the prior written consent of the holder there of and Tenant will not seek to be made an adverse or defendant party in any action or proceeding brought to enforce or foreclose such mortgage. ARTICLE X GENERAL PROVISIONS 10. (A) CAPTIONS The captions of the Articles arc for convenience and are not to be considered in construing this lease. 004423441.DOC/3 19

 



 
 

 
(B) SHORT FORM LEASE Upon request of either party both parties shall execute and deliver a short form of this lease inform appropriate for recording, and if this lease is terminated before the Term expires, an instrument in such form acknowledging the date of termination. No such short form lease shall contain any indication of the amount of the rentals payable hereunder by Tenant. (C) ITENTIONALLY OMITTED. (D) NOTICES All notices and other communications authorized or :required hereunder shall be in writing and shall be given by mailing the same by certified or registered mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid, by mailing the same by Express Mail or by having the same delivered by a commercial delivery service such as Federal Express, UPS, Airborne Express and the like. If given to Tenant the same shall be directed to Tenant at Tenant's Address listed in Section (A) of Article 1above, or to such other person or at such other address as Tenant may hereafter designate by notice to Landlord; and if given to Landlord the same shall be directed. to Landlord at Landlord's Address, or to such other person or at such other address as Landlord may hereafter designate by notice to Tenant. In the event the notice directed as above provided shall not be received upon attempted delivery thereof to the proper address and shall be returned by the Postal Service or delivery service to the sender because of a refusal of receipt, the absence of a person to receive, or otherwise, the time of the giving of such notice shall be the first business
day on which delivery was so attempted. After receiving notice :from Landlord or from any person, firm or other entity that such person, firm or other entity holds a mortgage which includes the demised premises as part of the mortgaged premises, no notice from Tenant to Landlord shall be effective unless and until a copy of the same is given by certified or registered mail to such holder, and the curing of any of Landlord's defaults by such holder shall be treated as performance by Landlord, it being understood and agreed that such holder shall be afforded a reasonable period of time after the receipt of such notice in which to effect such cure. (E) SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS The obligations of this ]ease shall nm with the land, and this lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns, except that the Landlord named herein and each successive owner of Landlord's interest in this lease shall be liable only for the obligations of Landlord accruing during the period of its ownership. Whenever Landlord's interest in this lease is owned by a trustee or trustees, the obligations of Landlord shall be binding upon Landlord's trust estate, but not upon any trustee, beneficiary or shareholder of the trust individually. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, and whether or not Landlord's interest in this lease is owned by a trustee or trustees, Tenant specifically agrees to look solely to Landlord's interest in the Bw1ding and Property for recovery of any
judgment from Landlord, it being specifically agreed that neither Landlord, any 1Iustee, beneficiary or shareholder of any trust estate for which Landlord 004423441.DOC/3 20

 



 
 

 
acts nor any person or entity claiming by, through or under Landlord shall ever otherwise be personally liable for any such judgment. (F) NO SURRENDER The delivery of keys to any employee of Landlord or to Landlord's agent or any employee thereof shall not operate as a termination of this lease or a surrender of the demised premises. (G) WAIVERS AND REMEDIES The failure of Landlord or of Tenant to seek redress for violation of; or to insist upon the strict performance of any covenant or condition of this lease, or, with respect to such failure of Landlord, any of the rules and regulations referred to in Section 6(4), whether heretofore or hereafter adopted by Landlord, shall not be deemed  a  waiver of such violation  nor prevent a subsequent act, which would have originally constituted a violation, from having all the force  and effect of an original violation, nor shall the failure of Landlord to enforce any of said rules and regulations against any other tenant in the Building be deemed a waiver of any such  roles or regulations as far as Tenant is concerned. The receipt by Landlord of Fixed Rent or additional rent with knowledge of the breach of any covenant of this lease shall not be deemed a waiver of such breach by Landlord unless such waiver be inwriting signed by Landlord. No consent or waiver express or implied, by Landlord or Tenant to or of any breach of any agreement or duty shall be construed as a waiver or consent to or of any other breach of the same or any other agreement or duty. No acceptance by Landlord of a lesser
sum than the Fixed Rent and additional rent then due shall be deemed to be other than on account of the earliest installment of such rent due, nor shall any endorsement or statement on any check or any letter accompanying any check or payment as  rent be deemed as accord and satisfaction, and Landlord may accept such check or payment without prejudice to Landlord's right to recover the balance of such installment or pursue any other i:emedy available to it. The specific remedies to which Landlord may resort under the terms of this lease are cumulative and are not intended to be exclusive of any other remedies or means of redress to which it may be lawfully entitled in case of any breach or threatened breach by Tenant of any provisions of this lease. In addition to the other remedies provided in this lease, Landlord shall be entitled to the restraint by injunction of the violation or attempted or threatened violation of any of the covenants, conditions or provisions of this lease or to a decree compelling specific performance of any such covenants, conditions or provisions. If any term of this lease, or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall be held, to any extent, to be invalid or unenforceable, the remainder of this lease, or the application of such term to persons or circumstances other than those as to which it has been held invalid or unenforceable, shall not be affected thereby, and each term of this lease shall be valid and enforceable to the fullest extent permitted by law. If any interest to be paid by Tenant hereunder shall exceed
the highest lawful rate which Landlord may recover from Tenant, such interest shall be reduced to such highest lawful rate of interest. (H) SELF-HELP If Tenant shall at any time default in the performance of any obligation under this lease, Landlord shall have the right, but shall not be obligated, to enter upon the demised premises and

 

 



 
 
 

 
to perform such obligation, notwithstanding the fact that no specific provision for such performance by Landlord is made m this lease with respect to such default. In performing such obligation, Landlord may make any payment of money or perform any other act. All sums so paid by Landlord (together with interest, from the time paid by Landlord until the time Tenant repays the same to Landlord, at the rate of interest per annum as set forth in Section (A) of Article V above, shall be deemed to be additional rent and shall be payable to Landlord immediately on demand. Landlord may exercise the foregoing right without waiving any other of its rights or releasing Tenant from any of its obligations under this lease. (I) ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE Tenant  agrees :from time to time after the Commencement Date, upon not less than fifteen (15) days' prior written .request by Landlord, to execute, acknowledge and deliver to Landlord a statement inwriting certifying that this lease is unmodified and in full force and effect; that Landlord bas completed Landlord's Work; that Tenant has no defenses, offsets or counterclaims against its  obligation to pay the Fixed Rent and additional rent and to perform its other covenants under this lease; that there are no uncured defaults of Landlord or Tenant under this lease (or, if there have been any modifications, that this lease is in full force and effect as modified and stating the modifications, and, if there are any defenses, offsets, counterclaims, or defaults, setting them forth in reasonable detail); and the dates to
which the Fixed Rent, additional rent and other charges have been paid. Any such statement delivered pursuant to this Section (i) may be relied upon by any prospective purchaser or mortgagee of premises which include: the demised premises or any prospective assignee of any such mortgagee. (J) WAIVER. OF SUBROGATION (1) Tenant hereby releases Landlord to the extent of Tenant's insurance coverage, :from any and all liability for any loss or damage caused by fire  or any of the extended coverage casualties or any other casualty insured against, even if such fire or other casualty shall be brought about by the fault or negligence of Landlord or its agents, provided, however this release shall be in force and effect only with respect to loss or damage occurring during such time as Tenant's policies covering such loss or damage shall contain a clause to the effect that this release shall not affect said policies or the right of Tenant to recover thereunder. Tenant agrees that its fire and other casualty insurance policies will include such a clause. (2) Landlord hereby releases Tenant, to the extent of the Landlord's insurance coverage, from any and all liability for any loss or damage caused by fire or any of the extended coverage casualties or any other casualty insured against., even if such fire or other casualty shall be brought about by the fault or negligence of Tenant or its agents,  provided, however, this release shall be in force and effect only with respect to loss or damage occurring during such time as Landlord's policies covering such loss or
damage shall contain a clause to the effect that this release shall not affect said policies or the right of Landlord to recover thereunder. Landlord agrees that its fire and other casualty insurance policies wi11include such a clause.

 

 



 
 
 

 
(K.) BROKERS Tenant hereby represents and warrants to Landlord that it has dealt with no broker in connection with this lease other than Jones Lang  LaSalle and Lincoln Property Company (“the Brokers”, and there  are  no  other brokerage commissions  or other  finders'  fees  payable  in connection herewith. Tenant hereby agrees to hold Landlord harmless from,  and indemnified all loss or damage (including without limitation, the cost of defending the same) arising from any c1aitn by any broker other than the Brokers claiming to have dealt with Tenant. Landlord shall pay the commission due the Brokers by separate agreement. (L) LANDLORD’S DEFAULTS Landlord shall not be deemed to have committed a breach of any obligations to make repairs or alterations or perform any other act unless: (1) it shall have made such repairs or alterations or performed such other act negligently; or (2) it shall have received notice from Tenant designation the particular repairs or alterations needed or the other act of which there has been failure of performance and shall have failed to make such repairs or alterations or performed such other act within a reasonable time (not to exceed thirty(30) days) after the receipt of such notice; and in the latter event Landlord’s liability shall be limited to the cost of making such repairs or alterations or performing such other act and the damage to Tenant’s property. (M) EFFECTIVENESS OF LEASE The submission of this lease for examination does not constitute a reservation o or option for, the demised premises,
and this lease becomes effective as a lease only upon execution and unconditional delivery thereof by both Landlord and Tenant (N) HAZARDOUS MATERIALS Tenant shall not (either with or without negligence) cause or permit the escape, disposal or release of any biologically or chemically active or other hazardous substances, or materials. Tenant shall not allow the storage or use of such substances or materials in any manner not sanctioned by the applicable permits, or by law or by the highest standards prevailing in the industry for the storage and use of such substances or materials, nor allow to be brought into the Property any such materials or substances except to use in the ordinary course of Tenant's business, and then only after written notice is given to Landlord of the identity of such  substances or materials. Tenant shall obtain and maintain all proper permits required by applicable law or ordinance fur the storage and use of hazardous materials, and Tenant shall furnish evidence of same upon request.  Without limitation, hazardous substances and materials shall include those described in the Comprehensive Environmental Response, compensation and Liability Act of 1980, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 9601 et seq., the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act, as amended, 42 U.S.C. Section 6901et seq., any applicable state or local laws and the regulations adopted under these acts. If any lender or governmental agency shall ever require testing to ascertain whether or not there has been any release of hazardous materials, then the
reasonable costs thereof shall be reimbursed by Tenant to Landlord upon demand as

 

 



 
 
 

 
additional rent if such requirement applies to the demised premises. In addition, Tenant shall execute affidavits, representations and the like from time to time at Landlord's request concerning Tenant’s best knowledge and belief regarding the presence of hazardous substances or materials on the demised premises. In all event$, Tenant shall indemnify Landlord in the manner elsewhere provided in this lease from any release of hazardous materials on the demised premises occurring while Tenant is in possession, or elsewhere if caused by Tenant or persons acting under Tenant. The within covenants shall survive the expiration or earlier termination of the Term. Landlord agrees that it shall indemnify, defend and hold Tenant harmless from and against any suits, causes of actions, costs and fees, including attorneys' fees, arising from or connected with any oil or other hazardous materials or wastes present on the Property prior to delivery of the demised premises to Tenant and any hazardous materials or wastes brought onto the demised premises by any third parties other than Tenant, its agents, servants, contractors or employees. Landlord expressly reserves the right to enter the demised premises and all other portions of the Building and the Property to perform inspections and testing of air, soil and groundwater for the presence or existence of hazardous substances or materials. (O) DELAYS In any case where either party hereto is required to do any act (other than make a payment of money), delays caused by or resulting from Act of God, war, civil
commotion, fire or other casualty, labor difficulties, shortages of labor, materials or equipment, government regulations or other causes beyond such party's :reasonable control (other than such party's financial condition) shall not be counted in determining the time during which such act shall be completed, whether such time be designated by a fixed date, a fixed time or "a reasonable time". In any case where work is to be paid for out of insurance proceeds or condemnation awards, due allowance shall be made, both to the party required to perform such work and to the party required to make such payment, for delays in the collection of such proceeds and awards. (P) INDEPENDENT COVENANT Tenant acknowledges and agrees that its covenant 1o pay Fixed Rent, Additional Rent fur Taxes, Additional Rent for Operating Expenses and Additional Rent for Electricity hereunder and to observe, perform and comply with any other obligations of Tenant hereunder is independent of Landlord's obligation to act or refrain :from acting here under, and that in the event that Tenant shall have a claim against Landlord, Tenant shall not have the right to deduct the amount allegedly owed to Tenant from any Fixed Rent, Additional Rent for Tax Additional Rent for Operating Expenses or Additional Rent for Electricity due hereunder, it being understood that Tenant's sole remedy for recovering upon such claim shall be to bring an independent legal action against Landlord. (Q) SURVNAL PROVISION Itis expressly understood and agreed that any
indemnification by Tenant contained in this lease shall survive the expiration or any earlier termination of this lease.

 

 



 
 
 

 
(R) GOVERNING LAW This lease shall be governed exclusively by the provisions hereof and by the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, as the same may from time to time exist. ARTICLE XI SECURITY DEPOSIT 11. Together with Tenant's execution of this lease Tenant shall pay to Landlord the Security Deposit, as security for the payment of rents and the performance and observance of the agreements and conditions in this lease contained on the part of Tenant to be performed and observed. In the event of any default or defaults in such payment, performance or observance Landlord may apply said sum or any part thereof toward the curing of any such default or defaults and/or toward compensating Landlord for any loss or damage arising from any such default or defaults. Upon the yielding up of the demised premises at the expiration or other termination of the Term, if Tenant shall not then be in default or otherwise liable to Landlord, said sum or the unapplied balance thereof shall be returned to Tenant within thirty (30) days of the termination or expiration of the Tenn. Itis understood and agreed that Landlord shall always have the right to apply said sum, or any part thereof, as aforesaid in the event of any such default or defaults, without prejudice to any other remedy or remedies which Landlord may have, or Landlord pursue any other such remedy or remedies in lieu of applying said sum or any part thereof No interest shall be payable on said sum or any part thereof.  If Landlord shall apply said sum or any part thereof as
aforesaid, Tenant shall upon demand pay to Landlord the amount so applied by Landlord, to restore the security to its original amount. Whenever the holder of Landlord's interest in this lease, whether it  be the Landlord named in this lease or any transferee of said Landlord, immediate or remote, shall transfer its interest in this lease, said holder shall tum over to its transferee said sum or the unapplied balance thereof and thereafter such holder shall be released from any and all liability to Tenant with respect to said sum or its application or return, it being understood that Tenant shall thereafter look only to such transferee with respect to said sum, its application and return. The holder of any mortgage upon property which includes the demised premises shall never be responsible to Tenant for said sum or its application or return unless said sum shall actually   have been received in hand by such holder. ARTICLE XII MODIFICATION 12. In the event that any holder or prospective holder of any mortgage which includes the demised premises as part of the mortgaged premises, shall request any modification of any of the provisions of this lease, other than a provision directly related to the rents payable hereunder, the duration of the term hereof, or the size, use or location of the demised premises, Tenant agrees that Tenant will enter into a mutually agreed upon amendment of this lease containing each such reasonable modification so requested.

 

 



 
 
 

 
ARTICLE XIII OPTION 13. (A) OPTION TERM Tenant shall have the right, at its election, to extend the Original Term of this lease for an additional period of five (5) years commencing upon the expiration of the Original Term, provided that Landlord shall receive written notice from Tenant of the exercise of its election at least twelve (12) months prior to the expiration of the Original Term and provided further that Tenant shall not be in default at the time of Landlord's receipt of such notice in the performance  or observance of any of the terms and agreements in this lease contained on the part of Tenant to be performed or observed. The expression "the Original Term" means the period of ten (10) years and four (4) months referred to in Section (A) of Article I above. Prior to the exercise by Tenant of said election to extend the Original Term, the expression "the term of 1hislease" or any equivalent expression shall mean the Original Term; after the exercise by Tenant of the aforesaid election, the expression "the term of this lease" or any equivalent expression shall mean the Original Term as extended. Except as expressly otherwise provided in this lease, all the agreements and conditions in this lease contained shall apply to the additional period to which the Original Term shall be extended as aforesaid. If Landlord shall receive notice of the exercise of the election in the manner and within the time provided aforesaid, the term shall be extended upon the receipt of the notice without the requirement of any action on the part of Landlord. (B)
OPTION RENT During the first year of the additional period for which the Original Term of this lease may be extended as set forth in Section (A),the Fixed Rent payable hereunder shall be adjusted  so as to equal the greater of (a) $151,425.00, or (b) the "fair market rent", as mutually determined by Landlord and Tenant through the process of negotiation. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, however, if for any reason whatsoever Landlord and Tenant shall not agree inwriting upon the "fair market rent" for said additional period at least six (6) months prior to the first year of said additional period, then the fair market rent for premises of the size and nature of the demised premises shall be determined by licensed real estate appraisers having at least five (5) years' experience in the appraisal of commercial real estate in Boston, Massachusetts, one such appraiser to be designated by each of Landlord and Tenant. If either party shall fail to designate its appraiser by giving notice of the name of such appraiser to the other party within fifteen (1S) days after receiving notice of the name of the other party's appraiser, then the appraiser chosen by the other party shall determine the fair market rent and his determination shall be final and conclusive. If the appraisers designated by Landlord and Tenant shall disagree as to the fair market rent, but if the difference between their estimates of fair market rent shall be five percent (5%) or less of the greater of the estimates, then the average of their estimates shall be the fair market rent for
purposes hereof. If the appraisers designated by Landlord and Tenant shall disagree as to the amount of fair market rent, and if their estimates of fair market rent shall vary by more than. Five percent (5%) of the greater of said estimates, then they shall jointly select a third appraiser meeting the qualifications set forth above, and his estimate of fair market rent shall be the fair market rent for purposes hereof if it is not greater  than the greater of the other two estimates and not less than. the lesser of the other two estimates. If said third appraiser's estimate is greater than the greater of the other two estimates, then the

 

 



 
 
 

 
greater of the other two estimates shall be the fair market rent fur purposes hereof; and if the estimate of the third appraiser shall be less than the lesser of the other two estimates, then the lesser of the other two estimates shall be the fair market rent for purposes hereof Each of Landlord and Tenant shall pay for the services of its appraiser, and if a third appraiser shall be chosen, then each of Landlord and Tenant shall pay for one-half of the services of the third appraiser. The Fixed Rent shall increase each year thereafter by one (1) dollar per rentable square foot. ARTICLE XIV PARKING Tenant shall have the right to lease one (1) interior parking space in the Building garage, such space to be designated by Landlord. The current rate is $295.00 per month for the space, with future parking rate increases not to exceed general increases for parking spaces in the Building in Landlord's sole discretion. Tenant shall have no right to sublet, assig11s or otherwise transfer the right to use said parking space(s) accept in connection with an assignment of this lease or sublease of the demised premises which is permitted pursuant to the provisions of this lease. Landlord shall have the right to request license plate numbers and/or other identification numbers of any C8lS using said parking spaces and from time to time otherwise institute reasonable searches and/or other safety precautions as Landlord deems reasonably necessary. If,  for any reason, Tenant shall fail timely to pay the charge for said parking space, Landlord shall have the same rights against Tenant
as Landlord has with respect to the timely payment of Fixed Rent hereunder. The monthly rates set forth above may be increased by Landlord in its discretion pursuant to market conditions. Landlord shall have no obligation to enforce parking rules and regulations and no obligation to police the parking areas either inside the garage or outside the garage. Landlord will not have any responsibility for loss or damage due to fire or theft or otherwise to any automobile (or to any personal property therein) parked in the  parking areas or garage. Signatures On Next Page Following

 

 



 
 
 

 
EXECUTED as a scaled instrument in two or more counterparts as of the day and year first above written.. LANDLORD: WATERFRONT EQUITY PARTNERS LLC By: Aegean Capital LLC Its: Manager By: Name: Constantine Alexakos Its: Manager TENANT: VITTORIA INDUSTRIES NOR1HAMERICA, INC. By: Name: Its: President 00425441.DOC/3 28

 



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A PLAN SHOWING THE DEMISED PREMISES NOT TO SCALE 1st Floor 285 Summer Street Boston, MA AEGEAN CAPITAL 00425441.DOC/3

 



 
 

 
EXHJBIT B LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY The land and buildings thereon in Boston, Suffolk County, Massachusetts described us follows: A certain parcel of land with the buildings thereon situated in that part of said Bolton known as South Boston and now numbered 285-2!17 Summer Street bounded and described aa follows: NORTHEASTERLY by Summer Street. about 201.94 feet; SOUTHEASTERLY by A Street, about 50 feet; SOUTHWEASTERLY by land formerly of the Boston Wharf Company, about feet; and NORTHWEASTERLY by other land of1bc Boston Wharf Company, about 55.83 feet, such line running though the middle of a brick partition wall. 00425441.DOC/3

 



 

 
EXH1BII C BUTIDING RULES AND REGVLATIONS The following rules and regulations shall apply to the Premises, the Building and the Office Parke, and the appurtenances thereto: 1. Sidewalks, doorways, vestibules, halls, stairways, and other similar areas shall not be obstructed by tenants or used by any tenant for purposes other than ingress and egress to and from their respective leased premises and for going :from one to another part of the Building. 2. Plumbing fixtures and appliances shall be used only for the purposes for which designed, and no sweepings, rubbish, rags or other unsuitable material shall be thrown or deposited therein. Damage resulting to any such fixtures or appliances from misuse a tenant or its agents, employees or invitees, shall be paid by such tenant 3. No signs, advertisements or notices shall be painted or affixed on or to any windows or doors or other part of the Building without the prior written consent of Landlord. No nails, hooks or screws shall be driven or inserted in any part of the Building except by Building maintenance personnel. No curtains or other window treatments shall be placed between the glass and the Building standard window treatments. 4. Landlord shall provide and maintain an alphabetical directory for all tenants in the main lobby of the Building. 5. Landlord shall provide all door locks in each tenant’s leased at the cost of such tenant, and no tenant shall place any additional door locks in its leased premises without Landlord's prior written consent, which consent shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. Landlord shall furnish to each tenant a reasonable number of keys to such tenant’s leased premises, at such tenant's cost, and Tenant shall not make a duplicate thereof. Tenant shall have access to the Building twenty four (24) hours per day, seven (7) days a week. 6. Movement in or out of the building of furniture or office equipment, or dispatch or receipt by tenants of any bulky material, merchandise or materials which require use of elevators or stairways, or movement through the building entrances or lobby shall be conducted under Landlord's supervision at such times and in such a manner a Landlord may reasonably require provided, however, there shall be no movement in or out of the Building of furniture or office equipment during the Building's normal business hours. Each tenant assumes all risks of and shall be liable for all damage to articles moved and injury to persons or public engaged or not engaged in such movement, including equipment, property and personnel of Landlord if damaged or injured as a result of acts in connection with carrying out this service for such tenant. 7. Landlord may prescribe weight limitations and determine the locations for safes and other heavy equipment or items, which shall in all cases be placed in the Building so as to distribute weight in a manner acceptable to Landlord which may include the use of such

 



 
 

 
supporting devices and Landlord may require. All damages to the Building caused by the installation or .removal of any property of a tenant, or done by a tenant's property while in the Building, shall be repaired at the expense of such tenant 8. Corridor Doors, when not in use, shall be kept closed. Nothing shall be swept or thrown into the corridors, halls, elevator shafts or stairways. No birds or anima1s shall be brought into or kept in, on or about any tenant's leased premises. No portion of any tenant's leased premises shall at any time be used or occupied as sleeping or lodging quarters. 9. Tenant shall cooperate with landlord's employees in keeping the Building and its SU1Toundings neat and clean. Landlord shall provide building standard cleaning to the demised premises and. the common areas of the building five (5) nights a week, Monday-Friday. 10. To ensure orderly operation of the Building, no ice, mineral or other water, towels, newspapers, etc. shall be delivered to any leased area except by persons approved by Landlord. 11. Tenant shall not make or permit any vibration or improper, objectionable or unpleasant noises or odors in the building or otherwise interfere in any way with other tenants or persons having business with them. 12. No machinery of any kind (other than normal office equipment) shall be operated by any tenant on its leased area without Landlord' s prior written consent. nor shall any tenant use or keep in the Building any flammable or explosive fluid or substance. 13. Landlord will not be responsible for lost or stolen
personal property, money or jewellery from tenant’s leased premises or public or common areas regardless of whether such loss occurs when the area is locked against entry or not. 14. No vending or dispensing machines of any kind may be maintained in any leased premises without the prior written permission of Landlord, but in any event not more than  one (l). 15. Tenant shall not conduct any activity on or about the premises or Building which will draw pickets, demonstrator or the like. 16. All vehicles are to be currently licensed, in good operating condition, parked for business purpose having to do with Tenant's business operation in the demised premises, panted with in designated parking spaces, one vehicle to each space. No vehicle shall be parked as a "billboard" vehicle in the parking lot. Any vehicle parked improperly may be towed away. Tenant, Tenant's agents, employees, vendors and customers who do not operate or park their vehicles as required shall subject the vehicle to being towed at the expense of the owner or driver. Landlord may place a "boot" on the vehicle to immobilize it and may levy a charge of $50.00 to remove the "boot". Tenant shall indemnify, hold and save harmless Landlord of any liability arising :from the towing or booting of any vehicles belonging to a tenant.

 



 
 

 
17. No tenant may enter into phone rooms, electrical rooms, mechanical rooms, or other service areas of the Building unless accompanied by landlord or the Building Manager. Tenant must provide Landlord with at least 24 hours advance notice in order to gain such access. 18. Canvassing, soliciting, and peddling in the Building are prohibited and Tenant shall cooperate to prevent the same. 19. Tenant shall keep the demised premises free at all times of pests, rodents and other vermin, and at the end of each business day Tenant shall place for collection in the place or places provided therefor all trash and rubbish then in the demised premises. 20. Landlord reserves the right to rescind, alter, waive and/or establish any rules and regulations, which, in its judgment, me necessary, desirable or proper for its best interests and the best interests of the occupants of the Building. 21. All of the work done by Tenant shall be done by such contractors, labour and means so that, as far as may be possible, all work on the Property, whether by Landlord or Tenant, shall be done without interruption on account of strikes, work stoppages or similar causes of delay. 22. The Building is a smoke free building, and Tenant shall cause its employees and invitees who smoke to restrict such smoking to areas designated as "smoking areas by Landlord: from time to time.

 



 
 

 
Exhibit D TENANT’S WORK Unless expressly provided for in this lease to be Landlord's Work, all work needed to the demised premises for Tenants occupancy shall be Tenant's responsibility and is herein called Tenant's Work". Except to the extent (if any) expressly provided to the contrary, Tenant's Work shall include, without limitation, furnishing any distribution facilities within the demised premises for utilities (including, without limitation, electricity, water and sewerage) required to meet Tenant's needs. Tenant shall promptly submit to Landlord for its approval plans and specifications for any Tenant's work. Landlord shall have thirty (30) days from the date of submission to approve or disapprove such plans and specifications. In the c:vent of disapproval, Landlord shall give written notice of the same to Tenant and within fifteen (1S} days from the date of such notice, Tenant shall submit new plans .and specifications fur Landlord's approval, corrected so as to satisfy Landlord's objections. Landlord shall not unreasonably withhold approval of plans and specifications, and Landlord agrees to cooperate with Tenant in the correction of disapproved plans and specifications. All of Tenant's work shall be done at Tenant's sole risk and expense. Landlord shall not be a party to nor incur any liability as a result of any contract to perform any of Tenant's work. All of Tenant's work shall be done by such contractors, labour and means so that, as far as may be possible, such work shall be done without interruption on account of strikes, work stoppages
or similar causes of delay, and in accordance with the schedule to be adopted by Landlord and by Landlord's general contractor for the performance of all work to be done in the Building. Tenant shall obtain lien waivers from all of its contractors and subcontractors commencing work in the demised premises so that no mechanics' or materialmen's liens shall attach to the demised premises or the Building as a result of Tenant's wmk. At Landlord’s option. any of Tenant's work.: which is within the scope of normal construction trades employed in the construction of the Building may be performed on behalf of Tenant by Landlord or by Landlord's general contractor at a price no greater than that price bid by Tenant's qualified contractor. In that case, Tenant shall pay to Landlord within ten (10) days after Tenant bas completed arrangements with Landlord or with such general contractor for performance of such construction work of Tenant, the cost to Tenant of such work All of Tenant's work shall be done by contractors, subcontractors and labour previously approved by Landlord, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Such contractors, subcontractors and labour shall be subject to the administrative supervision of the Landlord's architect or engineer and general contractor, or other designee of Landlord. Landlord shall give reasonable access and entry to the demised premises to Tenant and its contractors and subcontractors at reasonable times and shall allow reasonable use of facilities located in the Building to enable Tenant to complete
Tenant's work.

 



 
 

 
Tenant hereby expressly acknowledges that Landlord will not approve any facet of Tenant's plans and specifications requiring unusual expense to readapt the demised premises to normal use on the termination of this lease, or increasing the cost to Landlord or other tenants of construction, insurance or taxes on the Building unless Tenant first gives assurances acceptable to Landlord that such readaption will be made prior to such termination without expense to Landlord and makes provisions acceptable to Landlord for payment of such increased costs. Landlord will also disapprove any facet of Tenant's plans and specifications which might delay completion of the demised premises. All of Tenant's W01k shall be part of the Building except such items as Landlord shall specify inwriting either to be removed by Tenant on termination of this lease, or to be removed or left at Tenant's election.

 



 
 

 
EXH1BIT E LANDLORP'S WORK Landlord agrees to substantially complete the items listed on Schedule E-1 attached hereto as Landlord's Work prior to the Commencement Date. Landlord shall promptly submit to Tenant plans and specifications for the scope of Landlord's Work ("Initial Construction Drawings"). Tenant shall have ten (10) business days from the date of submission to make any necessary corrections to the Initial Construction Drawings.  Tenant's failure to correct any errors in the Initial Construction Drawings within ten business days of Landlord's submission to Tenant will result in the Initial Construction Drawings being deemed approved and correct as written. Landlord shall make such corrections that Landlord agrees in its sole discretion should be made (the "Final Construction Drawings'') within ten (10) business days. After completion of the Final Construction Drawings Tenant will have a five (5) business day opportunity to review same solely to confirm that the agreed upon corrections have been incorporated into the Final Construction Drawings. Tenant agrees to cooperate with Landlord in the correction of the plans and specifications. Commencing on the first to occur of (i) the approved Final Construction Drawings; or (ii) the twenty sixth (26 business day following Landlord’s submission of the Initial Construction Drawings, Landlord shall apply for all necessary permits for Landlord' s Work and Landlord shall perform Landlord's Work in a diligent and commercially reasonable manner, and in accordance with the
agreed upon floor plan and scope of work and the Initial Construction Drawing or Final Construction Drawings, as the case may be; and Landlord shall deliver the demised premises to Tenant upon the substantial completion of Landlord's Work and such date of delivery shall be the Commencement Date for all purposes of the Lease. It is agreed and understood that in the event the Commencement Date is delayed due to delays caused by or attributable to Tenant, the Rent Commencement Date shall be accelerated one (1) day fur each day of delay caused by or attributable to Tenant. All of Landlord's Work shall be done at Landlord's sole risk and expense. Tenant shall not be a party to nor incur any liability as a result of any contract to perform any of Landlord's Wmk. All of Landlord's Work shall be done by such contractors, labour and means so that, as far as may be possible, Such work shall be done without interruption on account of strikes, work stoppages or similar causes of delay, and in accordance with the schedule anticipated by this Lease. All of Landlord's Work shall be subject to the administrative supervision of the Landlord's architect or engineer and general contractor, or other designee of Landlord. Landlord shall give reasonable access and entry to the demised premises to Tenant, its contactors, and its project manager to enable Tenant to be able to complete Tenant's Work, so long as Tenant does not interfere with or delay Landlord’s Work. If requested by Tenant, Landlord shall make reasonable efforts to convene at least monthly
meetings between Landlord's architect or general contractor and Tenant's project manager, to review the status of completion of Landlord's Work.

 



 
 

 
Any change orders proposed by Tenant shall be subject to Landlord's approval, not unreasonably withheld or delayed. If a Tenant change order is approved, any net increased costs resulting therefrom, after deducting any resulting savings, shall be Tenant's cost and paid by Tenant to Landlord prior to Landlord performing a change order. The quality of workmanship of Landlord's Work shall be reasonably commensurate to that work completed by Landlord elsewhere in the Building. Said work: shall comply with all applicable building codes and permit requirements. Upon Substantial Completion of Landlord's Work, Landlord shall deliver the Premises to Tenant in broom clean condition.

 



 
 

 
Schedule E-1 1) Remove existing suspended ACT ceiling and lighting in the entire space. 2) Remove and I or relocate existing that is within the existing suspended ceiling or plenum and make safe for demolition work 3) Demolish approx 12’-0"of wall between existing offices to create a conference room as shown in attached drawing. 4)Demolish approximately 60 linear feet of existing GWB walls, including framing, doors, and glass in centre of space as shown in attached drawing, and expose wood columns. 5) Demolish approximately 18"of framing at top of remaining walls for full access to hard deck for sandblaster- keeping existing perimeter office walls intact end assembled as shown in attached drawing. Existing doors, finishes, and hardware shall remain intact as well and be reused. 6) Remove tie in points of existing GWB and framing along intersecting walls to be sandblasted as shown in drawing. 7) Remove GWB end associated framing to expose brick walls inside office #3, inside and outside of office #4;the West wall along office #S, office #6 and storage area; the South wall in the kitchen and storage area; and the adjoining stairway wall in office #S; end sandblast and seal the brick after exposing it as shown in attached drawing. 8) Remove GWB and associated &aiming to expose wood columns in core of space and sandblast columns. 9) Remove all utilities including ductwork and wiring from wood ceiling and columns to prepare for sandblasting the wood ceilings and to be exposed beams. 10)Rebuild top of remaining OWB
walls to full height ( approx. 14'-0" ),after sandbJasting,•10 exposed beam ceiling, patch, sand, and finish all areas as needed to restore to a smooth and paintable GWB finish as referenced in attached drawing. 11) Install one new paint grade 36" wide door/ metal frame I hinges and lockset for new Data Room. 12) Provide year round cooling capacity for data room by installing a Panasonic - two ton - split system- ductless -wall mounted cooling unit with individual controls capable of approx. 24,000 BTU of cooling specifically for the Data Room. 13) Install new round exposed ductwork (Spiral Duct) tied into existing HVAC units and paint to building standard (Grey). Ductwork design shall be design build to provide proper distribution of tempered air. 14) Remove existing HYAC unit from ceiling (above proposed Conference Room) and move into a concealed location in common area hallway and connect to new ductwork as indicated in attached drawing. 15) Install new electrical wiring and outlets as needed to provide power to outlets, all exposed wiring shall be encased in conduit and painted Grey.

 



 
 

 
16) Provide up to four electrical connections to the Tenant provided furniture whips as needed in centre of the space. Additional furniture connections shall be at the Tenant's sole cost and expense. 17) Tenant to provide furniture system layout, design, and power requirements prior to electrician starting electrical rough wiring installation. 18) Install suspended fluorescent light fixtures in all areas except Data Room and Office #4 using Peerless -Cerra 10 -Direct / Indirect T8 light fixtures. 19) Install suspended ACT ceiling using Arms1rong -Dune- Second Look in office #4 and Data Room with approx. %" wide grid system and recessed 2'-0"X 2'-0" direct I indirect fluorescent fixtures mounted within the ceiling grid. 20) Install approx. 8 LF of cabinets and plastic laminate counter top to Create a kitchenette in the Southwest comer of the space as shown in the attached drawing. Cabinets and countertops shall be building standard plastic laminate faced, with cum hinges in Wilsonart standard laminate or similar in the Tenant's colour choice of Landlord's samples. 21) Provide a stainless steel single bowl kitchen sink, single lever Delta faucet with spray, and plumbing connections to fixtures and appliances. 22) Supply a 24 "dishwasher and a 30" refrigerator ($1300 Budgetary Allowance). Tenant to provide make and model #'s for appliances. Additional costs associated with Tenant's request for upgraded appliances shall be at Tenant's sole cost and expense. 23) Remove existing carpet, patch subfloor as needed, and install building standard carpet
throughout space ($23/yd -Tenant's Choice of Landlord's Samples of Shaw -Metro sample book). 24) Install VCT flooring in Data Room, Kitchenette, and Storage (Tenant's choice of Landlord' s samples). 25) Remove existing double wood doors at the entry of the space and install two full height 36" frameless glass doors similar to the existing entrance doors in Suite 100 at the Building. Minimum glass thickness shall be %".Magnetic lock and key card security access shall be Tenant's respons1'bility and shall be coordinated with the landlord and contractor for installation. 26) Patch as needed and paint walls (tenant’s choice from Landlord's colour samples) using Ben Moore paints. Limited to two wall colours. Existing woodwork shall receive a light sanding and a coat of polyurethane. 27) Modify life safety and fire sprinkler system to comply with new floor plan as needed. 28) Phone and Data will be the Tenant's responsibility at their own expense -final design to be approved by Landlord prior to installation. 29) All Phone and Data wiring will need to be installed inside conduit and exposed piping needs to be painted the

 



 
 

 
building standard -Gray -to match existing. All low voltage and data wiring shall be properly permitted through the City of Boston by Tenant or its vendor, as required and shall be at Tenant's sole cost and expense. 30Final cleaning space after construction. 31All existing window treatments to remain as is. 32) Landlord to provide all necessary permits and drawings (except low voltage permit) as required by the City of Boston to complete the project. 33) Tenant to provide, in a timely fashion, any required documentation by BFD associated with their furnishings. 34) All work to be completed in a good and workman like fashion. 35) All changes or additional work shall be Tenant's responsibility and shall be paid by Tenant to Landlord prior to the commencement of implementing any changes or additional work in advance of the new scope of work being completed. All changes or additional work require Landlord's approvals and shall be approved inwriting in the form of a written change order. 36) All Landlord Work to be built according to all applicable local and state building codes, and including applicable ADA code. 37) Landlord will make reasonable efforts to remove the decals of the previous tenant from the out side windows, however, Landlord cannot guarantee that the decals can be removed. Reasonable efforts shall not mean removal or replacement of the windows.

 



 
 

 
EXHIBIT B FURNITURE LIST 4 Office Desks (with chairs, note boards, side chairs) 1 Conference Room Table with 12 chairs 3 Flat Screen TVs 2 Cabinets (low) in Conference Room 1 Pull-down Projection Screen (in Conference Room) 1 IT Rack 4 Sitting Chairs (Black) 1 Love Seat (Black) 2 Round High-top Tables 9 Stools (Orange Seats) 1 Low White Desk (Below TV) 18 Desks (15 connected in work bench style) 18 Desk Chairs 1 Video Conferencing System Kitchen (fridge, dishwasher, microwave, toaster, Keurig) ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
EXHIBIT C FORM OF BILL OF SALE AND ASSIGNMENT BILL OF SALE AND ASSIGNMENT For good and valuable consideration in the amount of One Dollar ($1.00), the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Enevo, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Seller”), hereby sells, transfers, assigns, and conveys to Aileron Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“Purchaser”), all of Seller’s right, title, and interest in and to the personal property described on Exhibit A attached hereto (collectively, the “Property”). Except as specifically provided below, Seller makes no warranties or representations of any kind or nature whatsoever, express or implied, and the Purchaser shall accept the Property in its “AS IS” condition and “WITH ALL FAULTS”. WITHOUT LIMITING THE FOREGOING GENERAL EXCLUSION OF ALL WARRANTIES OR REPRESENTATIONS, ALL WARRANTIES OF QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, AND MERCHANTABILITY ARE HEREBY EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMED. In connection with such conveyance, the Seller hereby assigns and transfers to the Purchaser all manufacturer’s warranties and contractor’s warranties in favor of the Seller with respect to the Property, if and to the extent assignable. Provided, however, such assignment shall not be effective as to any warranty which, by its terms, or as a matter of law, cannot be assigned. In addition, whenever the consent of any party other than Seller or Purchaser is required with respect to the assignment of a
particular warranty, then the foregoing assignment shall be effective as to such warranty only in the event such consent is obtained. Seller represents, warrants and covenants to and with the Purchaser, its successors and assigns, that: 1. Seller is the lawful owner of all of the Property; 2. Seller has good right, title, power and authority to sell and convey the Property as aforesaid; 3. Seller will warrant and defend the Property against the claims and demands of all persons; and 4. The Property is free of any liens or encumbrances. This Bill of Sale shall bind the parties and their respective successors and assigns and shall be governed by Massachusetts law. [Signatures on Following Page] ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Bill of Sale and Assignment has been executed under seal as of the day of, 2021. SELLER: Enevo, Inc., a Delaware corporation By: Name: Title: PURCHASER Aileron Therapeutics, Inc., a Delaware corporation Docusigned by Rick wastall By: Name: Title: Chief Financial Officer & Treasurer ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



 
 

 
EXHIBIT A FURNITURE 4 Office Desks (with chairs, note boards, side chairs) 1 Conference Room Table with 12 chairs 3 Flat Screen TVs 2 Cabinets (low) in Conference Room 1 Pull-down Projection Screen (in Conference Room) 1 IT Rack 4 Sitting Chairs (Black) 1 Love Seat (Black) 2 Round High-top Tables 9 Stools (Orange Seats) 1 Low White Desk (Below TV) 18 Desks (15 connected in work bench style) 18 Desk Chairs 1 Video Conferencing System Kitchen (fridge, dishwasher, microwave, toaster, Keurig) ActiveUS 185926618v.14 01050727.1

 



Exhibit 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Manuel C. Alves Aivado, M.D., Ph.D., certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Aileron Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report), that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
Aileron Therapeutics, Inc.
 
/s/ Manuel C. Alves Aivado, M.D., Ph.D.
Manuel C. Alves Aivado, M.D., Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer

 
Dated: May 11, 2021
 



Exhibit 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a)
and 15d-14(a), as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Richard J. Wanstall certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Aileron Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report), that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

 a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

 
Aileron Therapeutics, Inc.
 
/s/ Richard J. Wanstall
Richard J. Wanstall
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

 
Dated: May 11, 2021



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT
TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Aileron Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2021 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Manuel C. Alves Aivado, M.D., Ph.D., President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, that to his knowledge:

 (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

     Dated: May 11, 2021   /s/ Manuel C. Alves Aivado, M.D., Ph.D.  
 

Manuel C. Alves Aivado, M.D., Ph.D.
President and Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. 



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT
TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Aileron Therapeutics, Inc. (the “Company”) for the quarter ended March 31, 2021 as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), the undersigned, Richard J. Wanstall, Chief Financial Officer and
Treasurer of the Company, hereby certifies, pursuant to Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code, that to his knowledge:

 (1) the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

 (2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the
Company.

 
Dated: May 11, 2021   /s/ Richard J. Wanstall  

 
Richard J. Wanstall
Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished
to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.


